

THE MYSTERY OF TRUE ISRAEL



by Lt. Col. Gordon "Jack" Mohr, USA Ret.

(Honorary Brig. Gen. C.E.D.S.)

"The Lord hath poured out upon you (Israel) the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets (preachers) and your rulers (politicians), the seers hath He covered . Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honor me, but have removed their heart far from me. . . Therefore, behold, I will do a marvelous work and a wonder among them: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent (those who take part in the political process) will be hid." - Isaiah 29:10, 13

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
FOREWORD	4
Chapter I. WHAT OUR CRITICS SAY ABOUT ANGLO-ISRAELISM!	5
Chapter II. THE FAITH OF ANGLO-ISRAELITES!	
Chapter III. COVENANTS OF THE BIBLE	
Chapter IV. THE DEDICATION OF OUR RACE	25
Chapter V. ESAU AND JACOB AND THE SPURNED BIRTHRIGHT!	
Chapter VI. THE COVENANT PROMISES CONFIRMED!	
Chapter VII. EGYPT - THE EXODUS -THE 13th TRIBE!	
Chapter VIII. THE TRAINING OF ISRAEL	
Chapter IX. THE PALESTINIAN COVENANT AND SEVEN TIMES OF ISRAEL'S PUNISHMENT	
Chapter X. THE DIVINE MARRIAGE!	45
Chapter XI. THE APPOINTED PLACE!	55
Chapter XII. ISRAEL COMES TO THE ISLES	61
Chapter XIII. WHO WERE THE DRUIDS?	63
Chapter XIV. WHAT ARE THE LATTER DAYS?	65
Chapter XV. THE NEW COVENANT	71
Chapter XVI. MARKS OF IDENTITY!	74
Chapter XVII. THE ORIGIN OF THE RACES	
Chapter XVIII. THE SHEMITIC RACE AND ISRAEL	
Chapter XIX. CLASSES OF ISRAELITES	
Chapter XX. TWELVE TRIBED ISRAEL	100
Chapter XXI. THE NATION OF THE JEWS	
Chapter XXII. NATIONAL IDENTITY - WHAT DOES IT MEAN?	122
OTHER BOOKS FOR FURTHER STUDY	

FOREWORD

The subject of "true Israel" is a complex one and is recognized as such by all intelligent Bible scholars and students. There is a great deal of confusion surrounding it, and often more heat than light when it is discussed. Because it involves an ethnic group called JEWS, it has become even more confusing since a majority of Bible scholars equate the terms "Israel" and "Jew" as one and the same. They are not! Because the majority of Bible scholars accept this premise does not make it so, as Moses told the children of Israel: "Thou shalt not follow a multitude to do evil."

The confusion regarding Israel centers around four entirely different entities:

- 1. The man named Jacob (Israel) in the Bible and his physical descendants;
- 2. A geographical portion of the Middle East called the Promised Land. (This in reality comprises nearly all of Turkey, Iran, Iraq, Lebanon, Syria, Saudi Arabia, Trans-Jordan, Palestine, the Sinai Peninsula, more than half of Egypt, Eritrea, Ethiopia and a large section of Sudan;
- 3. Most Christians think of it as the nation of the Israeli that exists today between the Mediterranean Sea and the River Jordan, and,
- 4. True Israel.

Because of this confusion and because truth regarding the Anglo-Israel belief has been completely distorted in the minds of most Christians who are actually uninformed and k about Bible truth, other than what they hear from pulpits." This and the fact that most pastors have been "befuddled" by the teaching they have received in their church seminaries. For this reason, I am trying to do a difficult task and through the guidance of the Holy Spirit, will attempt to educate, at least in part, those who are interested in the truth - that regarding their Anglo-Israel heritage.

Because the term British-Israelism has been given in recent years by cultists such as Herbert W. Arm WORLDWIDE CHURCH OF GOD, which br followers into believing that he was one of the "ir sent by God." (For further enlightenment on this man and his activities, I suggest the book titled: ARMSTONGISM RELIGION OR RIP-OFF, by Marion J. McNair, member of that organization.) Because of this co minds of already befuddled evangelicals and fundamentalists use the term Anglo-Israel. I am indebted for much of the information I will give to Mr. Merwyn T. Judge, of Sydney, Australia who in 1970 wrote a monumental work titled MAN THINKING! His book was designed in tabloid form from original Bible studies made by the British-Israel World Federation (Canada, Inc.), whom I also wish to acknowledge and thank. The about to read is actually an outline of what Mr. Jud added comments by General Mohr, which will understandable to its American readers.

Chapter I. WHAT OUR CRITICS SAY ABOUT ANGLO-ISRAELISM!

Someone has truly said: "You can learn more about a man from his enemies, than from his friends." So what we are going to do in this chapter is examine some of the ideas which have been implanted in Christian minds concerning Biblical Israel.

In a recent letter received from a fundamental Baptist pastor I have known for some time, he said: "While I share many of your views on the conspiracy, I do not do so for the same reasons. The doctrinal position you have taken, while new to you (Anglo-Israel Identity), has been around for a long time and is vulnerable on many points.

"At the onset, let me agree with many of your generalizations about the people we call Jews. They are a very powerful, generally agnostic, unsaved and godless people. Modern Israeli, as a nation, by no means fulfills Bible prophecy. In my judgment, Begin was a cut-throat in the same class as Mao and Stalin, and because the people are under the judgment of God, like wandering Cain -marked but somehow immune to destruction (Gen. 4:14-16), they are involved in most of the troubles of the world through their control of much of the world's money.

"The special experience and background you bring to this book is particularly important, as I see it, so you should consider all its pitfalls. Because there is a 'troublesome' people who are so unsuitably called 'the Chosen', the Anglo-Israel position ultimately resorts to an argument for 'oughtness.' That is, anybody as bad as the Jews ought not to be the chosen of God and therefore cannot be. Setting out to prove that Anglo-Saxons and related peoples are the ten lost tribes of Israel, is flying in the face of science, logic, and linguistics, and those who do this, invariably accept the fact first and then try and find evidence to justify their position; one cannot follow evidence in the Bible and arrive there without presuming (to go between what is right and proper) the guilt of the Jews and building a case 'ad homenim' (appealing to a person's feelings or prejudices, rather than his intellect.)

"I appreciate your challenge IN KNOW YOUR ENEMIES, page 18, to check all things by the Bible. As I play 'devil's advocate' for you, check my Scripture references . . . and when I challenge a point, show me where I am wrong.

"I believe this new doctrine you have embraced is vulnerable historically. There is no evidence for the ten lost tribes in the Bible. The doctrine that there is a 'doctrine of the remnant,' which teaches that when God's ancient people moved from obedience to apostasy, God would cause great trouble to come upon them, plagues, diseases, wars, deportations, greatly reducing their numbers and leaving them only a remnant - a tiny portion of the original nation. The Minor Prophets major on this theme.

"So representatives of all the twelve tribes survived the captivity and returned to the land. (Here he lists 2 Chron. 36:23; Ezra 1:3, 5; 2:70; 7:7; 13, 28; 8:24, 25, 35; Nehemiah 9:2; 11:20 and 12:47 as proof of his statement.)

"In the New Testament, the Jews were called "all of Israel." Compare Acts 2:5, 36; 13:24; with Matthew 3:5, 6; Romans 11:26; Luke 1:80; Acts 4:10; 5:21; 4:8. The Jews are called Israel. (Note that in Acts 2:5, these men were not listed as "followers of Judaism," but as Judeans, godly men living in Jerusalem.

Quite a difference. Acts 13:26 rather than proving that JEWS AND ISRAELITES are one and the same people, shows that Christ came to the stock (seed) of Abraham and "whosoever among you that feareth the Lord." Vs. 27 indicates that those who dwelt in Jerusalem, the "psuedo-Jews" knew Him not, nor yet the voices of the prophets." (Notice that the writer is careful not to say "their prophets", which are read every Sabbath day, they have fulfilled them (the Scriptures) in condemning Him. (My purpose in this book is not to refute this pastor, merely to show what he believed.)

"There is no respectable evidence of Israelites migrating from Babylon and ASSRYIA to England. Our people (Anglo-Saxon) have no true Sabbath, have had no circumcision, and our language is not similar and certainly not related to Hebrew, (please note Isaiah 28:11 - "For with stammering lips, and ANOTHER TONGUE, will I speak to this people [EphraimManasseh], God's people in their new land were not to speak Hebrew-Editor.)

"Exodus 31:16, 17 and Ezekiel 20:12 show how important the Sabbath is to the identity of Israel. Finding English words which sound like Hebrew BRITISH - 'BRITH' (Covenant) 'ISH' (man), etc., can be done in any language.

"Secondly, I believe you will not be able to justify your position linguistically. You argue on pps. 9-11, the difference between the word JEW and ISRAELITE, HEBREW, etc. You deny they are synonomous. That JEW is something alien to God's People. It only confuses the issue to point out that HEBREWS were not JEWS, that ISRAELITES were not JEWS early in the Old Testament. Of course HEBREW was a term used before Jacob; Jacob was called ISRAEL and later his offspring were called ISRAELITES. Only one tribe of twelve became JEWS, the tribe of JUDAR. But this does not refute the fact that the word is used synonomously during some periods and certainly in the New Testament, when they meant the same thing. The words developed in their meaning over the years.

"Jesus was from the tribe of JUDAH and therefore a JEW. The Wise Men called Rim that in Matthew 2:2, (not so, they said: 'Where is He that is born king of the Jews?' The word JEWS here is translated from the word "chakmowiny", which means "Israelites." So the true translation should have read, "Where is He who is born king of the Israelites," not JEWS - EDITOR). Was He (Jesus) not king over all the other tribes also? Of course! JEW has become the term used for all 12 tribes of ISRAEL, the same throne as David's (Luke 1:32-33). (But look closely at this passage, it says he will rule over the House of Jacob [ISRAEL], nothing is said here about a people called JEWS - AUTHOR.)

"Jesus claimed to be the king of the JEWS as clearly as language can convey it. John 18:33-35; also John 19:19-22. I'm sure that you know that in Greek "Thou sayest," means 'yes', like our idiom, 'You said it brother!' (But that is not what it means in the Greek. The English phrase "Thou sayest," means in English: "That's what you say!" Then Jesus asks Pilate: "Did you say this of yourself, or did others tell it thee of me?" In other words, Jesus most clearly did not admit being king of the Jews, but said to Pilate that this was the claim of the Pharisees -AUTHOR).

"Jesus claimed to be king of the JEWS, and He was heir to the throne of united ISRAEL (True). The Apostle Paul was also a JEW and said so proudly (Acts 21:39; 22:3) of this there is no question. (Here again the Greek word used does not define him as a Jew, but as an Israelite. Why did the translators not use the correct word? Your guess is as good as mine. In 22:3, the same word ISRAELITE is used in the Greek - You see, evidently our Baptist preacher friend has been using arguments which he heard in the seminary, without ever checking them out from the Word itself. Paul was a Benjamite by blood

- not of JUDAH. He was a Roman by citizenship, and a JEW by religion, and a PHARISEE, by political party. Just as I am of English-German blood, a citizen of the U.S. and a Christian by religion. Paul was not a JEW by blood and there is no Scriptural evidence to so prove - AUTHOR.)

But back to our Baptist pastor's letter: "Your position constantly resorts to the use of the generalization fallacy and is therefore indefensible logically. (NOTE - These are all theological terms he learned in seminary - AUTHOR.) Logic is an exact science similar to mathematics. A logical syllogism (a deductive scheme of formal argument consisting of a major and minor premise and conclusion, is built on two statements which eliminate any conclusion but one. It is like drawing two lines which converge on a map. It is like saying: 'All Chinese are Oriental'; that is a premise. Then you might say, 'This man is Chinese', having said that, these two things then give you a logical conclusion that the man must be an Oriental. But suppose the premise (to presuppose) is false . . . The premise must be true to begin with.

"Because JEWS killed Christ does not mean that ALL JEWS are bad. Rules of logic demand that if you have a 'same' premise, you cannot have an 'all' in the conclusion.

"Yet you (Jack Mohr) have fallen into this false conclusion repeatedly. That is to say, because some or even 'most' of the JEWS are bad, therefore ALL JEWS are enemies (p.16, par. 1). (What I actually said was this, quote from p.16 of KNOW YOUR ENEMIES: "Every major evil that the Moral Majority claims to abhor, everything which is helping to destroy America and the Christian church, can be traced back to the ones our pastors call God's Chosen People. No wonder they are universally hated! Check out the facts for yourself, I dare you! These anti-Christ people have cost the Christian nations of the world untold billions of dollars and uncounted suffering, because of their long-range ideas to destroy us and they are taught these ideas in their synagogues. No wonder our Lord called them the "synagogues of Satan," fRev. 2:9; 3:9]. Not one word here abdut all JEWS being evil. This is something this pastor has read into my writings intentionally, I believe - AUTHOR).

"You eventually conclude that INTERNATIONAL BANKERS are the culprits and I could not agree with you more. But NON-JEWISH INTERNATIONAL BANKERS are rotten too. (Here he is careful not to tell that these non-Jew bankers are under the complete control of the Zionists - AUTHOR). Some bankers, does not equal all JEWS, just as SOME FUNDAMENTALISTS do not equal all FUNDAMENTALISTS. (AUTHOR)

"Another argument you use is the lengthy point-by-point identification, pp.97-105, of what TRUE ISRAEL MUST be. The Bible does not have such a list, or make such identification.

This identification of yours has been IMPOSED ON SCRIPTURE, not stated in it. (But again, this premise is proven false, for there are well over 200 identifying marks in the Scriptures, which will identify Modern ISRAEL in these last days. Of course they are not given in a concise list, but are scattered around throughout Scripture. The people we know as Jews do not answer to one of them. Since we will speak more about this later on, I will drop this subject now, except to say that my critic evidently has not read His Bible with an open, unprejudiced mind, or he would have discovered at least a few of these identifying marks - AUTHOR).

Again you state that the JEWISH people were in favor of Christ's death. Obviously not Joseph of Arimathea, Nicodemus, Mary and Martha and most of the disciples. (Well, rather than argue with

this "brainwashed" brother, I rest my case on Matthew 27:25. Either accept what he says, or what the Bible says. Take your choice! This Scripture says: "Then answered ALL THE PEOPLE, and said, His blood be on us, and on our children." The people this pastor mentioned who believed on Jesus, were Israelites from Galilee, THEY WERE NOT JEWS! You see, our fundamentalist preacher has been so thoroughly brainwashed that he cannot tell the difference between JEWS and ISRAELITES - AUTHOR.)

He goes on: "You beg the question repeatedly in calling America a CHRISTIAN NATION. Certainly you do not mean that all Americans are saved, or that even most are. (He then goes on to mention the wickedness of America, which we all know about, but neglects the obvious that America was founded as a Christian nation, on the principles of God's Law and that the charters of every one of the original thirteen states indicated that they are founded "for the glory of God and the propagation of the Christian faith." We were never meant to be a "hodge-podge of religions." Our founding fathers made a covenant with God which was just as binding as that made by the Children of Israel at Mt. Sinai, and the reason we are suffering in America today, is not because of the Jews, or the aliens, but because white Israelites are more interested in "doing their own thing," than in obeying God's Law. He said, Deut. 28, that if we disobeyed Him, all manner of evil would come upon us and that our enemies [in this case the Edomites] would get up above us very far, and we would come down very low." - AUTHOR).

He continues: "Most indefensible of all is the incredible credence your new position gives to the spurious (false) Gospel of Nicodemus. You warn so eloquently against Jewish fables, quoting Titus 1:14, yet you actually accept this one so uncritically. There are dozens of these false gospels. Some were written by clever unbelieving Jews for the purpose of debunking Christianity or to gain profit from it. Some already existed in Paul's time and he warned against them in 1 Timothy 1:4; 4:7. Many are quite fanciful and devoid of any historical value. (All this diatribe, because I mentioned the Gospel of Nicodemus. I did not state that I believed in it. This man has evidently set himself up as an authority on the many letters which were written by early Christians, getting his information, no doubt, from the Jew tainted seminarians who taught him - AUTHOR).

"When you leave the Bible for proof, there are a thousand snares. There is no historical proof of what happened to Israel between the Assyrian captivity and the time of Christ." (UNQ.)

But enough of this diatribe (sarcastic criticism). The fundamentalists love to use this and other arguments to bolster their beliefs, but we shall see, as we go along, that many of the questions raised by this pastor and others will be answered in the chapters which follow.

A radio evangelist, commenting on my message THE PLOT AGAINST CHRISTIANITY, relied most heavily on an attempt to discredit me, rather than answer my arguments. He said: "In my judgment this is a hodge-podge of truth, half-truth and totally false concepts. I have no confidence in JEW BAITERS; nor do I have any confidence in NOBODIES (Jack Mohr) who take on some of the greatest Bible scholars and expositors of all times. (Remember that there was a time when the church authorities swore that the earth was flat, and when a man named Galileo proved otherwise, they burned him at the stake -AUTHOR).

He continues: "What an awful thing to write off Israel (here again he shows his ignorance, by being unable to tell the difference between Israel and the Jews - AUTHOR.) to whom most of the promises of the Bible are made. This man (Jack Mohr) is theologically mad." (UNQ.) I would encourage each of

you who is really interested in this subject, to search the Old Testament and see if you can find one reference to God's promises ever being made to a people called Jews. You can't, for they are not there!

Occasionally, support comes from unusual sources and they are always greatly gratifying. This letter came from a man, who according to his own words, pastored a Baptist Church in Manhattan for 22 years. He said: "I pastored the ______ Baptist Church in Manhattan for 22 years with both Sunday morning and evening services broadcast. My radio broadcasting experience covers 41 consecutive years, 32 of them in New York City."

He continues regarding my writings: "Thank you for sending me the tremendous article entitled THE PLOT TO DESTROY CHRISTIANITY. I have carefully read it through, and was impressed by the astute revelation it contained.

"Col. Mohr has given much material hitherto unknown to me . . . I feel that he has given a true picture of conditions. . . he has in clarity and, I think in justice, made known the tragic truth concerning the satanic Zionist program in America today; its nature and purpose. I could wish such a tract could be read and acted on by millions of deceived Christians, especially knowledgeable Christians, to waken them to the serious position this country now occupies." (UNQ.)

Notice the difference in this Baptist pastor's evaluation of my writings. Why the difference? Because he was willing to look at the truth and recognize it, while the other men refused because it contradicted their church teaching.

Another well-known evangelist says: "As far as having an avowed enemy in the communists, Col. Mohr is right. But when he transfers all his feelings against the Jews . . . claiming they master-minded and controlled communism, then I must part company with him." (UNQ.) Here again, a man who recognized at least part of the truth, but refuses to change his thinking on the Chosen People, in the face of all evidence to the contrary.

Another states: "Many people's thinking concerning Israel depends on their view of the Covenants. If we believe the Old Covenant is still, in effect and that both Old and New are still valid, one would come to a wrong conclusion.

"When Christ said He came to fulfill the law (Matthew 5:17), He fulfilled all the requirements of it and thus terminated it. Since Christ declared ALL foods clean (Mark 7:18, 19), He negated that part of the Old Covenant. (The Greek word for "fulfill," is "pleroo" which means: "to execute an office; finish a task; perfect." In no way does it indicate the ending of something else. In Mark 7:18, 19, there is absolutely no indication that Christ declared ALL foods to be clean and thus negated the Old Covenant. He merely expressed the thought that it was the inward thoughts of man that defiled him, not what he put into his mouth. This portion of scripture had nothing to do with food, but with inward thoughts, Jesus merely used food as an example. You are not defiled by what you eat, but it can make you sick. The Greek word for "defile" as used here means "to pollute" - AUTHOR).

"The basic problem with Christians today is that they do not believe the Bible. (Here I agree with him I00% - but I disagree with him totally on his next statement - AUTHOR.) At least they do not believe the Bible concerning the Jews and Israel . . . Anyone who has received Christ in his heart as Savior is a Jew. This means that all Christians (according to Romans 2:26-29) are Jews, regardless of their racial

backgrounds. If he lives in Jerusalem and claims to be a Jew and does not know Jesus, then he is not a Jew. (Here again we have had a mistranslation, whether fundamentalists want to accept this or not, for the word here, from the Greek, indicates it should have been JUDEAN, not JEW, since it had absolutely nothing to do with the religion of JUDAISM. Do you actually believe our Savior would equate Christianity with those whom He said were children of Satan? [John 8:44] - AUTHOR).

"Israel has always been and is today a spiritual rather than a physical entity. The olive tree is Israel (yes, but not the JEWS - AUTHOR). After Christ's death, the individual JEW, who did not believe in Christ, was broken off, while the believing Gentile was grafted in. (Here he again shows his ignorance of the meaning of words in the Greek; the word Gentile, does not mean "heathen" as most Christians believe, but referred to non-Jewish nations, that is Israelites - But now he shows some spiritual discernment - AUTHOR).

"The biological Jews of today do not spiritually (or physically) qualify as the house of Israel. (They never did - AUTHOR). When true Israel is gathered from all nations, God will cleanse them from all sins. This prophecy was not fulfilled in 1948 . . . I believe that those of us who are saved, who comprise true Israel, will be the ones to return to Palestine.

"But let me repeat, I love the HEBREWS (Jews) and I love their nation (ISRAELI). I AM ALL FOR THEM. I love to visit our promised land, which they are temporarily occupying. What they are now building will be wiped out soon and we Christians will rebuild it after the Great Tribulation." (UNQ.)

Isn't it interesting to note the contradictions in this man's theological thinking. He knows the Jews are not the Chosen People, yet he still supports them. He still equates them with the ancient HEBREWS, with whom they had no connection. He is evidently a "rapturist" from his remarks regarding the Great Tribulation. His entire theological train of thought is tied up in these people, whom he admits are not God's Chosen. Strange, isn't it?

Another Baptist preacher writes: "I am sorry you have listened to the writings of men instead of the inspired, preserved, inerrant, infallible Bible, preserved for us in the King James Version." (UNQ.) Again some fundamental presupposition.

From a well known Christian school in Florida, which had scheduled me for a week of meetings in 1981: "I do not know when you become a follower of the Identity Movement (makes it sound like a heathen religion, doesn't he? - AUTHOR), but I do have a copy of your letter concerning your change in position . . . You accuse me of inferring that IDENTITY and BRITISH ISRAELISM (ala Herbert W. Armstrong) are one and the same and I plead guilty of this.

"I would like a full doctrinal statement showing your real belief. I have a doctrinal statement from Sheldon Emry, but it is not complete. For instance, it does not say whether or not the humanity of man is part of the IDENTITY doctrine. However, I do have a copy of the CHRISTIAN VANGUARD, which says that Christ is completely God and not at all man. This destroys the doctrine of the incarnation and the atonement and does damage to His offices as Mediator, Redeemer and High Priest.

"Perhaps the VANGUARD is not the official paper of your brand of IDENTITY (notice the sarcastic snideness in this remark - AUTHOR).

"I believe there is a more logical and Scripturally sound answer to the Jewish question. I suggest you read Louis De Boer's book, THE NEW PHRISEEISM...

"I do not write to antagonize people, I believe you are involved in a cult which is close to the truth, but not close enough. If you have not rejected all the possible answers to the Jewish problem before embracing Identity, you embraced it prematurely." (UNQ.)

Here again we see a man who is presupposing and is speaking about something he knows next to nothing about. He uses the CHRISTIAN VANGUARD, as an example of ALL Identity thinking. His letter came after I sent out a letter to 200 fundamentalist leaders in 1980, showing what I had found from a summer of intense Scriptural and historical study into Judaism during the summer of 1980. As a result of this letter - I had fourteen week long revivals, which had been scheduled for 1981 cancelled. Not because I had changed my doctrinal stand, but because I now refused to accept the people we call Jews, as the Chosen People of the Bible.

A lady from Dallas wrote: "It is one of the saddest things in the world when one of the brethren turns from the faith taught in the Bible and embraces doctrines of men which are contradictory. The men whose teachings you have embraced are naturally very persuasive, as they have the charisma of the devil to back them up. (ALL YOU Identity preachers take note! - AUTHOR.)

"The Bible is not hard to understand . . a Jew is a direct descendant of Abraham, and that's all there is to it. Nothing can change that, and any other interpretation is not of God." (UNQ.)

When I asked this sister, if her interpretation of a Jew, included people such as black singer Sammy Davis, Jr., she got so angry she could hardly talk.

All these things were brought about because of that letter I wrote. I had been a Baptist evangelist at this time, for eighteen years and had been welcomed in some of the largest Baptist churches in America. But I became greatly disturbed by the actions of the "pseudo" Jews in Palestine, who I had been told were the Chosen People. At this same time, I was a member of the American Opinion Speaker's Bureau of the John Birch Society and traveled the length and breadth of America making patriotic speeches. I noticed that whenever I spoke against communism I was labeled "anti-Semite", even though I had not mentioned the Jews. This disturbed me. During the Vietnam War years, I worked the college circuit and made speeches at some 23 major colleges. In each one, I was confronted, sometimes violently, by student dissidents, in every case lead by young Jews from wealthy families. This disturbed me to the extent that in the summer of 1978 I spent several hundred hours in a prayerful study of the Jewish problem, both from the Scriptural and historical perspective. It soon became apparent to me, that in spite of what I had been taught from fundamental pulpits, and a fundamental seminary, that Baptists in particular, had been lied too on such issues as the Jews, Judeo-Christianity, Israel, the Pre-Tribulation Rapture of the church and dispensationalism. (The study of history in dispensations, "ages").

Please be careful to notice that I did not say that Baptists were lied to deliberately, because I do not believe that this was and is true with most of them, but somewhere back along the line, there had been some deliberate deception at work and I do blame pastors for being so negligent in their Bible studies, that they allowed this to happen. I know that some Baptist preachers knew the truth regarding the Jews, because they admitted it to me. They did not have the spiritual courage to "buck the tide," or go against the popular opinion of their church. I will admit that I was forced into this study, and went "kicking and screaming" into an understanding of the truth. When I finally had the courage to speak out, I was immediately branded as a "black sheep" in the Baptist family and within two weeks after the day I attempted to talk to my pastor regarding these things, I was completely ostracized by the Baptist pastors in Mississippi to the point where they would not even greet me on the street when we met. Not one of them took the Scriptural steps of trying to reason with me over the actions I had taken. I was not ostracized because of apostasy, since I was still a fundamentalist at heart and still believed as the fundamentalists do, with the exception of the "Pre-Tribulation Rapture, which I could no longer Scripturally accept. I was "black-balled" because I refused to accept that Satan's Brood in Palestine as the "true Israel."

But once I learned who the Jews of today really were, another problem presented itself. If the Jews were not the chosen people, who were? I knew enough from my Bible study to know that somewhere in the world, physical Israel existed, since the Bible clearly taught this.

About this time, in the summer of 1979, I believe it was, I was holding a revival meeting in a large Baptist church in Quincy, Illinois. One evening, after a rather successful service, I was approached by a nice looking gentleman, who inquired if I had ever heard about Israel Identity. I rather flippantly replied: "Oh, those are those religious nuts who believe they are the true Israelites." He replied: "Yes, and I'm one of them!" This sort of embarrassed me. He then showed me a book he had titled: JUDAH'S SCEPTRE AND JOSEPH'S BIRTHRIGHT, by J. H. Allen, who I believe had been a Presbyterian preacher. A reviewer in the BAPTIST MESSENGER said of this book: "This is one of the most interesting volumes we have read in many a day . . . and we confess that the arguments produced by Mr. Allen seem unanswerable. It is more thrilling than Western fiction. The description of the scarlet thread, the royal remnant, and the part played by Jeremiah in the preservation of the ruler for David's throne, will cause you to lose sleep rather than go to bed without knowing the outcome." (A most remarkable statement coming from a Baptist publication.)

The man who spoke to me, was Dr. R. C. Stevens, a veterinarian from the little town of Mendon, Illinois. He said: "I'll give you this book, if you promise to read it." I promised and went back to my motel that night and began to read. Just as the Baptist reviewer had said, I was fascinated with the book and I lost sleep that night, so that I could find out the outcome. By the time I had finished, I was convinced in my mind, that here was the answer to the Jewish Question. Dr. Stevens has become one of my dearest friends. It was because of his courage in approaching me concerning a controversial question, that I learned the truth. In 1987, at a summer Bible camp in the Western Rockies, I had the privilege of being "baptized for the remission of sins," by this Godly man. I will ever be in his debt! When I first learned the truth about Israel, it came to me like a "Breath of spring air in a smoke filled room."

But in order to accurately set the stage for what Anglo-Israel Identity is all about, we need to look some more at what our opponents think we believe. Let's look briefly at Louis De Boer's book THE NEW PHARISEEISM (a study in the Logical Implications of the Theology of British-Israelism). My how the fundamentalist and evangelical scholars like to use that word "logic." De Boer says in his introduction, p.5: "It is the thesis of this book that the theology of British-Israelism as it is being promoted today is a potent revival of Phariseeism. It is the evil genius of all the cults, that, although

they profess Christ with their lips, yet they all universally and uniformly deny Christ. (I guess you Identity folks didn't realize what an evil bunch we really are, did you? - AUTHOR)

"The theology built upon the fact of a supposed identification of the Anglo-Saxon race with physical Israel according to the flesh, constitutes an effective denial of Christ, both as Lord and Savior - that it even denies that Jesus of Nazareth is the Christ, the promised son of David - that there is no need for the atonement that He has wrought and that it has a salvation of its own, totally apart from the work of redemption He has wrought - that it is truly another gospel . .

(I can assure you, having been in Identity ranks for nine years, that this statement by De Boer is totally false and is maliciously made, as you will see when we discuss Anglo-Israel theology in a later chapter. It is typical of the diatribes which are used in the evangelical and fundamental world, against an explanation of the Bible which they are unable to Scripturally deny. I don't know whether you have noticed or not, but when people are backed into a corner on their theology, and cannot come up with Scriptural answers, they resort to sarcasm and the use of diatribe -AUTHOR).

On p. 11 of this book, De Boer says: "They (Identity) believe that the present day ethnic and racial group known as JEWS, is not physically or racially descended from Abraham through Isaac and Jacob, but is an alien seed of Asiatic stock which has historically adopted Judaism as its faith, and is more properly identified as the Khazars. That they are not Jews, nor descendants of the tribe of Judah... that Christ was not a Jew.. "(For what the Jews themselvn Acay about the Khazars, I would suggest Arthur Koestler's book THE THIRTEENTH TRIBE -AUTHOR).

"It is with those who believe this and trust in this in application to themselves, that we will dispute concerning the things of the Kingdom of God."

On page 17 of his book he states: "Another subversion of historic post millennialism to serve heretical purposes has been promulgated by British-Israelism. This view holds to the "post millennium" view of an earthly millennium, BEFORE THE RETURN OF CHRIST which will constitute the Kingdom of God. It rejects the Church Kingdom theory and holds to a civil rather than an ecclesiastical kingdom." (The proper terminology for him to use here should be "spiritual kingdom," since evangelicals and fundamentalists alike, have the bad habit of spiritualizing anything they cannot explain in Scripture -AUTHOR).

On page 30, he continues: "For those who believe in the need of regeneration, repentance, and the absolute need of and dependence on Divine grace, there is no theological difficulty in accepting Jews for what they claim to be." (This is most certainly true of such men as Jerry Falwell, Billy Graham, David Webber, Jack Van Impe, and a host of others. They back the Zionist Jews in their claims, even though so-called Jews (see Rev. 2:9; 3:9) 'cannot claim a single one of the more than 200 finger prints which, Scripture uses to identify "true Israel" - AUTHOR).

But enough of De Boer, who when all his writings are boiled down to truth, do not amount to very much.

At this point, I believe it would be worthwhile for us to look at the "all out" proponent of anti-Christ Judaism. Baptist evangelist Jack Van Impe, the "Human Bible" as he is sometimes called. (He claims to have memorized all the Bible). The following statement was taken from his book ISRAEL'S FINAL HOLOCAUST! (from the title, you can see that he does not know the difference between Israel and the Jews).

In the introduction to his book, p.9, he states: "It is impossible to grasp God's prophetic plan apart from an understanding of His promises to Israel. (So far, so good, I believe this - AUTHOR.) All prophetic truth revolved around the Jews. The Bible reviews their history and unfolds their future. The future of the world will be effected by the future of Israel." (It is quite clear to see that this man does not understand the difference between the word JEW and ISRAEL and that he attributes all the promises God made to Israel, to an anti-Christ people we know as Jews - AUTHOR).

On page 10, he asks this question: "The Old Testament prophets foresaw the return of the Jews to their homeland in the latter days. Does the existence of the State of Israel fulfill this prophecy?" (To those who have done their homework, the answer is an unqualified, NO! - AUTHOR.)

On page 50, Van Impe states: "We who live within the memory of the Nazi nightmare, when sixmillion Jews died in Europe, might conclude that Hitler's hatred of this people was a phenomenon of the Twentieth Century. Not so, for Jewish blood had been spilled across Europe . . ." (UNQ.)

At this point Van Impe's Christian Zionism begins to show its true color, as he perpetuates the Zionist lie that 6-million Jews were murdered by the Germans during World War II. Any honest student of history, who is willing to take an honest look at what really happened during World War II, will surely know that there were never more than 3.5 million Jews in territory under German control and that far more than half of them had escaped before the war ended. According to Jewish statistical sources, there were never more than 550,000 Jews living in Germany proper when the wasephgan, and again according to Jewish sources, there were more Jews alive at the end of World War II, than there were when the war began in the late nineteen thirties. But then, these Christian Zionists never bother to check out the facts, for fear they will contradict their beliefs.

It is true that Jewish blood was spilled across Europe and that they were kicked out of every nation on the continent.

But it was not because as Van Impe says: "Satan hated them!" It was because of their crooked business dealings, their immoral Talmudic mode of life and the fact that they interfered with the government of every country which gave them refuge, just as they are attempting to control our government now.

The Apostle Paul put his finger on the reason why these people are universally disliked, and it had nothing to do with Satan's hatred for them. Why should Satan hate the one's our Lord said were his children (John 8:44). In 1 Thessalonians 2:15 we read that they killed the Lord, and their own prophets, and persecuted the early Christian church and "THEY PLEASE NOT GOD, BUT ARE CONTRARY TO ALL MEN." (Emphasis mine.)

Why is it that the proponents of Zionism are not honest enough to admit this Scriptural and historical truth? This Jewish myth of the "holocaust" has poured countless billions of Christian dollars in-to Jewish coffers, and still the "stupid Christian sheep" enjoy being robbed by those who hate them more than anyone else.

On page 52, Van Impe continues his fairy tale concerning the Jews: "Everywhere the Jews were blamed for the ills of their day. Some still foolishly follow this practice. In the Twentieth Century, Jews are accused of controlling all the money (they own the Federal Reserve System and all ten private banks which govern it - AUTHOR). They cause all depressions, influencing spiraling inflation and plotting the conquest of the world." (UNQ.)

Now there is no argument here, since if you will honestly look at the majority of names of those who control International finances, you will find 90% or more are Ashkenazi Jews. Look at the names of those who own and run the abortion clinics of America, which yearly murder more than 2-million unborn babies, again Jews; see who controls the liquor and drug market, which yearly kills thousands of Americans and makes slaves of many more - again Jews; see who owns the sources of pornography, who produces the filth of Hollywood and TV, see who they are. A very, very high percentage of the people Van Impe supports are the subverters of Christian America. Van Impe knows this, as do many other Christian Zionists, yet they still stubbornly cling to support of these Christ haters, under their guise that they are God's anointed.

Then on p.55, he uses the fundamentalist "boogie man," which is their favorite argument. He says: "One wonders how long this nation (America) will officially stand on the side of the Jews . . . if we do not, the Land of the Free, is about to enter its darkest hour." (UNQ.)

His argument is based on God's promise to Abraham in Genesis 12:3, when He said: "I will bless them that bless thee, and curse him that curseth thee." But America has not been blessed because we have been kind to the Jews. In fact America's darkest hours have come since we recognized this Christ hating country of the Israeli's in 1948. We have gone down hill faster, in every area of American life, economically, politically, militarily, morally and spiritually, since we have sided with God's enemies. Could it be that we are seeing the results of 2 Chronicles 19:2, which states: "... shouldest thou help the ungodly; and love them that hate the Lord? therefore is wrath upon thee from before the Lord. Pretty clear and plain isn't it. Yet such is the fundamentalist "mind set" that when a blasphemous movie like THE LAST TEMPTATION OF CHRIST, is produced by Jews in Hollywood, the Christian protestors are oh so careful, that they do not step on the toes of the Jews and become known as "anti-Semite."

Another attack against ANGLO-ISRAEL IDENTITY came in the September 1981 issue of FAITH FOR THE FAMILY, the official organ of Bob Jones University in Greenville, S.C. It was written by Dan Olinger, whose father I knew real well.

This article titled BRITISH-ISRAELISM, started off by equating all Identity people with Herbert W. Armstrong's cult and he quoted liberally from Armstrong's writings. Olinger claims that the Herbrew words "b'rith-'ish", which Identity says means "covenant man," actually stand for a "covenant of man" which completely changes its meaning.

He goes on: "British-Israelism (Identity) carries two especially virulent dangers which should be considered by every Christian. In the first place, it is rooted in post-millennialism, which teaches that man will establish the Kingdom of God on this earth before Christ returns. Very few conservatives hold to this.

"Secondly, BI acts as a 'rabbit trail' to divert Christians from the main business at hand. It is not correct really, to call British Israelism a cult, or a heresy, since it is does not deny any major doctrine or fundamental of the faith. (Cultists like Armstrong are clearly heretics, but it is not BI that makes them such.) (Notice carefully how he differs in his evaluation from De Boer - AUTHOR.) But experience shows that adherents of BI spend most of their time trying to convert Christians to BI, rather than trying to win the lost." (Unfortunately, in some cases this is true. But by a like token, while evangelicals and fundamentalists have "keyed in" on personal salvation, they have neglected part two of Christ's Great Commission, Matthew 28:19, 20, which clearly states: "Teaching them to observe ALL THINGS whatsoever I have commanded you . . ." This is the major reason why 45-million "born again Christians" have such a little effect on the country. They have become the "salt which has lost its savor," (It's ability to act as salt) Matthew 5:13. While about two-thirds of the Bible teaches national salvation, evangelicals and fundamentalists concentrate on the one-third, while they leave the country to go to hell. We have forgotten, even while we mouth the words, what Jesus taught us to pray: "Thy Kingdom come, Thy will be done, IN EARTH, AS IT IS IN HEAVEN," (Matt. 6:9).

Olinger accuses Identity people of studying the Bible only to prove their preconceived ideas about Identity. I claim this to be false, for this is exactly what the evangelicals and fundamentalist do. In my own case, I studied the Bible for hundreds of hours, searching for the truth, always asking God's Holy Spirit to guide me in my search for the truth. It was a grief and amazement to me, to find that the fundamental pulpits of America had been lying to me about the Jews, the Rapture and the Kingdom of God on this earth, for over 40 years. Very possibly this lying was unknowing, but it was lying nevertheless and I'm sure that the seminarians who taught this heresy of Scripture, knew for the most part, what they were doing.

Olinger went on to say: "While a person can be saved and believe in BI the chances are he will not be a victorious Christian, but will be one who will give heed to 'fables and endless geneslogies' which minister questions, rather than godly edifying which is in the faith,' "(1 Timothy 1:4).

While I have run into a few of these Identity folks he mentions, to my sorrow, I can also say that the majority I have met are Godly men and women who are concerned not only with the "salvation of souls," but the Godly operation of our country. "By their fruits shall ye know them."

So now that I have allowed the opposition to speak quite freely and tear us apart at will, let's look and see what ANGLO-ISRAEL IDENTITY is really all about

"The Lord hath poured out upon you (Israel) the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets (preachers) and your rulers (politicians), the seers hath He covered . Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honor me, but have removed their heart far from me. . . Therefore, behold, I will do a marvelous work and a wonder among them: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent (those who take part in the political process) will be hid." - Isaiah 29:10, 13

Chapter II. THE FAITH OF ANGLO-ISRAELITES!

Owing to mis-information in some cases, and deliberate falsehood and lack of knowledge in others, critics, as we have seen say: "You Identity people have no plan of Salvation; you have no Cross, and you glorify the Nation above Christ and personal salvation." Sad to say, there are a few Identity preachers who would fit into this mold. These teach that all is necessary for salvation is for you to be white and of the seed of Abraham. (We could say that fundamentalists have their problem areas too.) The vast number of our Identity people reject this kind of simplistic thinking, for we know that it is contrary to the teaching of God's Word. When Jesus spoke to the Pharisee Nicodemus in John 3:3, he spoke to a man who was an Israelite by blood; a Jew by religion and a Pharisee by political party. He said "... except a man be born again, he cannot SEE the kingdom of God." (A clearer translation would have been "born from above.") There are no "ifs", and "ands", and "buts" about this statement, it is spoken in a language that even a child can understand. It is further explained by the most loved verse in the Bible, John 3:16, that tells us that WHOSOEVER (Greek "Pas" meaning: "all; any; everyone; as many as") believe on Him (the only begotten Son of God) should not perish, but have everlasting life." This is reiterated in John 1:9, which tells us: "But as many as receive Him (Jesus), to them gave He (God) the power, to become the sons of God, even to them that believe on His name." THAT'S IDENTITY THEOLOGY, my friend!

We believe the Bible is the WORD OF GOD written; and therefore is true from Genesis to Revelation. That it is applicable to us, the Old Testament as well as the New. Having said this, there is no reason for me to enlarge on my faith, but owing to the ignorance of our critics, whether well meaning or feigned, let me enumerate some of the articles of Identity Faith:

1 - WE BELIEVE IN THE DIETY - the Godship of our Lord Jesus Christ. We believe He was the Creator of this world and all things in this universe, (John 1:3). We believe He was one with God the Father, (John 1:1, 2.)

2 - WE BELIEVE in the Gospel of Personal Salvation through the blood of Jesus Christ, (Ephesians 1:7) - "In whom we have redemption through His (Christ's) blood, the forgiveness of sin, according to the riches of His grace."

3 - WE BELIEVE IN THE GOSPEL OF THE KINGDOM OF GOD ON EARTH, exactly as He taught us to pray: "Thy Kingdom come, Thy will be done; on EARTH as it is in heaven," (Matthew 6:10; Luke 11:2). We believe there is only one Gospel of Jesus Christ and this is the Gospel of the Kingdom. It is impossible to teach the Gospel of the Kingdom, without the Gospel of Personal Salvation, but unfortunately, you can teach Personal Salvation, and miss out completely on the Gospel of the Kingdom which occupies two-thirds.of the Scriptures. This has been done in a majority of our churches.

4 - WE BELIEVE IN the absolute necessity of the spiritual re-birth.

5 - WE BELIEVE IN the Second Advent of our Lord and that He will return prior to the Millennium, to rule and Reign on this earth as King of Kings and Lord of Lords.

6 - WE BELIEVE IN THE RESURRECTION of the dead and the translation of living Christians from a corruptible to an incorruptible body to take place at Christ's return. This will not be a Rapture, where the saints are removed from this earth during the Great Tribulation, since Scripture teaches that it is

the wicked who will be removed (see Matthew 24:37-39). Compare this with the Parable of the Wheat and Tares in Matthew 13:30-41 and the Parable of the Good and Bad Fish in Matthew 13:49. There is no indication anywhere in Scripture that the righteous will be removed from this earth.

7 - WE BELIEVE IN THE DIVINE INSPIRATION OF THE SCRIPTURES, not only that they were Divinely inspired, but that human writers actually wrote only the words which were in-breathed into their minds by the Holy Spirit. (This applies only to the original words which were in Hebrew, Greek, and Aramic, the languages in which the Bible was written.) We know, that mortal men since then, have changed the meanings of many of these words as they were translated into English. Therefore it is important for every concerned Bible study, to check out the meaning of important English words in their original languages. This can be done with the use of a good Bible Concordance, such as Strong's Exhaustive Concordance, which was written specifically for the King James Version.

8- WE BELIEVE AND CAN PROVE that the Bible is true.

9 - WE BELIEVE IN THE LINEAL DESCENT of the Anglo-Saxon and related peoples from the 12 tribes of Israel, as distinct from the people we call Jews today and that these true Israelites are the only peoples who bear the Biblical "fingerprints" of Scripture.

10 - WE BELIEVE THAT\ THE UNITED STATES AND CANADA are the lands which were promised to King David in 2 Samuel 7:10 and that North America is the only place on earth which bears the identifying marks of this NEW JER USA LEM!

Chapter III. COVENANTS OF THE BIBLE

While most Christians recognize the two great Covenants which divide our Bible into two major parts, the Old and New Testament, many do not know that there were a number of others which were also important, in fact, there were eight in all.

It is important that our people know about these Covenants, for they contain not only God's promises to the Special People called Israel, but His plan and purpose for the world and all the peoples in it.

Listed below, are the eight Covenants, Almighty God made with men whom He had formed from the dust of the earth. (Here we enter into an entirely different area than that taught by most churches, since we believe the Bible distinctly teaches that the Adamic race, from which Israel sprang, was of a different source from that of the colored races. This hinges on- the Scriptural account, which MUST be taken literally. In Gen. 1:26, God created man in his image. He created them male and female and gave them dominion over the earth. But in Genesis 2:5-7 we find a second and different account of man's beginning. (Orthodoxy says this is one and the same account, but it cannot be, for there are dramatic differences between the two.) In Genesis 2:5 we read ". and there was not a man to till the ground." Then notice in verse 7 that God "formed man from the dust of the earth." The first man was "created", not formed. The Hebrew word for "create" is "bara" which means "to make out of nothing." Notice too, that this second man was not created "male and female" as was the first creation in Genesis 1:27, but was created in the male form only. It was only later when no "help meet" could be found for Adam," (Gen. 2:20) that God made woman, from part of man's body (vs. 21-23.) WE BELIEVE that the dark races were from the first creation and that the white, or Adamic races came from the second "formation." The name ADAUM in Hebrew means "to show blood in the face," or be capable of blushing. This is why we believe there is no contradiction between the Bible and those scientists who insist they have found the remains of men who are millions of years older than our Adamic ancestors. They no doubt come from the colored races who were created in Genesis one.

The Biblical Covenants:

1 - THE EDENIC COVENANT. This was made between God and Adam in the Garden of Eden, see Genesis 2:15.

2- THE ADAMIC COVENANT. This was made with Adam after the fall, (see Genesis 3:15). It promised perpetual warfare between the "seed" of the woman, and the "seed" of the serpent. (Some Identity pastors teach that this was a literal "seed of Satan" which culminated in a people we now call Jews. (See John 8:44). Not all Identity people teach this. I DO NOT!)

3 - THE NOAHIC COVENANT. Made with Noah after the flood, in which God promised never to destroy the world again with a flood, see (Gen. 9:1).

4- THE ABRAHAMIC COVENANT. Made by God, f, t with Abraham and later confirmed and enlarged on to Isaac and Jacob, (see Genesis 12:2, 3; 15:18.)

5 - THE MOSAIC COVENANT. Made with Moses and Israel at Sinai. (See Exodus 24:8).

6- THE PALESTINIAN COVENANT. Made with Israel as they were about to enter Palestine, (see Leviticus 26; Deut. 28, 29, 30.) We believe the provisions of Deuteronomy, both the blessings and the curses, apply to modern Israel today. That's us!

7 - THE DAVIDIC COVENANT. Made with David and his seed forever. (See 2 Samuel 7:10-16.)

8 - THE NEW COVENANT. Made with twelve tribed Israel through the shed blood of their Messiah, Jesus the Christ, (see Jeremiah 31:31; Hebrews 8:8).

(While I do not recommend the Scofield Bible as a study Bible because he is a confirmed Christian Zionist and a teacher of the Pre-Tribulation Rapture, there are many excellent explanations on these covenants in his footnotes. They can be of help, if one is careful to remember his background.)

At this point, we need to examine one of these Covenants THE ABRAHAMIC COVENANT, made by God with Abraham in Genesis 12:2, about 1921 B.C.

In this Covenant we find the beginning of a progressive relation of God's Great Plan and I Isose for this earth and the people living on it. In a day when men and women are more and more seeking to "find a purpose for their lives," when youth are asking "who are we and why are we here? "it is essential for Christians in particular to understand the Scriptures. In the study of this great covenant, we will learn how Almighty God intends to restore a ruined world - a world ruined by Satan's lies - lies which caused our parents Adam and Eve to sin by dis-obedience to Him in the Garden of Eden, and so effect all their progeny.

It should be noticed that this is an "unconditional Covenant." By this we mean it was a promise made by God, to Abraham, which He (God) would carry out regardless of whether Abraham and his progeny held up their "end of the bargain" or not. A careful study of Genesis 12 to the end of Revelation will reveal this. The entire Bible, beginning with Genesis 12, is the majestic story of one man and his descendants. This major theme flows through the Bible like a mighty river on its unstoppable course to the sea.

Because this Covenant is "unconditional", nothing that Abraham's descendants, might be, or d6, can in any way change or abrogate it. It is a firm, promise by God which cannot be broken. God swore on His own oath, that this COVENANT is his declared will and purpose. Regardless of how wicked and wayward later generations might become, regardless of how severely God might have to punish them, His promises to Abraham WILL BE FULFILLED. MEN CANNOT CHANGE OR ALTER THEM, since GOD HAS SWORN TO IT!

The writer of the book of Hebrews understood this when he wrote in Hebrews 11:8, 9 - "By faith, Abraham, when he was called to go out into a place which he should after receive for an inheritance, obeyed: and he went out, not knowing whither he went. By faith he sojourned in the land of promise, as in a strange country, dwelling in tabernacles (tents or cloth huts) with Isaac and Jacob, the heirs with him of the same promise.

The ABRAHAMIC COVENANT was first formed in Genesis 12:2-4 where God unconditionally promised Abraham: "I (God) will make of thee (Abraham) a great nation, and I will bless thee and make thy name great, and thou shalt be a blessing: (Now we come to a part of this Covenant which has been completely twisted out of shape by the evangelicals and fundamentalists) and I will bless them that

bless thee, and curse him that curseth thee, and in thee shall ALL the nations of the earth be blessed."

Our detractors say: "See! This means the Jews!" Recently, Dr. Jerry Falwell of the Moral Majority sent a letter to thousands of American Christians, begging for funds for a new organization called CHRISTIANS FOR ISRAEL. He asked for contributions to aid the anti-Christ Zionists in Palestine and ended his letter with this veiled threat. "Either American Christians will help the Jews, or God will curse them!" This is a complete perversion of Genesis 12:3. This is not what these verses say. Do not attempt to "read something into them that is not there."

These words in verse three are simply God's promise to Abraham. Actually, they say nothing about his "seed." Paraphrasing them, without changing their meaning, they simply say: "Abraham, I am going to bless you, and if anyone blesses and helps you, I will bless them, and if anyone tries to hurt you in any way, I will place my curse on them." There is nothing here about a people called JEWS, who did not show up on the scene until some 1200 years later, when we first find Biblical account of them in 2 Kings 16:6, and find them fighting against Israel. Strange, isn't it, when our pastors tell us that they are one and the same? There is no implication here that these blessings and curses will be carried down to future generations. This is something the Bible scholars have read into the Word.

This Covenant was further confirmed in Genesis 13:14-17; 15:1-7, 18; 17:1-8. It was again confirmed with Isaac in Genesis 26:23, 24 - "And the Lord appeared unto him (Isaac) and said, Go down into Egypt; dwell in the land which I will tell thee of. Sojourn (Hebrew, "guur", meaning "to turn aside from the road for lodging.") in this land, and I will be with thee and bless thee; for unto you and your seed, I will give all these countries, and I will perform the oath which I swore unto Abraham thy father. And I will make thy seed to multiply as the stars of heaven, and I will give unto thy seed all these countries, and in thy seed shall all the nations of the earth be blessed." (Are you so naive as to believe that eighteen million Jews fulfill this promise of a "great multitude like the stars in number?")

Again in Genesis 28:13, 14, we find God's Covenant with Abraham enlarged with Abraham's grandson Jacob. After reiterating the promises of the land on which Jacob stood, God said, verse 14: "And thy seed shall be as the dust of the earth, and thou shalt spread abroad to the west, and to the east, and to the north, and to the south, and in thy seed shall all the families of the earth be blessed." This is further confirmed in Genesis 35:9-12.

It is interesting, when you come to think of it, that Abraham and his descendants through Isaac and Jacob are the people with whom God made His Covenant. In other words they are "God's Covenant People." Did you know that the Hebrew word for "Covenant" is "Berith" or "B'rith." (Strong's Concordance, (#1285), the word for "man" in Hebrew is "ish." Put them together and you have the word "B'rith 'ish" or "British."

Now I know that Identity detractors like to laugh at this and say it is a coincidence without meaning. But Abraham was the first "covenant man," and he was "B'rith 'ish" and like it or not, he was the progenitor of our Anglo-Saxon people. You can't change that by any twisting of history or scripture, or by the use of any derogatory terminology. The Word of Almighty God still stands. A close check of this Covenant will reveal that it is the Divine Charter of the Covenant People, a people whom God ordained to become a nation and then a company of nations (commonwealth) which would never be destroyed.

The New Testament mentions this Covenant in Romans 8:16, 17, when the Apostle Paul said: "The Spirit itself beareth witness with our spirit, that we are the children of God: and if children, then heirs; heirs of God, and joint heirs with Jesus Christ . . ." To the believers in Galatia he says: "Now to Abraham and his seed (descendants) were the promises made. He saith, not to seeds, as to many: but as of one. And to thy seed which is Christ. And this I say, that the Covenant, that was confirmed before God in Christ, the law . . . cannot be disannulled, that it should make the promises of none effect," (Gal. 3:16, 17).

So what we need to do is search for the legitimate heirs of Abraham in this generation. When a rich man dies, we can always expect to find a number of people who will claim heirship . . . relatives turn up which had been unknown before. The task of the court is to determine who the true heirs are. So since this Covenant is an "eternal inheritance for the offspring of Abraham", we can expect many to claim to be "Abraham's heirs according to the promise."

It is not unusual in the light of this, to find questions raised such as. "Who are the Chosen People?" This is natural and to be expected. But when we find people who turn down their inheritance and give it to hated aliens who are trying to destroy everything they say they believe in, when we hear them say: "So I'm an Israelite; what difference does that make as long as I'm saved?" We find people who are doing the same thing Esau did, when he sold his inheritance for a "bowl of red beans and rice." I'm quite sure that none of these Christians would turn down a big material inheritance by saying: "I'm a Christian you know and my inheritance is in heaven, so what difference does it makes to me who gets that million dollars." Don't be silly. You know what the reaction would be as well as I. use>But when it comes to accepting an "earthly inheritance" that God has waiting for them, most White Christians have become so brainwashed by the "mind detergent" that has been used against them in their churches, that they don't even know they are heirs to an earthly promise and instead opt for "pie in the sky," which most of them are not honestly sure they will receive. (I say this, on the evidence of their actions.)

But who in this generation are the "seed of Abraham," the friend of God? There are a multitude of answers, but only one correct one. Most say the present day Jews are the ones, without ever studying Scripture to find out the truth; others say it is a born-again Christian. While a few 6f us "nuts", recognize the Anglo-Identity truth taught in the Bible and are laughed to scorn by our fundamentalist brethren. Louis De Boer, in his book THE NEW PHARISEEISM, which we have already discussed, says on p.6 - "It is to the task of refuting one such answer (Anglo-Israel Identity) an answer the author considers especially pernicious (highly destructive), an answer that can only be a damning delusion to those who confide in it, that this book is dedicated." In other words, the author is giving us clear warning that he is out to destroy Israel Identity by any means possible, because he hates its truth.

The battle over who are the heirs to the promise is almost as old as the promise itself. Esau tried to take it from the true heir, just as the evangelicals and fundamentalists would today. They would like to take the promise from true Israel and give it to Esau's descendants, who pose as the true Israelites. (If you want to find out the end fate of this error, read Malachi 1:2-4).

It is quite interesting to note the message of our risen Lord, to the church at Smyrna, Rev. 2:9 - "... I know thy works, and tribulation, and poverty (but thou art rich) and I know the blasphemy of them which say they are JEWS and are not, BUT ARE OF THE SYNAGOGUE OF SATAN." (Emphasis added.)

This message from our Savior, was sent to a church which was under merciless persecution not only from the Romans, but a Jewish element which was bitterly hostile to Christians, and which like the Zionists of today were dedicated to its destruction. (In this connection, it is interesting to note that Emperor Nero's sine, was a Jewess who hated Christians with a virulent hatred.)

Smyrna was the center of the "Imperial Cultus," which mercilessly persecuted any religious sect which did not recognize Caesar as God. For some reason, which I will not attempt to explain, this persecution did not reach to the Jews in Rome. These Jews, not the "seed of Abraham," as De Boer claims, but the "pseudo-Jews" of Smyrna, had been exempted by royal decree from having to worship Caesar. They were able to carry on their heathen Talmudic worship without coming under the Roman ban for treason and blasphemy. These were the same crowd who a few years before had cried to Pontius Pilate: "Away with Him! (Christ) Away with Him! Crucify Him. We have no king but Caesar." (John 19:15).

Then, as now, we find these imposters claiming to be of the "privileged seed." They were quick to denounce Christians, for they knew these were the "true seed of Abraham." Truly the Jews of Smyrna, acted as the Synagogue of Satan, fulfilling Christ's description of them in John 8:44, when He said: "Ye are of your father the devil . . ."

Jesus further clarified His statements regarding the Jews in John 10:26, when he said: "But ye believe not, BECAUSE YE ARE NOT OF MY SHEEP," (Emphasis added.) How much plainer does the Lord have to get before you will accept His teachings?

Yet in spite of what the Scripture says, men like De Boer are strong in their attempts to protect the Christ haters of Judaism, while laying the blame on those of us who "know and can prove from Scripture, that we are heirs to the promises made to Abraham."

The Abrahamic Covenant was given in six distinct parts:

1 - "I will make of thee a great nation." Genesis 12:2; 13:16; 15:5; 46:3. By no stretch of the most vivid imagination can these promises be made to fit the people we call JEWS.

2 - "I will bless thee," (Gen. 12:2; 22:17; 26:24).

3 - "I will make thy name great." (Gen. 12:2). Does this have any significance in the fact that of all the nations on the face of the earth, our mother nation England is known as GREAT BRITAIN? (Great Covenant men).

4 - "Thou shalt be a blessing." (Gen. 12:2; Gal. 3:14). "That the blessings of Abraham might come on the Gentiles (Greek, "ethnos" meaning: "non-Jew nations.") through Jesus Christ: that we might receive the promise of the Spirit through faith." The Jews have never been anything but a curse to any nation where they have resided, sure a few of them have done noble things for their fellow men, but every time they have, they have "demanded their pound of flesh" in return. Paul said of them in 1 Thess. 2:15 that "they please not God and are CONTRARY to all men." This is why they have been universally disliked and persecuted.

5 - "I will curse them that curse thee." This promise was made to Abraham, nothing was mentioned regarding his descendant and certainly in all honesty, we cannot equate this promise to the Jews, (Gen. 12:3; 27:29).

6 - "In thee shall all the seed of the earth be blessed." (Gen. 12:3; 18:18; 28:14). I believe that most Christians rightly teach that this blessing would come to mankind through Jesus Christ. But there were many, many minor blessings which came from Abraham's descendants. More good has come to mankind through the White Christian nations we sometimes call Christendom, than from all the other nations combined. We could mention the abolishing of slavery, which is still practiced in many parts of the world; Governments built on the Ten Commandments; care of the needy, world-wide; publishing and proclaiming the Gospel. None of these things have ever been done by~the Jews, yet they are the "fingerprints" of true-Israel.

In the Abrahamic Covenant an original grant of land was made in Genesis 15:18. It was a vast tract of land, much greater than all of Palestine. It is what the Israeli, the "pseudo-heirs" of the promise want today.

While Abraham could not understand how his seed could inherit these lands, since he was 100 years old and his wife Sarah had been barren and was ninety herself, he asked God to prove it to him and God swore an oath with Abraham, the same as men make with each other. Men make verbal promises which are binding in a court of law; but God's oath was eternal, since He never dies. The symbolism of Gen. 15:1-18, it that of passing through death.

The promises regarding this vast land were "modified by prophecies of three dispossessions and restorations."

- 1 Genesis 15:13-16 400 years of bondage in Egypt;
- 2 Jeremiah 25:11, 12, seventy years of Babylonian captivity; and,

3 - Deuteronomy 28:62-65; 30:1-5, which covers the Seven Times of Punishment on Israel for their sin, or 2520 years (see Leviticus 26). The Third dispossession began about 740 B.C. when the 21/2 tribes of Israel, known as Judah were taken captive into Babylon. This dispossession was completed when a handful of Israelites were divorced from the land in 580 B.C. (Jeremiah 52). Full restoration for "true Israel" is promised at the return of Jesus Christ, our Lord and King, under the Davidic Covenant, (see Deut. 30:3; Jer. 23:25-8; Ezek. 37:21; Luke 1:30~33; Acts 15:14-17.)

It should be noted here and emphasized over and over again, that Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob WERE NOT JEWS! They could not be for the simple reason there were no people known as Jews, anywhere on earth.

Chapter IV. THE DEDICATION OF OUR RACE

If you will carefully read Genesis 22:1-18, you will see where "God did tempt Abraham." (Strong's Concordance says that "the English word "temple," is "bacah" in Hebrew, which literally means: "to test.") You remember the story, I'm sure. Abraham was told to take his only son Isaac, his only legitimate son, who would inherit the birthright, and sacrifice him to God on Mt. Moriah.

Scripture says that Abraham believed God. He must have wondered how God would fulfill His promises in Isaac, if he died. Yet the record shows that He obeyed God without question. In Hebrews 11:17, the great Faith Chapter of the Bible, we read:

"By faith, Abraham, when he was tried, offered up Isaac. Accounting that God was able to raise him up, even from the dead; from whence also he received him in a figure." To all intents and purposes, in the mind of Abraham, his son Isaac was dead when the angel stayed his knife hand. Mentally, as far as Abraham was concerned, the sacrifice had been made.

This meant that Isaac and all his children, in all their generations were especially dedicated to God. The Sacrificial ceremony was the dedication of our race, who were not even in existence at the time. These descendants of Isaac had been "fore-ordained" by God, "pre-destined" if you will, for a special service for all mankind. In Romans 8:28, 29 we read: "For we know that ALL things work together for good, to them that love God, (sometimes we forget this part) TO THEM WHICH ARE CALLED ACCORDING TO HIS PURPOSE. For whom He did the use of the name Jesus Christ means "the Anointed Savior." (Some Identity folks argue that both these words are of heathen usage and that the Hebrew word YASHUAH should only be used, but since I do not speak or write in Hebrew, but in English, I use the English translation.)

Christ is the "Servant of the Lord, through whose mediation, the world will eventually be brought back to God. The Dedicated Race, the descendants of Isaac, are also "anointed of God," to become His Servant Race. (see Ps. 105:15; Hab. 3:13.)

In 1 Peter 2:9, the Apostle Peter, speaking to the "strangers scattered abroad" in Asia (Israelites), said "Ye are a chosen generation, (Greek, "genos" meaning: "offspring") a royal priesthood, an holy nation, that ye should show forth the praises of Him who hath called you out of darkness, into His marvelous light." By no stretch of the imagination can this "nation" be translated to mean "church," as many fundamentalists and evangelicals teach.

Jesus came into this world for the express purpose of saving the "lost sheep of the house of Israel," (Matthew 15:24). This word "lost" as used here does not mean "unsaved" as many teach, but comes from two Greek words "apo" and "ollumi", which literally mean: "those who were banished for punishment." Of course, this was what happened to the tribes of Israel.

Paul's statement in Gal. 3:16 had a two fold application which many pastors are prone to forget - individual and national.

If you will recall, Abraham had two sons at the time of this testing. One was Ishmael by his bondswoman Hagar, and the other Isaac, by his legitimate wife Sarah.

Isaac was the child of promise; he was the only child of Sarah and was the promised seed, (see Gen. 17:19-21). Later Abraham had six more sons by Keturah. Paul tells the Galatian Christians that the promises were not made to "all of Abraham's descendants," but were to be fulfilled through "one seed," the

"Anointed," the "child of promise." He then tells us that through this "one seed," Isaac, would come the "one seed," through which all mankind would be blessed, Jesus Christ the Redeemer.

We find the first promise of this "Divine Seed," in Genesis 3:15, where the "seed of the woman" (Christ) would crush the head of the serpent, who was her and God's enemy.

Here for the first time we begin the magnificent highway of the "blood line of Christ". (His complete genealogy can be found in Luke 2:23-28.)

While Abraham had eight sons, only one was to be the father of the race who would eventually become a blessing to all people and who would figure in the physical birth of the Son of God.

This incident, which can be called "the election of race," deals with one particular race of men who were selected by God to become "servant-rulers." First they were to prove themselves as servants, before they were given the opportunity to "rule and reign" with the King.

This is one of the major lessons our Identity Christians need to learn. Too often we was"puffed up" with pride because we know we are God's special people. This knowledge should have the opposite effect on us. It should make us very humble, for we should recognize that with our privilege status, goes a thousand fold increase in our responsibilities to God and our fellow men. Once when Christ's disciples were squabbling over which one of them would be the most important in the kingdom, He said: "Neither be ye called masters: for one is your Master, even Christ. But he that is greatest among you shall be your servant. And whosoever shall exalt himself shall be abased; and he that shall humble himself shall be exalted," (Matt. 23:10-12).

Another time in Matthew 20:25-27, our Lord said: "Ye know that the princes of the Gentiles (nations) exercise dominion over them, and they that are great exercise authority upon them. BUT IT SHALL NOT BE SO AMONG YOU: but whosoever will be great among you, let him be your minister: and whosoever would be chief among you, let him be your servant." In other words, you first have to demonstrate obedience as a "private," before you can become a "general." I've gone through this humbling experience in my own life.

So if you get "puffed up" because you happen to be a White, Anglo-Saxon-Israelite, remember you must first prove yourself as a "handy-man" before you can become the "straw boss." This doctrine is completely opposite that which the Jews are taught in their Talmud, which tells them that when they are in charge of this world, all the wealth of the "goyim" (non-Jew animal - which means you) will be in their hands and every Jew will have 2,000 "goyim" slaves. Does this sound like the kind of a world you would like to live in?

The election of grace, deals with individual salvation and eternal life. This has no regard for race or color. (This statement is going to elicit some howls of anguish from some Identity leaders who teach otherwise, but it is nevertheless true.) Every individual member of the Chosen Race, must be "saved" in the same manner as all non-Israelites. God is not a respecter of persons when it comes to

salvation. Everyone can only be saved through faith in the shed blood of God's Son, Jesus the Christ. Only through Jesus Christ can Israelites become "inheritors of the promises made to Abraham." Anyone who tells you that you are righteous in the eyes of God, because of the color of your skin, is a liar! There will be many Israelites who will be rejected and will not make it into the Kingdom, because they refused to bow the knee to the King. Jesus told His disciples in Matthew 8:11 - "... many shall come from the east and west and shall sit down with Abraham, and Isaac, and Jacob, in the kingdom of Heaven. But the children of the kingdom shall be cast into outer darkness; there shall be weeping, and wailing, and gnashing of teeth." Why? Because they "wanted to do their own thing," rather than accept the King's way of doing things.

In Ezekiel 20:37, 38 God is speaking to Israel in the "latter days," before He sits on His throne in the Kingdom. He says: "And I will cause you to pass under the rod, and I will bring you into the bond of the covenant; and I WILL PURGE OUT FROM AMONG YOU THE REBELS, AND THEM THAT TRANSGRESS AGAINST ME . . "(Emphasis added.)

To better understand this, we need to know something about the customs of Ezekiel's day. When a king came into a land to accept a kingdom, it was the custom for the men of that land to appear before him on bended knees, where they asked him to forgive them for any act of rebellion they may have committed against him. When they received this forgiveness, they then pledged "fealty" to him. This was an act where they then said in essence: "From now on, I belong to you. I will follow you faithfully; I will obey your law; I will be true to you, even unto death." This in essence is what "being born again" is all about. So remember this, my dear Identity brethren, you too MUST accept the king, if you expect to enter His Kingdom. In a booklet titled THE SERVANT PEOPLE, published by Destiny Publishing Co., P.O. Box 177, Merrimac, MA 01860, we read this regarding Anglo-Saxon responsibility: "Thou, Israel, art my servant; Jacob, whom I have chosen, the seed of Abraham, my friend," (Isaiah 41:8).

"In Deuteronomy 7:6, Moses told the children of Israel: "For thou art an holy people un~o the Lord thy God: the Lord thy God hath chosen thee to be a special people unto Himself, above all people that are on the face of the earth." (How could language be any plainer?) The question which we must ask therefore is this: "Do our beliefs conform with this declaration from God?" Are we prepared to accept the Scriptural identification of this specially selected people, even if the weight of Scriptural and historical proof designates them to be other than the Jews?" (UNQ.)

Let me remind you again. When Moses spoke to these people in the Wilderness of Sinai, there were no Jews among them. The Jew did not come into existence until centuries later.

There are many Bible references to the fact that the Jews lost any status they may have had in the eyes of God. While there has been a tremendous effort, backed with Jewish money, to influence Christians into believing the Jews are the Chosen ones, this does not make it so! Today, Jewish sources, backed by "brainwashed" Christians, are trying to acquit the Jews of the death of God's Son. Their argument is: "You can't judge all Jews for what their leaders did in Jerusalem." Yet if you believe the Bible, as you claim you do, how can you get around the statement found in Matthew 24:25 - "Then answered ALL the people, and said, His blood be upon us and on our children." Their cry still echoes down through the corridors of history to this very day: "We will not have this man to rule over us; WE HAVE NO KING BUT CAESAR! Crucify Him! Crucify Him!"

In view of the Divine pronouncement, how can anyone who loves God, hold to the untenable position that the Jews are the Chosen of God? Jesus passed judgment on them in Matthew 23:38, when He said: "Behold your house is left unto you desolate ... The kingdom shall BE TAKEN FROM YOU, and GIVEN UNTO A NATION (Nothem now, not a CHURCH, but a NATION,) bringing forth the fruits thereof," (Matthew 21:43).

The Jews in their arrogance want to be ISRAEL who is entitled to the Land of Palestine. This was the basis for Menachem Begin's aggression and those people in Christendom, who back these "psuedo-Jews" will one day soon, experience extreme shock when they discover how they have been deceived. Can you visualize men like Jerry Falwell and Jimmy Swaggart, as they are forced to admit they have been "deceived by the anti-Christs."

We have seen how God chose Abraham and his seed as a "people set apart for a special purpose." So Israel, MUST be a nation dedicated to doing God's will, if she is to be blessed.

If the Scriptural truth is ever accepted, which proves that the Anglo-Saxon and related people are the true Israel, then our people will be shocked into seeing their responsibility before God. Today, very few Christians realize what this responsibility is. It goes far beyond knocking on doors and speaking to someone about their soul's salvation. Most Christians in our Judeo-Christianized churches are content to "slip into the kingdom by the skin of their teeth," or as Paul said "saved, yet so as by fire" (1 Cor. 3:15). These might be encouraged to become "watchmen on the walls of Israel," warning their fellow men in accordance to Ezekiel 33:7, if they knew who they were.

We white people in America have a national responsibility before God. The words of Ezekiel 33:10, 11 were written especially as a warning to us. "... If our transgressions and our sins (disobedience to God's law, see 1 John 3:4) be upon us, and we pine away in them (in God's name what do you think is happening to America today?) how should we live? Say unto them (Israel-America), as I live, saith the Lord, I have no pleasure in the death of the wicked; but that the wicked turn from his way and live; turn ye, turn ye from your evil ways: for why will ye die, 0 house of Israel (America)?"

Because we are His people and have maneuvered ourselves in-to a potentially dangerous situation by disregarding His law, He says we shall suffer, until the "rebels" (those who refuse to obey) are purged from our midst. Maybe we should start our house cleaning in Congress and the pulpits of America, beginning first with the house of God.

THE PROMISED SEED, THE ONE SEED OF ABRAHAM, WAS JESUS CHRIST, THE ANOINTED ONE!

1 - Everything is in Him; everything depends on Him -"And He is before all things, and by Him all things consist. (Greek "sunistemi" meaning: "are held together.") (Col. 1:17). Even the atoms are held together by the power of our mighty King, Jesus the Creator, (see John 1:3).

2 - He is the blessing of God to all Nations and all families of the earth. (see Gen. 3:15; 12:3; 18:18).

3 - He is the REDEEMER OF ISRAEL, (Luke 2:30-32. HE IS THE SAVIOR OF THE WORLD (John 4:42; 1 John 4:14; John 3:17).

4 - Without Him, the Chosen People have no blessings nor have they anything of blessing to offer to other nations.

5 - The ONE SEED, Christ, having come of the family of Abraham, can now be a blessing to all mankind.

Chapter V. ESAU AND JACOB AND THE SPURNED BIRTHRIGHT!

As you read the Bible account given in Genesis 25:19-34, you will notice that the struggle between the two sons of Isaac, Jacob and Esau, began before they were born. Quoting from the Ferrer-Fenton translation from the original Hebrew, we read: "and the children struggled together in her breast and she consequently said: 'Why does this happen to me?' so went to enquire of the Everlasting. And the Lord said to her, 'Two nations are in your breast, and two peoples shall proceed from your womb, and one people shall be stronger than the other people, and the elder shall serve the younger."

When the twin boys were born, the elder came out red, all over like a hairy garment; and they called his name Esau. When the second child was born, he had hold on Esau's heel; and his name was called Jacob," (Gen. 25:25, 26).

(Could this incident have any connection with Genesis 3:15, do you suppose, where God's promise was made that the seed of the woman should bruise the heel of God's enemy?)

Under normal circumstances in Hebrew custom, the first born would inherit the Covenant Promises. But Esau grew up to become a man who was primarily interested in "doing his own thing," which in this case was hunting and feeding his belly, or as the Yiddish say: "Getting while the getting is good." He believed that: "You only go around once in life, so live with gusto!" He thought so little of the promises of God, in fact he despised them - that he sold them to his brother Jacob for a bowl of "red beans and rice," one day when he was hungry (see Gen. 25:29-34). Because of his color, he had been nicknamed "Edom" which in Hebrew means "red." He was not only red on the outside, he also had a red heart. He was a "rebel," a "left winger", one who rebelled against the wishes of his father and mother and his God. The immediate satisfaction of his bodily needs meant more to Esau than any promises God had made for the future. He could not see "beyond the end of his nose." How many Christians do you know who are like Esau? Our churches are full of them. They use the excuse for disobeying God, by saying: "Christ did away with the law when He died on Calvary." They live like the devil, while they claim to be children of God. They are "Alka-Seltzer" Christians who come to church and "fizz" for a hour on Sunday, while the rest of the week you cannot tell them apart from the world.

Sometimes we call these folks "nominal Christians. It's no wonder the old Ship of State is in trouble with folks like this at the helm.

In spite of the objections of his parents, Esau deliberately broke God's Law and married "outside the blood line." In fact, he married two Canaanite women, just to spite his parents, (see Gen. 26:34, 35). "And Esau was forty years old when he took to wife Judith the daughter of Been the Hittite, and Bashemath, the daughter of Elon the Hittite: which were a grief of mind unto Isaac and Rebekah." Later in a mis-directed effort to appease his parents, he married a daughter of Ishmael, Abraham's son. (Gen. 28:8, 9).

The descendants of Esau became known as "Edom," "Edomites," "Seir or Mt. Seir", the latter two being names of the region where they lived. The immediate descendants of this "rebel son" are listed in Genesis 36. "Amalek" was a grandson of Esau and became the father of Israel's most vicious enemy, the Amlekites, (see Exodus 17:8-16; Numbers 24:20; Deut. 25:17-19; 1 Samuel 15L:2-33). All

the descendants of Esau, were forbidden by Hebrew law from becoming citizens of the Israel nation until the third generation, (see Deut. 23:7, 8 and the book of Obadiah).

When Esau sold his birthright to his brother Jacob, with it went the Title Deeds of the Promised Land. From later events, it becomes evident that the Amlekites did not honor their father Esau's agreement and now lay claim to the land as theirs. According to the Jewish Encyclopedia, they are part of Jewry and many Amlekites became Jews by adopting the Babylonian Talmudic religion of Judaism. They are now part of the "pseudo-Jews" who hold Israel under the name of ISRAELI. They are descendants of the same men Jesus tangled with in John 8:33, when the Jewish Talmudic leaders told Him "We be Abraham's seed, and were never in bondage to any man . . ." This in itself was a clear, selfpronounced fact that they could not be Israelites, since Israel had been in bondage in Egypt, as any Sunday School child knows. Why then do our pastor's persist in calling these enemies of Christ the Chosen People?

"The Lord hath poured out upon you (Israel) the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets (preachers) and your rulers (politicians), the seers hath He covered . Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honor me, but have removed their heart far from me... Therefore, behold, I will do a marvelous work and a wonder among them: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent (those who take part in the political process) will be hid." - Isaiah 29:10, 13

Chapter VI. THE COVENANT PROMISES CONFIRMED!

In Gen. 27:41, 42, we see where Esau hated his brother because of his own stupidity and threatened to kill him. As a result, Jacob spent twenty years in exile (see Gen. 28-33). Chapter 29 records Jacob's unusual vision of a ladder reaching into heaven with angels ascending and descending. From the wording of verse 11 it is quite possible that the stone Jacob used for a pillow, was one which had been discarded by builders in the area. He called the place Beth-el, which in the Hebrew language means "the house of God." There the Covenant which God had made with Abraham, was reconfirmed with his grandson.

While in this exile, Jacob married four wives, who bore him 11 sons. The youngest of them by Rachel, who was his "beloved wife."Later after his conversion, his name was changed to Israel" and from the "Usurper Jacob," he became "Israel, a Prince with God", (see Gen. 32:28).

During Jacob's conversion experience, which is recorded in Genesis 32, he became a new man and went into partnership with God. This experience is described in the New Testament in 2 Cor. 5:17 "Therefore, if any man be in Christ, he is a new creature, old things are passed away, behold all things are become new." This is what happened to Jacob, from a cheat and a liar, he became "Israel", through whom all the nations of the world would be blessed and God reconfirmed this in Gen. 35:10. Jacob's descendents were to work together with God for the blessing of "all families" of the earth, and for the final restoration of this world which had been ruined by Satan's rebellion against God.

Jacob was not an Israelite - he was the father of the Israelites - and HE WAS MOST DEFINITELY NOT A JEW! The twelve sons of Jacob, became the fathers of the twelve tribes (nations) of Israel and NONE OF THESE WERE JEWS! In fact there were no Jews until after the kingdom had been broken up, and a remnant of that broken kingdom became known as JEWS, which in Hebrew is YEHUDIM, meaning "a remnant of Judah!"

The "seven times" punishment of Israel (2520 years), is now about to come to a close and the Edomites who now rule in Palestine and the rest of the world, having control over the world's economic system and who are now masquerading as "true-Israel", will be destroyed, (see Luke 19:12-27, noting especially verse 27), then read Malachi 1:2-4: "I have loved you (Israel), saith the Lord. Yet ye say, Wherein hast thou loved us? Was not Esau Jacob's brother? saith the Lord, yet I loved Jacob and I hated Esau, and laid his mountains and his heritage waste

"... Whereas Edom saith, We are impoverished, but we will return and build the desolate places: thus saith the Lord of hosts, they (the Jews/Edomites) shall build, but I will throw down; and they (Israel) shall call them (the Jews), the border of wickedness, and, THE PEOPLE AGAINST WHOM THE LORD HATH INDIGNATION (anger) FOREVER." (Emphasis mine.) These are the people our pastors call God's Chosen. The day is coming soon, when we will see the destruction of these evil people in Palestine and God will fight against them, not for them, as we have been taught in our churches.

Chapter VII. EGYPT - THE EXODUS -THE 13th TRIBE!

Reuben, the firstborn of Jacob's twelve sons was deprived of the birthright because of his wickedness, (see Gen. 35:22). Joseph, who was the youngest, being somewhat spoiled and also somewhat of a "tattletale", and also being close to Bilhah's sons (Gen. 37:2) went to his father with the story of Reuben's sin. The first indication that the birthright had passed from Reuben to Joseph is found in Gen. 37:3, where Jacob presented his younger son with a coat of many colors. Joseph was evidently somewhat of a "brat" at this time and loved to "lord it over his older brothers," as his father's favorite son. This did not make for a good family relationship, but evidently Israel in his old age, and doting on Joseph, could or would not see this. This of course caused hard feelings in Joseph's brothers, which led them to sell him into Egyptian slavery, (see Gen. 37:19-28).

In Gen. 49:8-12, we find that the "sceptre of Power," the "Divine Right of Kings, or Rulership" was given to Judah. This was the tribe through which Christ would later be born. This promise to Judah was later re-affirmed in 2 Samuel 7:16, where David was told by the Prophet Nathan, after he had received a special revelation from Cod (see 2 Samuel 7:4, 5). In verse 10-17, we read about the message Cod gave to the king. In verse 10 we see where he is promised a new place which will be given to Israel, where she will be planted sometime in the future, and from which she would never move. We can tell from the wording of these verses that this was to take place sometime in the future, in a place other than Old Palestine. Then as a capstone of this promise, God told David: "And I will establish the throne of his (David's) kingdom forever." (vs. 13), "and thine (David's) house and thy kingdom shall be established for ever before thee: thy throne shall be established forever." (vs. 16).

The lines of rulership were never to depart from David until Christ, the Greater Son of David's line, was to come and set up His earthly kingdom, of which there would be no end. (See Luke 1:30-33). In verse 31-33 God told the Virgin Mary, through an angel: "And behold, thou shalt conceive in thy womb, and bring forth a son, and shalt call his name JESUS. He shall be great, and shall be called the Son of the Highest; and the Lord God shall give unto Him the throne of his father David: And He shall reign over the house of Jacob (Israel) for ever; and of His kingdom there shall be no end." MARANATHA!

The kings and princes which ruled over Israel from that time on have always come from the Tribe of Judah. Today, Christ is the spiritual head of this kingdom; when He returns again, He will be the King in His bodily form.

When Jacob/Israel gave his death-bed blessing, Judah and Joseph were selected for special responsibilities (see Gen. 49). Here we see the beginning of the division between the Israel people into "the two families which the Lord hath chosen," (Jeremiah 33:24). The House of Israel and the House of Judah. Psalm 114:2 explains it in this way: "Judah was His (God's) sanctuary, and Israel His dominion." (IT IS INTERESTING TO NOTE, THAT NEITHER OF THESE TWO FAMILIES WERE EVER JEWS.)

There were 69 Israelites, besides Jacob's sons and their wives, who went into Egypt during the Great Famine of Gen. 46:26, 27. In Acts 7:14, during Stephen's magnificant defense before the Jewish Sanhedrin, he mentioned 75 people as going into Egypt. This in no way is a contradiction, since Joseph's wives and sons were included in this number. These Israelites were in Egypt for 430 years (Exodus 12:40, 41). During this period they had an extraordinary growth, to the point where they began to bother the new Pharaoh, which the Bible says did not remember Joseph (see Exodus 1).

During the first fifteen chapters of Exodus, we have the long drawn out account of the struggle with Pharaoh, in which ten judgments were executed on the Egyptians and in which thirteen miracles were performed, which ultimately resulted in the Israelites being released from economic bondage.

Many scholars estimate that Israel numbered at least 3-million when they left Egypt, since Exodus 12:37 says, "there were about six hundred thousand on foot that were men, besides children and a mixed multitude went up also with them . . ." (This mixed multitude was evidently made up of foreign servants and possibly some Egyptians who had been converted to Hebrewism.) Fourteen months later, in Numbers 1:45, 46, we find a census numbered 603,550 fighting men above the age of twenty. (The Levites were not included in this census - Number 1:47).

Such a miracle of growth had never before been recorded - from 70 - to over three million. But we have a similar record in this end of the age, of these same people. In 1800 AD according to the most reliable reports, there were about 16-million Anglo-Saxons in America, in a little over 150 years, they had increased to over 175-million. You will remember, I'm sure, that God had promised Abraham, that his descendents would be fruitful and multiply until they figuratively became like the "sands of the sea," (Gen. 13:16; 15:5; 22:17; 26:4; 28:14). The people we now know as Jews have never had a population explosion such as this and have never numbered more than 18-million, world wide. Today, they are barely holding their own in their birthrate. For the most part, the Jews of today are a motley crowd, made up of "black Jews," "Asiatic Jews," and very few of these are Semites.

According to sources such as the Jewish Encyclopedia and Jewish writers such as Arthur Koestler, in his book THE THIRTEENTH TRIBE, and Jewish author Alfred Lilienthal, in his monumental THE ZIONIST CONNECTION, over 90% of world Jcwry are of Khazar extraction. (Turco-Mongolian in blood), which means that their forefathers never set foot on Palestinian soil. Every major leader of the Israelis since 1948, has been of the Khazar extraction, known as ASHKENAZI Jews. It is to this mongrel crowd, that our pastors pay homage, when they call them "God's Chosen."

The 13th miracle performed in Egypt was the crossing of the Red Sea. It is interesting to note that the surface of the sea floor in this area has a crust over it. To break through this crust means to become "mired down" in the quicksand underneath. Some liberal Bible scholars argue that this crossing was not a miracle, and that the Israelites crossed in shallow water, in an area known as the Sea of Reeds, where the wind has been known to blow the water to one side. But the interesting question is, if the water was only ankle deep, as these skeptics maintain, how did Pharaoh and his horses and riders, drown in ankle deep water?

The Bible account says that the Egyptians were plagued by the Lord who "took off their chariot wheel, that they drave heavily," (Exodus 14:25). It is evident from this account, that the sea bottom held up the weight of people and their animals, but collapsed under the superior weight of animals, men and chariots. Then in verse 27, we see where God allowed the waters, which were piled up as a wall on either side of the Israelites, to come back and drown the Egyptians. Recently I had a man write to me, who tried to explain that God froze the waters of the Red Sea so that Pharaoh thought it was dry land. This I am inclined to seriously doubt. I like the Bible story better, because it makes more sense.

A number of years ago, I had an interesting debate with a Baptist theologian from the Southern Baptist Theological Seminary in New Orleans, Louisiana. He claimed that this miracle was nothing but "another Hebrew fairy tale." He said that the Israelites had merely crossed at a shallow place in the sea. I asked him whether he had ever been to that area and he admitted he had not. Well, I have been from the north to the south of the Red Sea at least six times, and I never saw a place where the water was less than 40 feet deep in the main channel. I then asked this Bible skeptic if he had ever been to visit the Museum of Egyptology in Cairo, which he admitted he had not. There is an interesting room there, which contains the remains of Egypt's pharaohs. There is only one missing and the plaque beside his name is dated 1491 BC and the plaque says in essence: "presumed lost in the battle of the Red Sea." So God's Word is vindicated, in spite of every effort of men to destroy it.

The twelve sons of Jacob/Israel, formed the nucleus of the 12 tribes. The two sons of Joseph, Ephraim and Manasseb, became the fathers of the Tribes of Ephraim and Manasseh, inheriting Joseph's portion. They were literally adopted by Jacob/Israel (see Gen. 48:16). These two tribes became known as the House of Joseph. (There was no Joseph tribe as such.) So in reality, Israel ended with 13 tribes.

After the Exodus, God commanded that the Levites were not to be numbered with the other tribes, so the number was brought back to twelve. (The Levites were to be special servants of Israel, providing the priests, teachers and civil services of the nation.)

Chapter VIII. THE TRAINING OF ISRAEL

From the time of the exodus from Egypt, to their entrance into Caanan, Israel was put through a "testing period." The Lord was preparing them to become seasoned instruments in His hand, for the blessing of all nations. These testings were evidently for the purpose of strengthening them in patience, forbearance, and the knowledge that God was interested in their well-being and would provide for them, subject to certain conditions which they would have to meet. I will not go into detail concerning these trials, but merely note the major ones:

1 - THE WATERS OF MARAH (Exodus 15:23-26). Where the bitter waters were made sweet.

2- THE MANNA AND THE QUAILS. (Exodus 16), where God provided temporary meat and manna for Israel for 40 years.

3 - THE SABBATH TEST. (Exodus 16:23-31). Where the Israelites learned that they MUST take God's word literally.

4 - THE ROCK AT HOREB. (Exodus 17:1-7). Where God provided water for the Israelite multitude. There is no evidence that this rock was a cliff, or a lone rock standing in the desert. I believe, very possibly, although I have no evidence, that this rock was the "Stone of Israel," the pillow which Jacob had anointed at Bethel and which we know Israel carried with them on this wilderness journey. The Hebrew word for rock, "tsur," as used here, does not indicate a rocky formation on the side bf a mountain, as most pictures depict, but rather an individual stone.

This is the same stone which now resides in Westminster Abbey, in London, England and is keptunder the Coronation chair.

Author E. Raymond Capt., in his extremely interesting study of Bible History of Israel, titled JACOB'S PILLAR, p.6, says: "The veneration of sacred pillars was common in ancient Israel, but nowhere in Scripture has an inanimate object been given such glorious eminence or divinely declared purpose, as that which was bestowed on that 'pillow stone' upon which Jacob rested his head. Jacob was so spiritually impressed that, to memorialize the occasion and the place, he blessed the stone on which his head had rested, sanctified it by anointing it with oil and gave it the name 'Bethel', (God's House). Although he gave the name Bethel to the place, or locality where the stone was set up, he emphatically declared: 'The STONE which I have set up as a pillar, IS GOD'S HOUSE.' " (Emphasis mine.)

He went on to explain how 22 years later, when Jacob returned to Bethel, he had a vision in which the Lord told him: "I am the God of Bethel," (Gen. 31:13). In this way, God associated Himself not only with the place, but with the stone. It was here that Jacob's name was changed to Israel, a "prince with God," (see Gen. 35:11, 12).

While we have no Scriptural account of Jacob taking this stone with him, reason would have us believe he would not leave such a valuable and sacred monument behind. When Jacob was on his death bed, years later in Egypt, he stopped in the middle of his prophecy, (Gen. 49:24), to say: "from whence is the shepherd, the STONE of Israel?" It is probable that Jacob's descendants took this
sacred stone with them on their wilderness travels, as it had means of carrying, with iron hooks, through which carrying poles could be placed.

If you will notice carefully in Exodus 17:6, when God gave instructions to Moses for bringing water from the rock, He did not say: "strike that rock," which would have indicated a particular rock, but He said: "strike THE rock," which indicates a rock with which Moses was already familiar. Once again in Numbers 20:8, we have an instance where God told Moses: "... speak ye unto THE ROCK" (Emphasis added.)

There are several instances where the people were commanded to "gather before the rock," (Numbers 20:10). Again in Deut. 8:15, we find reference to "THE ROCK", which indicates a specific rock. The Biblical account indicates that the same "rock" was struck by Moses at both Rephidim and Kodesh, yet these geographical areas are miles apart.

Jacob's Stone, was I believe, a type of Christ and the "living water" which would flow from Him unto everlasting life (John 4:14). We find Jacob anointing the Rock with oil, which in the Scriptures is symbolic of the Holy Spirit. There is no reference made anywhere in Scriptures to any other stone ever being so anointed.

Listen to the Apostle Paul as he speaks of "the Rock," in 1 Cor. 10:4 - speaking about Israel he said: "they did all drink the same spiritual drink (Ps. 78:15, 16); for they drank of that spiritual Rock that followed them: and that Rock was Christ." (The Greek word for "follow" is "akoloutheo" which means: "to accompany.")

Jacob called the Stone, "the Shepherd of Israel," (Gen. 49:24). Later this Shepherd became manifested in the flesh and John 10:27 says: "My sheep hear my voice, and I know them, and they follow me."

As Israel's Shepherd Rock was literally smitten to bring forth the water of life, so the Spiritual Rock, Christ Jesus, was "smitten on Calvary, "that His people might have eternal life. He became the "water of life," (John 4:10). Can you see the important symbolism in this stone of Jacob?

Israel had to have some means of providing 3-million people and their flocks with water in the desert, for in Numbers 20:17, we find where Moses asked permission of the Edomites to pass through their land and said: "... neither will we drink of the water of the wells," the land they crossed was miles long and must have taken days to cross, so they would have needed much water for both people and flocks.

There is a tradition which states that when Solomon's Temple was built, the builders rejected this stone, because it had a crack in it. This is alluded to in both Psalm 118:22, which says: "The stone which the builders rejected is become the head stone of the corner," and Acts 4:11, where Peter alluded to it and spiritualizes it to mean Christ.

We do not know for sure, but could this stone have spoken to the people? Stranger things have happened. In Numbers 22:21-35, God caused Balaam's ass to speak. At Kodesh God told Moses: "... speak unto the rock before their eyes ... " could the rock hear? If it could, then why couldn't it also speak? When Jesus road into Jerusalem on that colt, on the first Palm Sunday, He said in Luke 19:40: "I tell you, if these (people) should hold their peace, the very stones would immediately cry out."

Do you think maybe I'm a bit crazy by now? But as I mentioned before, the kings of Israel were crowned by a "pillar," which could have easily have been "Jacob's rock," (2 Chronicles 23:13).

Archeologist E. Raymond Capt. remarks that the Bible says little about this rock, possibly so that people would not make an object of worship out of it, as the crucifix has become to some. But it makes sense to me to believe that this stone went with Israel as there is some indication that it was taken to the British Isles by the Prophet Jeremiah, after the destruction of Jerusalem.

In Micah 2:12, 13, there is reference made to Israelites passing "through the gate." This gate today is a pass through the Causasus Mountains. In ancient writings, it was called the "Pass of Israel." At this time Hosea wrote (3:4): "The children of Israel shall abide many days without a king, and without a sacrifice, and without an image." One marginal reference says: "without a standing pillar, or rock." This brings us to the conclusion that Israel did not have the "rock of Jacob," but that it remained with the remnant of Judah, until the overthrow of King Zedekiah. Irish history says that it was brought to Ireland by Jeremiah.

If you believe God's promises, and I presume that most of you do, then we must search for a king from David's house, since this was the promise made in Genesis 49:10 and later in 1 Kings 9:5. Under Hebrew law, a daughter could inherit as though she were a son, (see Numbers 27:8-11), provided she marry within her own house (Numbers 36.)

Jeremiah and the king's daughters found refuge with a Greek mercenary garrison, which according to secular records was stationed at Tahpanhes in Egypt and is recorded in Jeremiah 43:5-7. It is interesting to note that this ancient fortress, at the modern city of Defreh, is still known in Egypt as the "Palace of the Jew's Daughters."

When Jeremiah prophesied in Jeremiah 44:26, 27, concerning the Israelites who fled to Egypt to escape the Babylonians, he stated that only a small remnant would escape the destruction which would come to Egypt.

We could go on in this interesting study if space were available, but since we will explore it in more detail later on, I will leave "Jacob's Stone, Jeremiah and the king's daughters" in Egypt for now.

5 - THE WAR WITH AMALEK - (Exodus 17:8-16).

It was here that Israel made their first attempt at an organized defense and learned the power of their God through prayer. Here God declared "perpetual warfare against Amalek," which is important for us to note, since Amalek was a branch of Esau-Edom, which is today in modern Jewry. According to God's promise, they were to be finally annihilated. (see Luke 19:27 and Malachi 1:2-4 for comparison.)

6 - The Mosaic Covenant Which Formed God's Kingdom.

The Israelites remained in the vicinity of Mt. Sinai for a little over a year (see Exodus 19:1 and Numbers 10:10, 11) and it was here that God formed them into the nation of Israel, with Himself as their Sovereign. The Mosaic Covenant begins in Exodus 19:3 and is known as a CONDITIONAL COVENANT. Notice especially verse 5, which says: "IF YE OBEY MY VOICE . . . then all the blessings the human heart desires would be poured out on them. But these were conditioned on their obedience

to God's Law. It was here, also, that the TEN COMMANDMENTS were given, engraved on tablets of stone by the finger of God Himself, (Deut. 5:22). The ordinances which followed, were to be the ECONOMIC SYSTEM under which Israel and God's Kingdom would operate on this earth. The people accepted this unanimously: "And ALL the peoples answered together, and said, ALL that the lord hath spoken, we will do"

The TEN COMMANDMENTS made up the Divine Constitution of Israel. The Statutes and Judgments were based on the Commandments and were to govern the social life of the nation and apply to both individual and nation.

The Ordinances were the religious laws. Many of these had to do with "blood sacrifices, for the remission of sin," (see the need for this in Hebrews 9:22). These Ordinances were fulfilled when Jesus Christ became the "once and for all time," sacrifice for the sins of His people Israel. Ephesians 2:15 explains it in this manner: "Having abolished in his flesh the enmity, even the law of COMMANDMENTS contained in the ORDINANCES; for to make in himself of twain (two) one new man, so making peace." (Emphasis mine.) Then in Colossians 2:14 we read: "blotting out the handwriting of ORDINANCES that were against us, which was contrary to us, and took it out of the way, nailing it to His cross." Did this mean that Christ did away with the Law? Absolutely not. It means He did away with the ORDINANCES of the blood sacrifice. When Paul talked about "nailing them to the Cross," he was speaking in words his readers understood. For in those days, when a man was committed to prison for a crime, his crime, along with his sentence was nailed on the door of his prison cell. When he completed his sentence, the judge wrote across the face of this parchment, called a "libellus," PAID IN FULL, and the man could never be charged for that particular crime again. This is what Jesus Christ did for those who accept Him, He has written across the record of our sin, in His precious blood PAID IN FULL, and according to the promise of God Himself, they will be remembered against us no more. HALLELU'YAH!

When God, the Righteous Judge, looks at weak, sometimes sinful Jack Mohr, He does not see my sins, but the blood of His Son, Jesus Christ, which covers them, just as the Israelites were saved from the visit of the death angel in Egypt (Exodus 11,12, which was a type of Christ's death. In verse 23 God told the Israelites: ". . . when he (the death angel) seeth the blood upon the lintel (top of the door), and on the two side posts, the Lord will pass over the door, and will not suffer the destroyer to come in unto your homes to smite you." I would imagine, there might have been a few Israelites who thought: "Just another stupid regulation," and when they left the blood off their door, the death angel visited them too.

Here is something most important to remember and something which is overlooked by a vast majority of Christendom in these days of spiritual apostasy. The fulfilling of the Blood Sacrifice, in no way effected the necessity of obedience to the Social Laws given to the nation . . . the Law of God still stands, in spite of what puny men called pastors may say, when they preach that Christ did away with the Law on Calvary. Christian-Israel-America and the other Israel nations, are suffering today the penalties declared in Deut. 28, for those who refuse to obey God's Law.

Israel was to set up a Theocratic State. This term comes from two Greek words "Theos," meaning "God," and "kratos," meaning "power." God was to be the Supreme Power in this State. America was set up as such a State. She was never set up with the idea of "plurality" in mind. In our Pledge of Allegiance we say: "One nation, under God!" America was set up from the beginning to be a Christian

nation, obeying God's laws. She was not set up to give religious freedom to the Jews, or Moslems, or Buddhists. The founding documents of each of our original 13 Colonies, prove this and the U.S. Supreme Court has declared it to be so!

Supreme Court Justice David J. Brewer, who served from 1890-1910, wrote a lengthy opinion establishing the legal logic that America was indeed a Christian nation. Among many other points mentioned, he said: "This Republic (notice now, a "Republic" not a "Democracy" as we are told today) is classified among the Christian nations of the world. It was formally declared by the Supreme Court of the United States in a unanimous opinion, February 29, 1982 in the case of Holy Trinity Church vs the U.S., 143, U.S. 471.

"... we constantly speak of this Republic as a Christian nation - in fact, as the leading Christian nation. This popular use of the term has significance. It is not a mere creation of the imagination ... It's use has had from the early settlements on our shores and still has an official foundation. It is only about three centuries since the beginning of civilized life within the limits of the United States and those beginnings were in a marked and marvelous degree identified with Christianity.

"... the Constitution of 1776 required every officeholder to make the following declaration: 'I _______ do profess faith in God, the Father, and in Jesus Christ, His only Son, and in the Holy Ghost, One God, blessed forevermore! and I do acknowledge the Holy Scriptures of the Old and New Testaments to be given by Divine Inspiration. (There were no Jewish or atheist politicians running this country then. No wonder God blessed us in the early days - AUTHOR).

"The New Hampshire Constitution of 1784 and 1792, required that senators and representatives should be Protestant by religion and this provision remained in effect until 1877.

"The Constitution of North Carolina of 1776, provided that in order to be an office holder, a man MUST be a Christian who believed in the fundamentals of the faith (not necessarily a "fundamentalist.") We could go on and on, through Maryland, Mississippi, Arkansas, and many others.

"Sunday was recognized universally as a day of worship. This was even noted in Congress, where the term 'Sunday excepted' is found in the United States Government and 36 states. (Remember, this was what America stood for, seventy years ago, before the alien anti-Christs of Judaism got their feet in the door -AUTHOR.)

"The term God, referring to a Supreme Being is used in constitution, statute and instrument. We find in the preamble the word, 'grateful to Almighty God!' It is again declared in official oaths: 'So help me, God!' While separation of Church and State is often affirmed, nowhere do we find a repudiation of Christianity . .

Justice Brewer then goes on to point out how our laws and customs are based on the Law of Moses, (the Hebrew, not a Jew - AUTHOR), and the teachings of Jesus Christ; and how the Bible is appealed to as the guide of life in questions of morality. He concludes: "I have said enough to show that Christianity came to this country with the first colonists; has been powerfully identified with its rapid development, colonial and national, and today, exists as a mighty factor in the life of the Republic." (UNQ.) It was shortly before this, that a great French Political Philosopher, Alexis de Tocqueville, came to America to search for the reason why America had had such a phenomenal rise to greatness. On the conclusion of his visit, he wrote to an American friend, words to this effect. "America is great because she is good; and when she ceases to be good, she will cease to be great." We could honestly paraphrase this by saying: "America was great as long as she followed God's laws and when she ceases to obey God's law, she will cease to be great." Those of you who read these words, and who can look back on the past fifty years of America's decline, can see the truth in this statement.

How far has the mighty fallen since those days in the eighteenth century? Why? Because we have forgotten who we were and why we were here and in so doing, we have allowed "heathen, anti-Christ" ideologies to have "free reign" in America, under the Humanist idea of "pluralism." Under the guise of "tolerance," we are committing national suicide.

Chapter IX. THE PALESTINIAN COVENANT AND SEVEN TIMES OF ISRAEL'S PUNISHMENT

The Palestinian Covenant was made with Israel just before they entered the Promised Land. It was strictly CONDITIONAL COVENANT, where Israel's victory depended on their obedience to the "if" and "but" clauses of the agreement. To understand it, you will need to carefully study Deut. 30:1-10; Leviticus 26 and Deuteronomy 28:29, 30. This Covenant lays down the conditions under which Israel was to remain in control of the land they were to occupy. If the people would obey God, and follow His law, they would be blessed with permanent peace, good health, happiness, social security and prosperity beyond their fondest dreams. They would be free from all insecurity; from war; from sickness; from crime; from poverty and from alien control. The very things which are destroying the Israel nations of Christendom in the Twentieth Century.But, if Israel disobeyed God, and refused to follow His law, then there was to be "subjugation to the enemy, slavery, humiliation and death." From being the "head nation," they would become the "tail," vs. 44. They would be defeated in war by nations much smaller than themselves (vs. 25). Aliens would "eat up" the fruits of their labor (vs. 33) and finally they would "serve thine enemies which the Lord shall send against thee, in hunger, and in thrist, and in nakedness, and in want of all things . . . " Is this what must happen to America before the "seed of Abraham" is willing to wake up and do things God's way? Must our nation be invaded by heathen hordes from Asia or Africa; must our wives and daughters be raped in our streets and our young men and little boys be murdered? Is this what it will take to wake America up to their responsibilities before God? We are much closer to this condition now, than either our "brainwashed" Christian people, or their Judeo-Christian pastors are willing to admit. Already many of the curses of Deuteronomy 28 can be seen, as they take effect in America, yet there is very little effort made to put the Formula for our Survival into effect, 2 Chronicles 7:14, which calls for humbling ourselves, praying, repentance and turning from our wicked, self-willed ways. There is very little repentance seen in America, even among Identity Christians, including her pastors.

Mankind has "free will" today, just as they had in 1451 BC At that time, God told Ancient Israel: "I call heaven and earth to record this day against you, that I have set before you life and death, blessing and cursing; therefore choose life, that both thou and thy seed may live; that thou mayest love the Lord thy God, and that thou mayest obey His voice. . ." The same plea is being made to Twentieth Century Christendom in the "closing out days" of this Twentieth Century. "Choose life or death, Oh America; choose blessings or cursings." The choice is yours! When Ancient Israel disobeyed her God, she became divorced from Him: "And when I (God) saw, when for all the causes whereby backsliding Israel committed adultery, I had put her away, and given her a bill of divorcement; yet her treacherous sister Judah feared n6t, but went and played the harlot also," (Jeremiah 3:8).

For their sin, Israel lost their land. They lost the name of Israel and were to in time, be called by another name (Christian) . . . God, speaking to the rebels in Judah said: (Isaiah 64:15): "Ye shall leave your name for a curse to my chosen (Israel); for the LORD GOD SHALL SLAY THEE (see Luke 19:27) and shall call His servants (Israel) by another name (Christian.)"

The name of Jewry has become a curse to everyone who has been associated with and tried to befriend them. The Apostle Paul spoke of them as those who had killed their own prophets, and persecuted the Christian church and "please not God, but are contrary to all men," (1 Thess. 2:15.)

Israel was to be called after Isaac, rather than Israel (Gen. 21:12; Rom. 9:7.) Could this be why "true Israelites" are known as "ISAAC-sons" or "SAXONS" Today?

Dan Olinger, of Bob Jones University, in his article in FAITH FOR THE FAMILY, which I mentioned previously, scoffs at this idea. He says: "they (Identity) claim that the terms Saxon and 'British' are Biblical; the former an abbreviation of 'Isaac's-sons.' but the word Saxon actually comes from the Germanic 'sahsam' meaning 'sword.' The Saxons were a sword wielding tribe." (UNQ.) Seems like a wea~ argument to me, since there were many "sword wielding" tribes in northern Europe.

Israel in her dispersion was to undergo punishment, correction and training through a definite period, but not forever.

Leviticus 26 and Deut. 28:28-30, tells about the "punishment clauses" of this Covenant. We can see them in operation in the nations of Christendom today.

Then, GLORIOUS DAY, there will come a day of National conversion, of restoratiQn and national prosperity, when our Lord returns to take over control of this world as King of Kings and Lord of Lords. Some say that America is doomed; that she is the Mystery Babylon of the Bible and that God will destroy her, because she has led the world into idolatry. I do not believe this is true. I still believe that God's promise in 2 Chronicles 7:14 is for our Israel people today, if we will listen to and act on it. This day of our King's return is spoken of in Luke 21:28, where Jesus, speaking to His disciples regarding the things which would happen before His return, says that when we see the wars, famines, earthquakes, pestilences, etc., that overtake the earth; when we see men's hearts failing them for fear of what is happening, then we are told: "When these things begin to come to pass, look up, and lift up your heads; for your redemption draweth nigh!" HALLELU"YAH!

Today we see this fear prevalent in our "brainwashed" Israel people. Suicides and heart failures are two of the greatest killers in America today, both of them often brought on through fear. It is the number one killer among college students and the psychologists and psychiatrists, who are supposed to tell us what's wrong, are killing themselves off through suicide, four times faster than the rest of us "nuts." Why? Because they are afraid too and do not have the answer. But we do! We know that redemption is "just over the horizon," so we trust God and look for His return.

God told His Israel people in Leviticus 26:18, that He would punish them seven times for their sins. The explanation for this period of punishment can be found by a careful study in the books of Daniel and Revelation. We find that the "time, and times, and the dividing of times," mentioned in Daniel 7:25; 12:7; Rev. 12:14; 11:2; 13:5; 11:3 and 12:6 is 42 months of thirty days, or a total of 1260 days. Twice that is 2520 days.

In Numbers 14:34 and Ezekiel 4:6, in connection with the punishment of Israel and the House of Judah, God states: "I will appoint thee each day as a year." Therefore 2520 days, becomes 2520 years in God's calendar of the ages. If you try and work out the "seven times" of punishment period on a "day to day" basis, you will be doomed to disappointment.

The "times of the Gentiles," referred to by Jesus in Luke 21:24, is of the same duration and represents the same thing today, this should have been translated "times of the nations," for this is what the Greek word, translated "gentiles," really means. During the period of Israel's punishment and training, God gave the Charter of World Dominion into the hands of the Babylonians and a

succession of heathen nations headed by Nebuchadnezzar's Babylonian Empire, followed by Medo-Persia, Greece, Rome and finally the smaller kingdoms represented by the toes of Daniel's image in Daniel 2. At the end of this 2520 year period, these empires would collapse and Israel, not the Jews, will be restored to world power and position.about.

"The Lord hath poured out upon you (Israel) the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets (preachers) and your rulers (politicians), the seers hath He covered . Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honor me, but have removed their heart far from me... Therefore, behold, I will do a marvelous work and a wonder among them: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent (those who take part in the political process) will be hid." - Isaiah 29:10, 13

Chapter X. THE DIVINE MARRIAGE!

Much has been said in evangelical and fundamental pulpits about the "church being Christ's body," (see Ephesians 1:22, 23; Rom. 12:5; 1 Cor. 10:17; 12:12.) It is impossible for a part of the body of the groom to be his bride. Over and over in Scripture, God points out the fact that He is the Husband of Israel. In Jeremiah 3:14, He pleads with his wayward wife: "Turn, O backsliding children, saith the Lord, FOR I AM MARRIED TO YOU." (Emphasis mine.)

In the New Covenant of Jesus Christ, (Jeremiah 31:31,) we find that which is repeated in Hebrews 8:8. It is a statement of marital relationship between God and Israel: ". . . I was a husband unto them (Israel), saith the Lord."

In Isaiah 54:5, God says to Israel (not the Jews): "For THY MAKER IS THINE HUSBAND; the Lord of Hosts is His name; and the Redeemer the Holy One of Israel: the God of the whole earth is He called," (Emphasis mine.)

These statements which identify God Almighty as the Husband and Israel as the wife, were not addressed to the "church," neither were they ever addressed to the people we now call Jews, but to the Israel people.

To clear up any misunderstandings people might have over who these people were, God identifies their location through the prophets. The descriptions of this location, cannot by any stretch of the most vivid imagination be Palestine. God declares that the "home of His wife - Israel," would be in the Isles of the sea, to the North and West of Palestine. "Behold these (God's people, whom He has identified as His wife) shall come from afar; and, lo, these from the north and from the west . . ." Vs. 8 says they will be a people who: ". . . established the earth, to cause to inherit the desolate heritages." Palestine was not desolate when these words were written, it had not been desolate for thousands of years and would not be desolate in the future. It was a heavily inhabited area. But the British Isles had no known inhabitants when the first Israelites landed there 1500 years BC and America, an extension of this promise, was completely desolate with the exception of a few thousand nomadic Indians who roamed her vast areas.

In Jeremiah 3:12, a second witness is given: "Go proclaim these words towards the north, and say, Return, O backsliding Israel . . . " Vs. 23:8 speaks about the Lord who ". . . brought up and led the seed of the house of Israel out of the North country."

There is no way you can understand these references, unless you keep in mind Israel's message from Chapter 40, which was addressed completely to the Israelite people in the Isles of the Sea. A good example can be found in the opening words of Isa. 41, which say: "keep silence before me, 0 islands; and let the people (Israel) renew their strength." Israel was to rest herself in the islands for many years, before they made the trek to America, Australia, New Zealand and South Africa.

Isaiah 49 begins in a similar manner: "Listen, O Isles, unto me; and hearken ye people from afar." Then in vs. 3 we have a definite identification of who these words were addressed to: "Thou art my servant, O Israel, in whom I will be glorified." (Note how this is in the future tense.) In Isa. 43:10, the Israel people of the Isles were declared to be God's witnesses: "Ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, and my servant, whom I have chosen." Ask yourself. Who has produced the Bibles and the Christian literature which has been sent around the world?" Who have provided the missionaries? Certainly NOT THE JEWS!

Who has set the slaves free? CERTAINLY NOT THE JEWS, they were the backbone of the slave trade which brought Africans to America. But white, Anglo-Saxons set their slaves free, first in Great Britain in 1834, then a few years later in the United States. The nations of Christendom, and these alone, bear the identifying marks which prove that they are Israel. The Jews have none of them! Why? Because they are the imposters spoken of by our Lord in Rev. 2:9; 3:9, "those who say they are Jews (Judeans), and are not; but are of the synagogue of Satan."

After God declared that Israel was His wife, He declared His great love for her.

Referring to only one chapter in the entire Bible, we read in Isaiah 43:1 "... thou art mine...'Vs.4-".. .1 have loved thee ..." Vs. 7 - "... I have created them (Israel) for my glory ..." Vs. 10 - "... ye are my witnesses, saith the Lord, and my servant whom I have chosen." Vs. 12 - "... ye are my witnesses." Vs. 15 - "I am the Lord, your Holy One, the Creator of Israel, your King." Vs. 19 - "I will even make a way in the wilderness ..." Vs. 21 - "This people I have formed for myself; they shall show forth my praise.

Who are the people of the world who worship Christ as Creator? Not the black or yellow races. They are won to Christ only through great effort, at a great expenditure of money and often at considerable danger. Certainly not the Jews. Only the white nations of Christendom, have consistently accepted Christ as Lord.

Vs. 25 - "I (God) am He that blotteth out thy (Israel's) transgressions for my sake . . ." There are many, many more references of God's love to Israel. No other nations, or other people are so named in the Bible.

The marriage ceremony was solemnized at Mt. Sinai, where the people with one accord said: "I do!" to God's words. Ex. 19:8 says: "ALL (unanimous) the people answered together and said, ALL that the Lord hath spoken, we will do."

The full Marriage Contract can be found in Leviticus 26 and Deuteronomy 28-30. You will not find the words MARRIAGE CONTRACT, of course, but that is what the Palestinian Covenant actually was.

In ordinary marriage ceremonies, the bride groom bestows his name on the bride and in this most wonderful of all marriages, that is what God does to Israel. He gave us His name. He called us ISRAEL, which means "a prince with God," or "ruling with God," or in modern terminology "in partnership with God."

When the bride groom bestows his name on the bride, he expects her to honor his name and never bring discredit against it. This is what God expected of His Israel bride. He warned her of the severe penalties which would come if she were unfaithful. In the 3rd Commandment, the Husband warned against "Taking His name in vain." How careless, we of Israel have become on this Commandment.

While we do not find the word "divorce" in the Marriage Contract, it can be found in Jeremiah 3:8 (this entire chapter deals with the legal position of a divorced wife.) "And I saw, when for all causes

whereby backsliding Israel committed adultery: I (GOD) PUT HER AWAY, AND GIVEN HER A BILL OF DIVORCEMENT . . . " (Emphasis mine.)

In Isaiah 50:1, a statement of God, addressed to Israel in the Isles of the Sea, asks: "Where is the bill of your mother's divorcement, whom I have put away?" Hosea 1:9 - ". . . for ye (Israel) are not my people, and I will not be your God." Hosea 2:2 -for she (Israel) is not my wife, neither am I her husband."

Then in Ezekiel 23, we have a graphic description of the adulteries of both Israel and Judah. But it was the Northern ten tribed Israel, which was divorced; nothing is said anywhere in Scripture about God divorcing Judah and there is a good reason given. Read the 18th and 19th chapters of Jeremiah. Chapter 18 likens Israel to a "lump of clay" in the hands of the Potter. He can reform her and remold her, until she becomes eventually, a vessel which pleases Rim. But in chapter 19, the Southern Kingdom is likened to a bottle which cannot be repaired and which will be utterly destroyed - broken into so many pieces it cannot be put together again. Vs. 11 tells the prophet to break the bottle in the sight of the Judah people and declare: "... Even so will I break this people and this city (Jerusalem), as one breaketh a potters vessel, THAT CANNOT BE MADE WHOLE AGAIN"." (Then read Malachi 1:2-4).

In Ezekiel 37, we learn that broken Judah, not those we today know as Jews, will merge with the House of Israel and will become one people again.

Then a wonderful revelation, restoration is promised for backsliding Israel. In Hosea 2:14, 19, 20, 23 - speaking now of Israel, we are told: "behold, I will allure her, and bring her into the wilderness." That word "allure" in Hebrew is "pathah", which means: "to open; make room for." In other words, God was saying: "I will make room for Israel in the wilderness." Another meaning of this word is to "entice," or "persuade." So God persuaded~His people Israel to come to the wilderness area of North America. Our founding fathers understood this. The sermons of the early colonial preachers indicates this. They were full of allusions to our Israel background. This is why they could write the hymn we still sing in some of our churches:

"Ye chosen seed of Israel race,

Ye ransomed from the fall;

Hail Him who saved you by His grace,

And crown Him, Lord of ALL."

You see, these men knew who they were! This is why they could face the terrors of the unknown wilderness, because they KNEW that God had brought them here to the Promised Land.

The book of Hosea, next to John 3:16, contains the most wonderful love story of all time. It is the story of God's wonderful love for his adulterous wife, Israel. How He divorces and chastens her for sin, yet in great love ultimately purifies and saves her. Listen as Hosea speaks in 2:19, 20, 23 - "And I (God) will betroth (marry) thee, (Israel) unto me forever; yea, I will betroth thee unto me in righteousness, and in judgment, and in loving kindness, and in mercies. I will even betroth thee unto me in faithfulness, and thou shalt know the Lord. I will have mercy upon her (Israel) that hath not

obtained mercy; and I will say to them which were not my people (cast off Israel, not the Jews), THOU ART MY PEOPLE AND THEY SHALL SAY, THOU ART MY GOD." (Emphasis added.)

Compare this with Hosea 1:9, 10 "... for ye (Israel) are not my people, and I will not be your God; yet the number of the children of Israel shall be as the sand of the sea which cannot be measured or numbered; and it shall come to pass that in the place where it was said unto them, Ye are not my people, there it shall be said unto them; ye are the children of the Living God." Only one people in history have ever lost their national identity and then become known by another name and that is the people of Christendom. Only one people in the world's history have built their laws on the basis of God's Ten Commandments, even though they did not know they were Israel and those are the white people of Christendom. No colored nation has ever been called Christian. Look into every area where white missionary activity has been successful and we see the same sad story. The Christian missionary is forced to leave, possibly by a political upheaval. He is gone for a few years and invariably returns to find most of the converted natives, have reverted to heathen practices. Not one colored nation has ever been filled with the desire to set men free; they still have slaves in Africa and Asia. Not one colored nation desires to send aid when others are caught in a great catastrophe, only the nations of Christendom do this. Why? Because it is an identifying mark of their Israel heritage. It is a mark which sets them aside from every other people on the face of the earth, not as superior, but as "set aside for a special purpose.

This is why the nations of Christendom have always been in the forefront of the desire to be free themselves and free others from the chains of tyranny. They know the truth of their Master's statement when He said: "If the Son therefore shall set you free, ye shall be free indeed." (John 8:36.)

Again in the wonderful 54th chapter of Isaiah, we read: "For the Lord shall call thee (Israel) as a woman forsaken and grieved in spirit, and a wife of youth... for a small moment have I (God) forsaken thee; but with great mercies I will gather thee." No my Israelite friend. America is not going to be completely destroyed, no matter what the religious charlatans say to the contrary. She will no doubt be greatly humbled, but those of us who remain faithful and who are still alive, are going to see some great things happen in the very near future, which will be comparable with what our God did for our forefathers in Egypt. He WILL NOT FORSAKE HIS OWN!

The New Testament ratifies and confirms the teaching of the Old Covenant regarding this restoration. Read carefully the Parable of the Ten Virgins in Matthew 25, where Jesus represents the bridegroom, coming to marry His bride - not the church -but true Israel. Read the story of the King's son in Matthew 22, as He comes to marry Israel.

The Israel nation, cleansed and purified, washed white as snow by the blood of her Savior and Messiah, is the bride of Christ the King, while as we have said before THE CHURCH IS HIS BODY. (Ephesians 1:22, 23.)

For a period of about 400 years, Israel acknowledged God as King. Then in the days of Samuel, due to the corrupting influence of the Judges who "turned aside after lucre (money), and took bribes, and prevented judgment," (1 Sam. 8:3), the people demanded a king so they could be like the nations surrounding them.

They forgot who they were and who was their rightful leader. They did the same things which the nations of Christendom are doing in the 20th Century. Their Theocracy was repudiated by the people and Saul was crowned king, even though Samuel warned the people of what would happen. In 1 Sam. 8, we read how Samuel warned them how the king would take their sons into his army to fight his wars. How he would use their daughters; how he would confiscate the best of their fields and vineyards and would tax them to maintain his high standard of living, but in verse 19 we read: "Nevertheless the people (Israel) refused to obey the voice of Samuel, and they said: 'Nay; but we will have a king over us.' " Isn't this what we have done in the 20th Century? The founders of our country gave us a glorious Republic. It is said that as our leaders left their legislative chambers after ratifying the Constitution, a woman asked aging Benjamin Franklin what kind of a country they had given us. He was reported to have replied: "A Republic, madam, if you can keep it!" We haven't done a very good job of keeping this a Republic and today we find ourselves entangled in a Socialist Democracy, one short step removed from a totalitarian dictatorship, where the things Samuel warned against will happen to us. We have already seen our sons confiscated by a Godless government to die in two no-win wars; we have seen the government rob our farmers of their land; we have seen how they are drowning us in taxes and a sea of red ink, yet the good people of this country, for the most part - the White Israelite people - have remained silent, as this country of ours has been taken over by anti-God aliens.

But just as in the time of our forefathers, when the people rejected His leadership, God did not abdicate. He is still King today, no matter what the rulers of the world may say, or how badly His subjects act. In Ps. 2:2-4 we read: "The kings of the earth set themselves, and the rulers take counsel together against the Lord, and against His Anointed, saying: Let us break their bands asunder, and cast away their cords from us. He that sitteth in the heavens (God Almighty) shall laugh: the Lord shall have them in derision." ("Derision," Heb. "la'ag", meaning: "to deride; mock, scorn.") So in spite of Israel's sin against their God, He appointed as His Governor General, the man who was to be king and declared a Covenant with this man which was to extend through each generation that followed, in perpetuity (forever.) (See 1 Chron. 29:22.) All the king's of David's line, since that day, regardless of their conduct - and there have been some bad ones - have been God's Chief Governor over Israel. All of Britain's monarch have ruled "By the grace of God," as is acknowledged on all their coins and official documents.

This covenant made by God with David, as outlined in 2 Sam. 7:4-17, was absolutely UNCONDITIONAL. It said: "Thine (David's) house and thy kingdom shall be established forever before thee; thy throne shall be established forever."

The succession of this line of Davidic rulers was guaranteed by God. It does not change or alter the Abrahamic Covenant, but merely enlarges it and it will remain, in spite of all the scoffing of the pastors and Bible scholars who said that David's line ended with Zedekiah in Babylonian captivity.

The extension of this marvelous promise, which effects you and I today, can be found in 2 Samuel 7:10 and 1 Chron. 17:9. It says in 2 Samuel: "I (God) will appoint a place for my people Israel, and will plant them, that they may dwell in a place of their own . . . " 1 Chronicles 17 says "I will ordain a place." Notice these promises are all in the future, in a different place, than Jerusalem, where David was residing when the promise was made. These two words "ordain" and "appoint" come from the

Hebrew word "siyn," which means: "to put." It could not possibly have referred to Palestine. We will consider where this "appointed place" is, later in this book.

Many of the kings who followed David were not faithful to God and both king and people were severely punished. It is interesting to note here, that the people usually get the kind of a government they deserve. (Just as today, we cannot blame the people who are in Washington, for the vast bulk of the AMERICAN PEOPLE ARE TO BLAME FOR THOSE WE PUT IN OFFICE AND ALLOW TO REMAIN THERE.) One king who sinned against God, was David's grandson Rehoboam and as a result, the ten northern tribes, called Israel, were taken from him (see 1 Kings 11:11-13; 12:16.) The last of the Davidic line who ruled in Jerusalem was Zedekiah, 2 Kings 25:1-7.

Since that time, the only legitimate king from David's line, who has been crowned in Jerusalem, was given a crown of thorns. Some say, that ended David's line, until Christ comes back to rule and reign as King of Kings and Lord of Lords. But we MUST remember that God's covenant with David was an "immutable" (unchangeable) covenant. So just because the Bible says nothing about a king from David's line from 590 BC to the present, many Bible scholars tried to "spiritualize" this promise. But the phrase "Throne of David," is not a spiritual phrase, it is a literal phrase which MUST be taken in a literal sense in order to be absolutely honest about it.

While theologians may attempt to "spiritualize" this promise for their own purposes, and twist and turn it to fit their teachings to say something God never intended it to say, it still remains amazingly simple: "David shall not want a man to sit on his throne forever!" Period! End of argument!

It is often amazing to me, to see the hazy ideas some Christians have when it comes to honoring God. The unfortunate thing is, the "sheep in the pews," often accept the twisted teachings of the shepherd in the pulpits, when with a very little effort on their part, they could learn the truth for themselves. If you were to say to most Christians: "God has broken His promise to David!" they would be terribly shocked, yet most of them do not understand, or try to understand what God's promises really are!

It is because of this apathy on the part of most church goers, that theologians have said in essence: "God did not really mean what He said!" This is true almost 100~~ of the time, when we find them trying to "spiritualize" something which was to have been taken "literally." These church leaders have some hazy sort of an idea that the Throne of David was somehow or other transported to heaven when our Lord ascended there in Acts 1:9, and that He has been reigning in heaven ever since. These same characters ("pretenders; quacks; frauds, charlatans") tell us that Israel lost all her promises for future blessings, because they disobeyed God and that these blessings, somehow or other, have been passed on to the church. Of course you can find nothing in the original Covenant to substantiate this kind of thinking. It's something they have added from their vast intelligence.

But if what they say is true, then we find that it contradicts what God actually said. For God's promise to David, states in clear and lucid detail, the fact that God would establish an earthly throne with David's family, over a nation of people called Israel (not Jews). Now none of these church leaders would be stupid enough to say that David ruled over a spiritual kingdom. They would be laughed to scorn by their colleagues. So if God's promise is to be believed, then somewhere, on earth today, we must be able to find a descendent of David, ruling over an established kingdom.

He goes on to say: "A leading Irish historian (whom he fails to identify) has stated: 'This legend of Jeremiah is not asserted by a single scholar in Irish history anywhere.'

"The only support for these legends is in the unreliable CHRONICLES OF IRELAND, which mention an old eastern prophet, but do not supply enough information to identify him as Jeremiah of the Bible. What Identity falls to see is that God did not unconditionally promise David an uninterrupted throne; (compare Olinger's statement with Jeremiah 33:17 - "For thus saith the Lord, David shall NEVER WANT a man to sit upon the throne of the House of Israel." Now who are you going to believe? - AUTHOR.

Olinger continues~his diatribe: "God threatened interruption if the king disobeyed (1 Kings 9:6, 7). (It is interesting to note that these verses have nothing to do 'with the establishment of the throne, but of what will happen to the people of the kingdom if they disobey - AUTHOR.) In Hosea 3:4, we read: 'For the children of Israel shall abide many days without a king, and without a prince . .

Now either we have a contradiction of Scriptures between Hosea 3:4 and Jeremiah 33:17, or we have a misunderstanding of them. Since we know that the Scriptures cannot contradict each other, then it must be the latter. But Olinger then brings in his closing argument, which is meant to clinch things in his favor. He quoted from Acts 15:16 which says: "After this will I return, and build again the tabernacle of David, which is fallen down; and I will build again the ruins thereof, and will set it up." What does the word "tabernacle" mean as used here? Strong's Concordance, #4633, says that it comes from the Greek word "skene," which means "tent, or cloth hut." By no stretch of the most vivid fundamental imagination can the word "tabernacle" be construed to mean "throne." Yet this is the means by which Godly, scholarly men, attempt to twist the Word of God, to fit their own interpretations.

To make sure that you understand God's UNCONDITIONAL PROMISES to David, let me list the references as given

If this is not true, then the words of the Bible have no meaning and we would have to declare God to be a liar! This is dangerous thinking, since it borders on, if it is not, blasphemy.

If we cannot believe the promises God made to David in the Old Testament, then we have no basis for believing the promises which were to come through Jesus Christ in the New, and we are of all men most miserable in our religious beliefs.

We Identity people, at least for the most part, believe that God "said what He meant and meant what He said." It's as clear as all that!

As you read 2 Samuel 7:18-29, it immediately becomes evident that David believed God too, as we listen as he pours out his heart in praise and adoration to his God: "Wherefore thou art great, O Lord God: for there is none like thee, neither is there any God beside Thee . . . and what one nation in the earth is like thy people, even like Israel, whom God went to redeem (see Matthew 15:24) for a people unto Himself, and to make Him a name . . . For thou hast CONFIRMED (Hebrew - "kuun" meaning: "to set up; prepare; fashion; ordain.") to thyself thy people Israel to BE A PEOPLE (not a church, but a nation) UNTO THEE FOREVER: AS THOU LORD, ART BECOME THEIR GOD." (Emphasis added.)

Those who scoff at this idea may say: "Where is that throne now?' In the article from Bob Jones University, which we discussed earlier, Mr. Olinger, said: "British-Israelism maintains that since God promised David a throne that he should rule forever, his line must have continued elsewhere after the fall of Jerusalem. Hence the LEGEND about Jeremiah." (Here he is slightingly referring to Irish historical records, which show that Jeremiah and his scribe Baruch, with the daughters of King Zedekiah, came to Ireland from Egypt and married into early Irish royalty.) Olinger evidently refuses to believe these records, although he is willing to accept Egyptian and Assyrian records which are thousands of years older. It is quite obvious why? because the Egyptian and Assyrian records confirm that what he wants to believe, while the Irish records do not!

He goes on to say: "A leading Irish historian (whom he fails to identify) has stated: 'This legend of Jeremiah is not asserted by a single scholar in Irish history anywhere.'

"The only support for these legends is in the unreliable CHRONICLES OF IRELAND, which mention an old eastern prophet, but do not supply enough information to identify him as Jeremiah of the Bible. What Identity falls to see is that God did not unconditionally promise David an uninterrupted throne; (compare Olinger's statement with Jeremiah 33:17 - "For thus saith the Lord, David shall NEVER WANT a man to sit upon the throne of the House of Israel." Now who are you going to believe? - AUTHOR.

Olinger continues his diatribe: "God threatened interruption if the king disobeyed (1 Kings 9:6, 7). (It is interesting to note that these verses have nothing to do 'with the establishment of the throne, but of what will happen to the people of the kingdom if they disobey - AUTHOR.) In Hosea 3:4, we read: 'For the children of Israel shall abide many days without a king, and without a prince . . ."

Now either we have a contradiction of Scriptures between Hosea 3:4 and Jeremiah 33:17, or we have a misunderstanding of them. Since we know that the Scriptures cannot contradict each other, then it must be the latter. But Olinger then brings in his closing argument, which is meant to clinch things in his favor. He quoted from Acts 15:16 which says: "After this will I return, and build again the tabernacle of David, which is fallen down; and I will build again the ruins thereof, and will set it up." What does the word "tabernacle" mean as used here? Strong's Concordance, #4633, says that it comes from the Greek word "skene," which means "tent, or cloth hut." By no stretch of the most vivid fundamental imagination can the word "tabernacle" be construed to mean "throne." Yet this is the means by which Godly, scholarly men, attempt to twist the Word of God, to fit their own interpretations.

To make sure that you understand God's UNCONDITIONAL PROMISES to David, let me list the references as given by Mervyn Judge, in Chapter Thirteen in his book MAN THINKING! These are only "key" verses and the entire chapter should be read in every instance:

"I will set up thy seed after thee . . ." 2 Samuel 7:12.

"An everlasting covenant . . . " 2 Samuel 23:5.

"Establish the throne of thy kingdom forever . . . " 1 Kings 9:5; 1 Chron. 17:12-14.

"There shall not a man fail thee to sit on the throne . . ." Jer. 33:17.

"Everlasting Covenant . . . " Isaiah 55:3.

"David, a prince forever . . ." Ezekiel 37:25.

"I have sworn unto David . . ." Psalm 89:3.

"Build thy throne for all generations . . . " Psalm 89:4.

"My Covenant shall stand fast with him . . ." Psalm 89:28.

"His throne as the days of heaven . . ." Psalm 89:29.

"My Covenant will I not break . . . " Psalm 89:34.

"I have sworn, I will not lie to David . . . " Psalm 89:35.

"His seed forever . . ." Psalm 89:36.

"Throne established forever . . . " Psalm 89:36.

"According as I have covenanted with David . . . " 2 Chron. 7:18.

"Then may my covenant with David be broken . . . " Jer. 33:20-26.

"Throne of the kingdom of the Lord . . ." 1 Chron. 28:5.

"Solomon sat on the throne of the Lord..." 1 Chron. 29:23.

"Solomon anointed as Chief Governor . . ." I Chron. 29:22.

"Upon the throne of David . . . " Isaiah 9:7.

"Throne of the House of David . . . " Jeremiah 33:17.

"Throne of his Father David . . . " Luke 1:32, 33.

"David's House and Kingdom are Mine. . ." 1 Chron. 17:14.

"Lord hath sworn unto David . ." Psalm 132:11.

"Scepter shall not depart from Judah . . . " Gen. 49:10.

Folks, all these Scriptures are clear and understandable and are "unimpeachable" witnesses for the defense, that David's throne, family, and kingdom will endure as long as the sun, moon and stars last. If this throne and kingdom cannot be found on earth today, then these words have no meaning. Yet men like Olinger say: "It is impossible that this line should have continued uninterrupted in Britain." (UNQ.) WHO ARE YOU GOING TO BELIEVE?

An honest study of the Scriptures, which will take Scripture as it stands and does not try and change it in any way, will bring you face to face with this truth. "The Israel kingdom is on earth today; it is still God's kingdom; it still has a ruler from David's family line, and IT IS NOT THE JEWS!" If you will carefully and prayerfully read the verses that Mr. Judge has laid out, an honest student can come to only one conclusion, that is that the Israel Kingdom still exists and that a descendent of David has always sat on its throne and that they will remain there, no matter what happens, until Jesus Christ, David's Greater Son, comes back to take charge as King of Kings and Lord of Lords. HALLELU'YAH!

If God's Word is true? AND WE KNOW IT IS! Then what happened to this Israel kingdom and its throne from the time of the last Bible account to the present, must be recorded somewhere. We know that very little is said about it in the New Testament.

There are some hints however. The Apostle James addresses his Epistle to "... the twelve tribes which are scattered abroad." (James 1:1). (He was not speaking about Talmudic Jews.) Peter addresses his Epistle to "the strangers scattered throughout Pon-tus, Galatia, Cappadocia, Asia and Bithynia." (These areas were all to the north and west of Jerusalem and were areas where the bulk of Israel could be found.)

Why do you suppose it was, that the Holy Spirit prevented Paul and Silas from preaching in Asia? (Acts 16:6). Instead they went into Asia Minor to Macedonia.

We know from recorded Bible history that David's house ruled over the twelve tribes of Israel for about 70 years (1 Chron. 29:27; 2 Chron. 9:30; 2 Sam. 5:4, 5.) Then came the revolution against David's grandson Rehoboam, as recorded in 1 Kings 12, where the ten northern tribes broke away from Judah and Benjamin, and set up the Kingdom of Israel in the north. From that time on, Judah and Israel are always listed separately in the Scriptures. They are NEVER called by the same name. Most of the kings who served Israel were "adventurers"; and "military opportunists"; none of them were related to David's family. None of them operated under the Davidic Covenant.

During this period, and for about 400 more years, David's line held the sceptre in the smaller Kingdom of Judah, with its capitol in Jerusalem. Finally, after years of sinning and straying from their God, Judah was taken captive into Babylon (see 2 Kings 25:6, 7; Ezekiel 12:13.)

Here, for all Scriptural references, David's line ended. It became obvious that the King of Babylon believed Zedekiah and his sons were the last of the Royal Davidic House. But if God's word is true, and we know it is, then we must look to secular history for our answer. When the Covenant between God and David said that David would never lack a "man, to sit on his throne," it was used in the "generic" sense, applying to both men and women, or child, depending on how it was being used.

Chapter XI. THE APPOINTED PLACE!

In 2 Sam. 7:10, in the very middle of God's word to David concerning the Great Unconditional Covenant He was making with David, we find an interesting and extremely important verse which most pastors and Bible scholars completely overlook. This 10th verse is made up of five parts:

- 1 "I will appoint a place for my people Israel."
- 2 "I will plant them there."
- 3 "That they (Israel) may dwell in a place of their own."
- 4 "They shall move no more."
- 5 "The children of wickedness (refer to Malachi 1:2-4) shall afflict them no more as beforetime."

When this promise was made with David, all twelve tribes were dwelling in the Land of Palestine. It was the first time in 40 years that David had a period of great peace and unheard of prosperity. Everything was going as the king wanted it to go. Then in midst of this prosperity and peace, God speaks to David through the prophet Nathan in 2 Samuel 7:10. Verse 1 says: ". . . the king (David) sat in his house, and the Lord had given him rest round about from all his enemies." "He had it made," as we say today. But the king's conscience bothered him a bit. When he looked at all the blessings God had given to him, he said: ". . . See how I dwell in a house of cedar, but the ark of God dwelleth without curtains." David wanted to build a special house for God's ark of the covenant.

That night Nathan had a dream in which God spoke to him: "Go tell my servant David . . . Shalt thou build a house for me to dwell in?" He then went on and mentioned how He had never dwelt in a building of any kind since the day He had brought Israel out of Egypt. God said that at no time had He told His people to build Him a house of cedar. Then He gave Nathan a special message for David in which He said: "I took thee (David) from the sheepcote, from following the sheep, to be the ruler over my people, over Israel. I was with thee withersoever thou wentest, and have cut off all thine enemies out of thy sight, and have made thee a great name, like unto the name of the great men that are on the earth." Then God gave David this marvelous future promise for the Israel people in vs. 10 - "Moreover, I WILL APPOINT (future) a place for my people Israel, and will plant them, that they may dwell in a place of their own (not Palestine), and move no more; neither shall the children of wickedness afflict them any more as beforetime." Before we go on, let's see what Malachi has to say about "the children of wickedness," Mal. 1:2-4 - God speaking to Israel: "I have loved you, saith the Lord, Yet ye say, Wherein hast thou loved us? Was not Esau Jacob's brother? saith the Lord, yet I loved Jacob, and I hated Esau, and laid his mountains and his heritage waste . . . Whereas Esau saith, We are impoverished, but we will return and build the desolate places: thus saith the Lord of hosts, They (Esau/Edom/Jewry) shall build, but I will throw down; and they (Israel) shall call them, The borders of wickedness, and, The people against whom the Lord hath indignation forever." Can't you see the connection? It's very plain!

But go back to verse 10 and God's promise to David. Notice that it is in the future tense and in a different place from where David resided at that time. Where is that place? Quite obviously it was not in Old Palestine, because they were there when the promise was given. Does this do away with the original promise God gave in Genesis 13:17 concerning the land in the Middle East? Of course not! This promise made to David was an enlargement on the original promise. If Abraham's seed was to enlarge itself to the point where there were hundreds of millions of them, like the "sand of the sea," which was an illustration of their numbers, they obviously would not have had room for this vast number in the original grant. So the Davidic promise added to the original and gave them vastly more than they had at first. Remember that God told Abraham that his seed should "spread abroad to the west, and to the east, and to the north, and to the south . .

The promise was that this new home would be a permanent one, from which they would never move and where they would be safe from their enemies.

It is also interesting to note that none of the Davidic promises have ever been fulfilled by the people we now call Jews, and we must remember that if there are any "true Jews" in existence today, they are very small in number and cannot be accurately identified as such. These do not in any way represent Israel.

So in looking for the fulfillment of this marvelous promise, we must look at what happened to ancient Israel when she went into captivity in Assyria. The Bible tells us that ALL Israel went into Assyrian captivity, plus a large number from Judah.

The restoration of the captive nation of Israel in the future, was foretold in many places in prophetic Scripture and not one of these has anything to do with some future reunion between Israel and the people we call Jews. (Judah yes, but not Jews.) In no place in Scripture can you find where God ever gave the Jews an Appointed Place to live, or a land of their own where they would be free from oppression. They were to be a wandering people, who would be hated everywhere they went, because of their aggression against God and their fellowmen.

Because of this, the word ISRAEL, as used in Nathan's promise, could have nothing to do with the people we now know as Jews. (As a matter of fact, there were no people called Jews in existence at the time when this prophesy was made. They did not appear on the Bible scene until 300 years later, when in 2 Kings 16:6, we find them fighting against Israel.)

In Isaiah 11:11, 12 and Ezekiel 37, we find a plain reference to a future regathering of all 12 tribes of Israel, from both the House of Judah and the House of Israel. Therefore the first gathering would be in the "appointed place," of 2 Samuel 7:10.

Is it possible for us to learn where this Appointed place is located, from Scriptures? Most Bible scholars say "no", mainly because they do not want to locate it. If they change the location from Palestine, to the New World, then they must admit they are wrong regarding their obsession with the people we now call Jews. This most of them refuse to do! Let's see what the Scriptures have to say. In Hosea we are told that this place will be located in the "wilderness." In chapter one and two of this little prophetic book, we learn that God will "allure" Israel to this place and speak "comfortably" to her. The English word "allure", as used here, comes from the Hebrew word "pathah" which means:

"to entice; persuade." It is used only twice in the entire Bible, once in this passage and again in 2 Peter 2:18, where it is used in a completely different sense and means "to entrap or beguile." The English word "comfortably," as used here, comes from the Hebrew word "leb" which means: "speak to the heart in a friendly manner." This will occur to Israel after she migrates to her new land. It becomes evident (rom Jeremiah 31:1, 2, that the prophet is referring to this place when he says: "The people which were left of the sword found grace in the wilderness."

In Isaiah 42:10-12, we find where the inhabitants of this new land will be singing a new song unto the Lord and verse 10 tells us that these will be"... ye that go down to the seas and ALL that is therein: the ISLES and the INHABITANTS thereof."

In Isaiah 41:1; 11:11;24:14-16;42:10;49:1 we see where these Isles are far from Old Palestine. In 49:12 we are told that these Isles lay to the north and west of Palestine. (There is no Hebrew word for "northwest.") (In relation to this, read Isaiah 59:18; 60:9; Jeremiah 31:10; Rev. 12:6, 14; Numbers 23:9 and Deuteronomy 33:28.)

In Revelation we read where the Appointed Place is a place of security which has been prepared for the safety of the woman, Israel, as she flees into the wilderness and where she will be safe and be nourished.

So it becomes evident, from an honest study of Scripture; that the Appointed Place is North and West of Palestine, at a far distance and that it will be an uninhabited wilderness; that the people who arrive there will sing a new song unto the Lord and that the nation will obviously be Christian. (Of course these exact words were not used in the Old Testament, since there were no people at this time known as Christian."

In the marvelous 41st Chapter of Isaiah, we see where the people will "renew their strength" in the Isles, as they are on their way to the Appointed Place. This is exactly what happened to our Anglo-Saxon and kins people. In the 16th century, during the reign of Queen Elizabeth in England, there were only about 4.5-million Anglo-Saxons on earth. In 400 years they have renewed themselves" to the extent that there are now well over 200-million. The British Isles became a haven of safety for these people. Mighty Rome could not conquer it; Catholic Spain was unable to take it and God spared Britain with a miracle, when Adolf Hitler was unsuccessful in his attempt to cross the English channel during World War II. Have you ever asked yourself what made Hitler change his mind regarding the invasion of England and call it off? I believe it was the working of God, as once more, He protected His Israel people.

I believe we will see an attack against Israel once again, possibly in the very near future by the Gog and Magog of the Communist world, as pictured in Ezekiel 38, 39 and that they will suffer a humiliating and disastrous defeat. (For further information of these exciting and important Scriptures, write for my book A NEW LOOK AT EZEKIEL 38 and 39.)

While the British Isles and North America have been relatively free of war, Palestine has turned into one of the worst battle grounds of the world. More battles have been fought there than on any other spot on earth. When General Allenby, an Israelite general delivered Jerusalem from the Turks in 1917, it was the 23rd time in that city's history that it had changed hands.

In ancient Irish prose, translated from the Celtic by Sir Walter Raleigh, we read these fascinating words:

"Unless the fates are faithless frown, And prophets voice be vain, Where 'er is found this Sacred Stone, The Wanderer's Race shall reign."

This verse is over 2400 years old and of course it refers to the Coronation Stone, which resides under the Coronation chair in Westminster Abbey, London, and on which all the monarchs of Britain have been crowned. It is an oblong block of reddish sandstone, weighing about 350 pounds. It is approximately 26" long, nearly 11" deep, and about 16" wide. It was fitted into the Coronation chair in 1296 AD when it was first brought from Scotland by Edward the First. From that time on, with the exception of the reign of the Catholic monarch, Mary Tudor, every British king and queen has been crowned sitting in this chair.

What is the significance of this piece of sandstone? Dan Olinger in his article in FAITH FOR THE FAMILY, pokes fun at British tradition, when he states: "Prof. A. C. Ramsey of the Geology Department of London University inspected the stone and identified it as a calciferous sandstone probably of Scottish origin. The stone around Bethel, where Jacob got his pillow, is white limestone; the nearest red sandstone is 100 miles away in Petra, Edom. So the heritage of the Coronation Stone, while fascinating, is certainly not of Israelite origin." (He does not identify his authority for this dogmatic statement.)

But E. Raymond Capt., M.A., A.I.A., F.F.A., Scot. A well-known authority and a member of the Archeological Institute of America, says in his book JACOB'S PILLAR, p.57 - (quoting from CERTAIN MONUMENTS TO ANTIQUITY, by Weaver, p.118) - "Dean Stanley, one-time custodian of the stone, in his book MEMORIES OF WESTMINSTER ABBEY, sums up the historical importance of the stone in these words: 'It is the one primeval (of earliest origin) monument which binds together the whole Empire. The iron rings, the battered surface, the crack which has all but rent its solid mass asunder, bear witness of the English Monarchy - an element of poetic patriarchal times, which like Arumah's son (2 Sam. 24:16) rocky threshing floor in the midst of the Temple of Solomon, carries back our thoughts to races and customs now almost extinct; a link, which unites the throne of England with the traditions of Tara and Iona."

I have never seen this stone, but those who have, tell me that it is of a steely-dull, purplish color, with some reddish veins. It is composed of carcareous (resembling calcite or calcium carbonate) sandstone and imbedded in it are a few pebbles; one of quartz, and the other of some dark material. It is formed roughly in the shape of a pillow.

Across its surface appears a crack and some chisel marks are still visible on two sides. (There are some Bible scholars who believe that Jacob slept that night in a rock quarry and that his pillow was made up of one of the rocks that the builders had rejected. (Compare with Luke 20:17.) It appears as though this stone had been prepared for building and then had been rejected, possibly because of the crack in its surface. There are two iron rings of some rust resistant metal, one at each end of the stone. They hang from eyes of similar metal, which have been driven into the stone. The rings indicate that porter poles were once used to carry it. When turned up, the rings protrude above the surface of the stone, allowing two persons to carry it with shoulder poles.

There is a groove across the top which is clearly the result of friction from a single pole, which has worn away the stone and indicates an enormous amount of carrying. The metal rings are also worn thin from much use.

British, Scotch and Irish historical records locate this stone at Tara, Ireland, at least 500 years before Christ. It was transported to Scotland in 498 AD by King Fergus the Great and was finally moved to Westminster Abbey in 1296 AD. The moving of the stone during British times, could not account for the wearing of the stone and rings.

While Olinger claims there is no such rock in the Bethel area, let's listen to a real expert, an eminent professor of Science at Yale University, Professor Totten. After a close examination of the Coronation Stone, he said: "The analysis of this stone shows there are absolutely no quarries in Scone or Iona wherefrom a block so constituted could come, nor from all Ireland."

Prof. Odium, a geologist and professor of Theology at a Ontario, Canada University, also made a microscopic examination of the stone, comparing it with similar stones from Scotland and found them distinctly dissimilar. After a determined search in Palestine, he discovered a stratum of sandstone, near the Red Sea, at a place called strangely enough, "Bethel." Geologically, this was the same material from which the Coronation stone came. A microscopic test was made and it proved, beyond the shadow of scientific doubt, that the Coronation Stone, came from this same material. So much for doubters like Olinger.

But why is all this importance given to a piece of rock?

Irish record, legend and tradition say that this unusual stone arrived in Ireland over 1,000 years before it found its final resting place in London. It was known as LIAFAIL, the STONE WONDERFUL, or THE STONE OF DESTINY. It arrived in Ireland, according to ancient Irish historical records, when an aged Eastern Prophet, accompanied by his secretary, and a Hebrew princess named Tea Tephi, were shipwrecked off the coast of Northern Ireland in 583 B.. Some five years earlier, in 588 BC this same prophet, Jeremiah, with Baruch his secretary and the daughters of King Zedekiah, the last of David's line, had escaped from Jerusalem to Egypt. (see Jeremiah 43:6.)

When the ship bearing Jeremiah and his party was wrecked in 583 B.C. they were rescued by the Irish and welcomed by the Irish king named Eponchaidh the Erman. Who was later crowned on the STONE OF DESTINY. According to Irish historical records, he married Zedekiah's daughter Tea Tephi and the capitol city of Cathair, was renamed TARA, which is the Irish translation of the Hebrew word TORAH, or LAW. In England, this stone is now popularly known as JACOB'S PILLOW.

While we know this stone has been in the British Isles for at least 2500 years, it has not been moved enough to wear the rings in the stone, which show much moving. Rev. Dean Stanley, in his MEMOIRS OF WESTMINSTER ABBEY, says: "The iron rings, the battered surface, the crack which has all but rent its surface, bears witness to its long migration."

Evidently, when Nebuchadnezzar of Babylon, looted the temple in Jerusalem in 558 B.C. he overlooked this rough appearing stone, not realizing its importance. While we have no actual record

of it, yet it was evidently carried to Egypt by Jeremiah (Jer. 1:7-19; 43:6, 7; 44:14-28) and then carried by him to Northern Ireland, when he escaped from Egypt.

The Coronation Stone is the visible, physical symbol of the Throne of the House of David, which God declared would last forever and this is one of the reasons its detractors will do everything possible to make it appear as a fake. It completely neutralized any Jewish claim to the throne. It has been overturned three times as prophesied in Ezekiel 21:27. First when it left Palestine for Ireland; second, when it left Scotland for England and it will be overturned one more time, when Jesus Christ comes back soon, to reign as King of Kings, and Lord of Lords and to claim His rightful place on the earthly throne of David: "... and it shall be no more (overturned), until He come, whose right it is; and I (God) will give it to Him."(Ezekiel 22:27.)

It was evidently this same stone which Joshua set up as a pillar by the sancutary, in Joshua 24:27 -"And Joshua wrote these words in the book of the law of God, and TOOK A GREAT STONE, and set it there under the oak, that was by the sanctuary of the Lord. And Joshua said to all the people, Behold this stone shall be a witness unto us: for it hath heard all the words of the Lord which He spake unto us; it shall be therefore a witness unto you, lest ye deny your God."

On Davenish Island, in Lake Erin, four miles below the town of Enniskellen, Ireland, is an ancient cemetery in which can be found a tomb, made out of solid rock, in which the remains of Jeremiah are buried. He was known in old Ireland as Ollar Falla, which means the Hebrew prophet. He established in Ireland, the Law given to Israel by God, through Moses. THIS IS OUR HERITAGE!about.

Chapter XII. ISRAEL COMES TO THE ISLES

There is much evidence that Israelites first came to the British Isles in very early times. Isaiah 24:15 indicates that God would glorify His people Israel in the Isles of the Sea, listen to these words: "Wherefore glorify ye the Lord in the fires, even the name of the Lord God of Israel IN THE ISLES OF THE SEA." (Emphasis added.)

It seems wonderful to me, that we as a Christian nation, can approach God and know the truth of Romans 8:29, 30 - "For whom He did foreknow, He also did predestinate, to be conformed to the image of His Son, that He might be the firstborn among many brethren. Moreover, whom He did predestinate, them He also called, them He also justified; and whom He justified, them He also glorified."

There is no key which will unlock an understanding of the Scriptures, more than the knowledge that the promises of God are "sure" and that we, the Anglo-Saxon and related people's are God's ancient people of Israel. I cannot understand this, any more than I can understand how God took an old reprobate like Jack Mohr and made him a watchman on the walls of Israel-America. But He did and I thank Him for it every day. By a like token, I cannot understand how the Nations of Christendom can be the Israel of Scriptures, but I believe it, because they bear all the "fingerprints," all the "identifying marks" of Scriptural Israel and because God has promised this.

Once you understand this, you will be filled with a deep humility. It will not be a "holier than thou" attitude, of this I can assure you. It will be a humbling experience, for you will then realize the tremendous responsibility we Israelites have, to fulfill God's will in our lives and in our country, so as to bring blessings to the rest of the world.

It is very probable, that not one Christian out of a thousand has ever heard of the SONNINI MANUSCRIPT. This document professes to be the concluding portion of the Acts of Apostles. It gives an account of Paul's journeys, after his two years enforced residence in Rome. It is written in the same style as Acts, and reads like a continuation of that book. It was found in a copy of "Sonninis Travels in Turkey and Greece," and was purchased at a sale in the library of the Right Honorable Sir John Newport, in Ireland. Along with this, was a document from the Sultan of Turkey, granting C. S. Sonnini permission to travel in all parts of the Ottoman (Turkish) Empire.

The document on the lost chapter of Acts, was presented to Sonnini by the Sultan and was translated from the original Greek. This manuscript was found in the archives of Constantinople and was translated in 1801. Here are a few of the excerpts from it:

Vs. 1 - "and Paul, full of the blessings of Christ, and abounding in the spirit, departed out of Rome, determined to go to Spain, for he had a long time purposed to journey thitherward, and was minded also to go from thence to Britain." (Compare this with Rom. 15:24, 28.)

Vs. 2 - "For he had heard in Phonecia that certain of the children of Israel, about the time of the Assyrian captivity, had escaped by sea to the isles afar off, as spoken by the prophet, and called by the Romans, Britain.

Vs. 3 - "And the Lord commanded the gospel to be preached far hence to the Gentiles, and to the lost sheep of the House of Israel." (See Acts 22:21; 9:15.)

Vs. 4-6 gives a brief account of Paul's preaching in Spain. Then verse 7 says that Paul sailed for Britain and vs. 8 tells how he was greeted courteously by a great multitude when he landed there.

Vs. 9 - "And on the morrow he came and stood upon Mount Lud (Ludgate Hill, the present site of St. Paul's Cathedral) and the people thronged at the gate, and assembled in the broadway, and he preached Christ unto them, and they believed the word and the testimony of Jesus."

Vs. 10-12, Gives Paul's prophecies for the latter days, culminating in Christ's return.

Vs. 13 - "And it came to pass that certain of the Druids (British native religious priests) came into Paul privately, and showed by their rites and ceremonies that they were descendants from the JUDEANS which escaped bondage in the land of Egypt (this would have been about 1491 B.C.) and the apostle believed these things, and he gave them the kiss of peace."

It is interesting to note that Eusebius, Bishop of Caesarea (313-338 A.D.) said: "Some of the apostles passed over to the British Isles,"

Theodoret, Bishop of Cypecus in Syria, states that he believed Paul visited Britain, after spending two years in "house arrest" in Rome.

In the city of Sandwich, Kent, England, is an old house called "the House of the Apostle." Tradition has it that Paul stayed here.

It is also interesting to note that Paul's prediction: "nation's shall come to worship on the mount," came true in the form of the magnificent church which now stands on this site.

It is also interesting to note that in Vs. 10, Paul was supposed to have predicted: "Behold in the last days, the God of peace shall dwell in the cities and the inhabitants thereof shall be numbered; and in the seventh numbering of the people, their eyes shall be opened, and the glory of their inheritance shall shine forth before them . . ."

Some skeptics, such as Olinger, will no doubt say: "This is a fake document someone made up to try and prove their point of view. But let me state that the Sonnini document was translated in 1801 and the seventh numbering of the British people took place in 1861. The first numbering of Britain, "census" was in 1801, with 16,237,300 people recorded. The second was in 1811 with 18,509,116; the third was in 1821, with 21,272,187; the fourth in 1831 with 24,392,485; the fifth in 1841 with 27,958,143 and the sixth in 1861 with 29,571,644. It was during the late 1860's and the early 1870's, that the people's eyes began to be opened and the Anglo-Israel Movement began.

While you may not choose to believe this ancient document, its tone is spiritual and it has a remarkable characteristic of prophetic utterances and its character is purely gospel with no hint of heresy of any kind. Could it be that the reason fundamental and evangelical scholars refuse to accept these ancient British and Irish documents is because they refute their theory concerning the Jews, and thus their entire prophetic dispensational concept?

Chapter XIII. WHO WERE THE DRUIDS?

Many historians in recent years have tried to downgrade Anglo-Saxon history by referring to early Britons as "Naked, painted savages." But the records of Julius Caesar, show them to have been a highly educated, intelligent people, with a strong spiritual belief and an unquenchable love for freedom. There were ancient universities in Britain, that had been there hundreds of years before the Romans invaded the islands.

In many places in Britain, one can find the sites of "pre-Christian" fire altars. They are always on the summit of a hill, reminding us of the Old Testament places of heathen worship. In England, the Druids worshiped the sun and it is not uncommon today, to find English churches built on the summit of a hill. (The name Churchill comes from this association.)

As the Christian faith began to replace the former pagan worship of the Druids, the places of Druid worship were often taken over by Christian churches.

The Bible throws a great deal of light on the worship of "pre-Christian" times. The existence of these "high places" reveals pagan idolatry and tie in the British with the backsliden Israelite tribes who practiced the same kind of worship. (See Numbers 22:41; Deut. 12:2; 1 Kings 14:23; 2 Kings 16:4.)

After the death of Joshua, about 1400 B.C., Israel was already turning to idolatry, even before they entered the Promised Land of Palestine. There were some restoration under David and Solomon and towards the end of Solomon's forty year reign, we read: "For it came to pass when Solomon was old, that his wives turned away his heart after other gods . . . For Solomon went after Ashtoreth the goddess of the Zidonians (this is where we get our Easter celebration) and after Milcom, the abomination of the Ammorites. And Solomon did evil in the sight of the Lord . . . Then did Solomon build a HIGH PLACE to Chemosh, the abomination of Moab, in the HILL which is before Jerusalem.

It was this spiritual decline which led to the corruption of God's people, so that by the time Ahab became king (874-857 BC) a large body of Baal priests were maintained by the king and queen. (See 1 Kings 16:30-33.)

While there was a partial turning to God, after the Prophet Elijah destroyed the priests of Baal as recorded in I Kings 18:40, Israel never completely returned to God and this precipitated their overthrow and captivity by the Assyrians in 722 BC. (2 Kings 17:6-23.)

Some scholars believe that Israel returned to the true worship of God, on their trek through Northern Europe to THE APPOINTED PLACE. I personally doubt this, although there is some evidence of Israelite worship found in the monuments which are scattered along their route of march. Who would have taught them regarding the true religion? Hosea 3:4, 5, prophesied "For the children of Israel shall abide many days without a king, and without a prince, and without a sacrifice, and without an image, and without an ephod, and without a teraphim: afterwards shall the children of Israel return and seek the Lord their God."

In Ezekiel 36:20 we learn further about Israel among the heathen: ". . . wither they went, they profaned my holy name, when they said to them (the heathen), these are the people of the Lord. In

verse 24 we read how God would gather Israel from among the heathen and "I (God)... will bring you into your own land." (THIS WAS NOT TO BE OLD PALESTINE, BUT THE APPOINTED PLACE.)

This was to be fulfilled as Israel, moving north and west, as a nation, would embrace Christianity and become His witnesses throughout the earth. A greater fulfillment of this prophecy is yet to take place, (see Jeremiah 31:31-33.)

As we study more about ancient British Druid worship, we still find ve~tiges of the Old Testament faith. While idolatry was at the heart of their worship, the outward form had been changed to confirm to man's desires. Just as much of modern Christianity has been changed from the Apostolic faith, so man can "do his own thing," so the Israelite worship in the Isles had changed and Druid worship was a religion of compromise with the old faith.

The religious orders found in Druidism were similar to the religious orders of God's Israel people. There was a Chief Druid or "High Priest," who presided over the temple ceremonies. There were "officiating druids" similar to the Levites; there were "Musicians and singers," just as there were in ancient Israel.

The British Druids were influential people who often served in the homes of British nobility.

Both Hebrewism and Druidism had a breastplate for the High Priest, which were almost identical. Each has a similar priesthood. Each priesthood was exempt from taxation and military service. Both taught the Mosaic record of creation, of the fall of man, and of a coming Messiah. In fact, Druid worship was similar to Hebrewism in some of its basic aspects, that it became easy for these Israelite people to see the truth in Christianity and accept it.

Julius Caesar often said that the strength of these unusual people came because they believed in life after death, although this was not what the Hebrew religion taught. Hebrewism taught that man was a "living soul," not that he was "immortal."

The Bible tells us quite plainly that we are not "immortal," but that we can put on immortality through Jesus Christ (see 1 Tim. 6:16.) Christianity offers us the hope of RESURRECTION and ETERNAL LIFE in Christ's coming kingdom, HERE ON THIS EARTH, not in some nebulous far-off place the seminarians call heaven. (See Job 19:25-27; John 11:25.)

Chapter XIV. WHAT ARE THE LATTER DAYS?

The promises to Israel were to be fulfilled in the "latter days," (Gen. 49:1; Dent. 4:30; Jeremiah 23:20; Hosea 3:5; Ezekiel 38:8.)

Moses speaks regarding Israel (not the Jews) in Dent. 4:30 - "When thou art in tribulation (extreme trouble) IN THE LATTER DAYS."

In Hosea 3:5, we learn that "Afterward (a long period of not knowing who they were, see vs. 4) shall the children of Israel return, and seek the Lord their God, and David their king (Christ); and shall fear the Lord and His goodness IN THE LATTER DAYS."

Daniel 10:1 tells us this period of darkness will be long - in fact it lasted 2520 years. Then in verse 4, "Now I am come to make the understanding of what shall happen to thy people IN THE LATTER DAYS."

From Genesis to Daniel - from the very beginning of the Israel nation in Gen. 12:2, 3 until a long time after they were carried away captive, the prophets speak of what will happen during that age and during the age which you and I now live in.

I have often said that we are living in the most exciting age of human history. More of the ancient prophecies have been fulfilled during my lifetime than at any other time in history. I believe we are entering the time when we will see the Lord return to take His rightful place as King of Kings and Lord of Lords, and I pray I may live to see that wonderful day. MARANATHA!

A study of the Bible reveals that TIME, as we understand it, is divided into two main parts. Former TIME, which refers to the ages from Creation to the first Advent of our Lord. (Religious tradition sets this at about 4,000 years. I refuse to be dogmatic about this, since I do not believe we have any actual proof to substantiate it.) The LATTER DAYS, are those from the death of our Lord, to His triumphant return. A few minutes of honest Bible study with a good reference will confirm this.

We Identity people have been accused of believing that Christ will set up His Kingdom after the "millennium" - how utterly ridiculous! We are now living in the Days of the Gospel Dispensation and this will end when Christ, as King of Kings, and Lord of Lords, sets up His earthly Kingdom. (Read 1 Tim. 4:1-3; 2 Tim. 3:1-8; Heb. 1:1, 2; 1 Peter 1:4, 5; 2 Peter 3:1-9; 1 John 2:18,19; Jude 18.)

Let's take time to examine only one of these references as found in 2 Timothy 3:1-5 - "This know also, that in THE LAST DAYS, perilous times shall come. For men shall be lovers of their own selves, covetous, boasters, proud, blasphemers, disobedient to parents, unthankful, unholy, without natural affection, truce breakers, false accusers, incontinent, fierce, despisers of those that are good, traitors, heady, high-minded, lovers of pleasure more than lovers of God; having a form of Godliness, but denying the power thereof . . ." Brother, Sister, if you can't see these things taking place before your very eyes today, it is because they are deliberately shut.

I believe we are about as far from the birth of Christ, on this side of the dividing line, as Abraham was on the other. Our Lord was born in 4 B.C. and about 1921 years before that, God called Abram out of

Ur of the Chaldees, to become the father of a great nation and a company of great nations. He was called for a special purpose.

1921 years after the birth of Christ, the Israel General Allenby, marched into Jerusalem with Israel (not Jew) troops and liberated the city from the heathen "treading down" of Luke 21:24.

I have already mentioned how the nation of Israel was to suffer for 2520 years as punishment for her sins. After that she will be restored. So because of this, we can expect to see the rebirth of Israel and the moving of the Jews into Palestine, and the forming of the Israeli nation in 1948, was not the rebirth of Israel as our pastors have told us. This is the "Pseudo-Israel" spoken of in Rev. 2:9 and 3:9, which will be destroyed.

One of the bitterest opponents of Identity, states in a recent book: "The strong appeal of Israel-Identity lies in their militant nationalism and patriotism. But are they really patriotic? We will seek to show how the unregenerated man can never please God. We will seek to show that the patriotism of Israel-Identity is sin.

"The Word of God declares: 'Righteousness exalteth a nation; but sin is a reproach to any people!' this constitutes a good Biblical definition of true patriotism. A true love of one's country will prompt one to promote natural righteousness. It will stir one to reform it of its national sins. It will labor to bring the nation in-to the favor of God. It will not be concerned with worldly power position and prosperity of the nation, its status in the sight of other nations, but will concern itself with the nation's status in the sight of a holy, just and righteous God." (I can say AMEN TO THIS. I believe it and preach it, as do most of the Identity pastors I know - AUTHOR.)

He continues: "It will recognize that without the Lord's blessings all these are but an act of vanity and futility and that none of these can defend the nation from the chastening hand of an angry God.

"True patriotism will lead a nation to national repentance . . . It will call for mourning and fasting and a humbling of the nation before God. It will not rail against God's chosen instrument .

"The Identity people are like the Israelites of old (we should be, since we are their offspring -AUTHOR), in the years before their captivity . . . Our national enemies are reviled and scorned. They are traduced (deformed) on the basis of their race. They are railed against as the wicked enemies of the people of God, as the instruments of Satan, as the epitome of all evil. Then we hear the siren song, that America is the Chosen Nation, that the Anglo-Saxons are the Elect People. We hear that God will be with us and we will ultimately prevail with a great victory. It is taken for granted by these people (Identity) that God will overthrow our enemies for their wickedness and prosper us for our righteousness. To them, it is unthinkable that the 'seed of Cain' should triumph over the 'White Adamic Race.'

"To seek to save America by a message of racial identity, to proclaim that if America would only acknowledge her racial identity and covenant status, she shall be saved, is to heal a deep hurt very slightly. It is to preach the false peace of old. It is to lure a nation to certain destruction. They will never confess that communism is a scourge of the Almighty, to punish a wicked and apostate civilization." (UNQ.)

This tirade is interesting, since it comes from a man who is well-known in the "evangelical" camp. This is the same group which has violated God's law by promoting "race mixing," in the name of Christian brotherhood. This is the same group who along with the fundamentalists; has promoted the most vicious enemy of Christ, Christianity, and freedom, making them out to be the CHOSEN PEOPLE OF GOD. This man is one of those who "helps the ungodly, and loves them that hate the Lord," (see 2 Chronicles 19:2).

For years, fundamentalism and evangelicalism has preached the message "get men and women saved and they will change the nation." And in past decades, we have seen millions garnered into the church, as they sign commitment cards, stating that they have accepted Jesus as Savior and Lord. We have seen the establishment of churches by the thousands; we have seen billions of dollars spent to reach men, women, boys, and girls for Jesus Christ. Yet during this same period, with an estimated 45-million "born again" Christians in America, we have seen the greatest spiritual, moral and economic debacle in American history, as our beloved country has gone to hell at an amazing rate. Can they blame this on Identity teaching?

Identity theology, contrary to what this writer says, teaches the necessity of not only personal, but national salvation. (You may not realize it, but over 2/3rds of the Bible deals with national salvation.) Most fundamentalists and evangelicals have followed the first step in Christ's Great Commission of Matthew 28:19, 20 and have led men and women to Jesus Christ, many times superficially, I'm sorry to say, by their "milquetoast preaching" of a soft Gospel. But they have almost completely forgot the admonition to "Teach them whatsoever I (Christ) have commanded you," and therein lies our national trouble.

Those of you who have read my writing, or heard my messages on tape, know that one of the major points I stress, is that America, as God's Chosen People MUST repent, before the Formula for our Survival, found in 2 Chronicles 7:14 can take effect. Over and over I have emphasized that our problems are not caused by the Jews, or the aliens in our midst, but are caused by disobedient Israelites who want to "do their own thing," rather than follow God's law.

Let me use but one quotation from my message titled FORMULA FOR SURVIVAL.

"Why is God's law so important to us in this age of grace? It is because it effects each one of us and through us the nation. In 1 John 5:2, we are told: 'By this we know that we love the children of God, when we love God and KEEP HIS COMMANDMENTS. For this is the love of God, that we WALK IN HIS COMMANDMENTS . . . ' " (Emphasis mine.)

Does this sound to you as though the Law has been abolished? Of course not! In John 15:15, Christ says: "If ye love me, keep my commandments (law)." Does this refer to the animal sacrifices of the Old Testament? Of course not! This is what was taken care of on Calvary, once and for all. But the law still exists and we are further told in I John 3:4, that "Whosoever committeth sin, transgresseth also the LAW, for SIN IS THE TRANSGRESSION OF THE LAW." (Emphasis added.) This means that in order to do away with the law, there can be no sin.

Yet Scripture tells us that if we say we have no sin, then the truth is not in us. In other words, we are liars!

Why is it so important for America to keep God's Law? As Christians, we are told in 1 John 3:22, that our prayers will be answered according to our obedience: "Whatsoever we ask of Him, we receive of Him, BECAUSE WE KEEP HIS COMMANDMENTS (Law), those things which are pleasing in His sight."

God's Law was written for our protection against the wicked and for our happiness. According to this law, the punishment for murder is death; the punishment for kidnaping is death; the punishment for homosexual practices is death; the penalty for rape is death. Our Judges have no right to determine a penalty which has already been declared by Almighty God. Our courts were not brought into being to make the law, but to determine the guilt or innocence of those brought before them.

In this same pamphlet FORMULA FOR SURVIVAL, I go on to discuss some of America' major problems, crime, national defense, national debt, all caused by disobedience to God's Law. Notice this statement:

"By now, you may want to ask. Who is to blame? Is it the communists? The Jews? The liberals? The alien people? NO! While all these have a part in the destruction process, they are not the problem. The problem in the final analysis is that America has gone down the drain, because the Christian people of this country, the WHITE ISRAELITE PEOPLE, have refused to do what God requires of them."

Does this sound as though I preach the way my critic said?

As America has broken her covenant with God, we have seen our Armed Forces humiliated on the battlefields of Korea and Viet Nam, by countries smaller than most of our states. We have had our noses rubbed in the dirt by banana republics like Iran and Panama. Why? Because we broke God's Law and this is what He predicted would happen. In Leviticus 26:19, God says: "I will break the pride of your power . . . " In Deuteronomy 28:24, we are told the result of disobedience: "The Lord shall make the rain of thy land powder and dust; from heaven shall it come down on thee, until thou art destroyed." Vs. 25 - "The Lord shall cause thee to be smitten before thine enemies . . . " Vs. 33 - "The fruit of thy land, and all thy labors, shall a nation which thou knowest not eat up . . ." Vs. 43 - "The stranger that is within thee shall get up above thee very high; and thou shalt come down very low." Vs. 44 "... he shall be the head, and thou shalt be the tail." Why? Vs. 47 - "Because thou servest not the Lord Thy God with joyfulness, and with gladness of heart, for the abundance of all things." It goes on to talk about unknown diseases which will plague us and famine. We are very close to this right now, with the AIDS epidemic and the food shortages which loom on the horizon, as our farmers suffer from lack of rain. How long will it be before we wake up and call on the Lord? How long will it be before we confess our sins to Him, ask His forgiveness, and ask Him to heal the land? We can pray until we are "blue in the face," but the Bible indicates that God will not even listen to us, until we get into the right spiritual relationship with Him. In Isaiah 59:1, we are told that the Lord's hand is not "shortened" that He cannot save. Nor is His ear heavy that He cannot hear." But the problem occurs in Vs. 2, which says: "But your iniquities (Hebrew "avown" meaning: "perversity") have separated between you and your God, and your sins have hid His face from you that He will not hear." So before you pray for God to save America, remember, you MUST get your heart in the right relationship with Him, for Him to even hear your petition. When enough Christian people in America wake up to our responsibilities as His people; when we realize who we are, and what God expects of us, then we will see a mighty effort on the part of our people to get right with God. When this happens, the revival will come which will save America and bring our wayward people back to Him.

Then, and only then, can God's marvelous machinery go into operation to bless us. So, my white Christian kinsmen, your fate is in your hands! What will you do about it?

We have the solution for America's problem. We know the Formula for our Survival. Will we be bold enough to follow it? In 2 Chronicles 7:14 we find a promise which was made to our ancestors, which I believe is just as relevant for us today. Many of you know it by heart. "If my people WHICH ARE CALLED BY MY NAME (Christian), shall humble themselves and pray, and seek my face, and turn from their wicked ways: THEN will I hear from heaven, and WILL FORGIVE THEIR SINS, and WILL HEAL THEIR LAND!" (Emphasis added.)

This is my answer to those who say: "Identity has tried to bypass Calvary."

The Bible tells us that this is what will happen in these LATTER DAYS. One of the great events which will take place is recorded in Ezekiel 38:16 - "And they (Russia) shall come up against my people Israel, as a cloud to cover the land; it shall be in the LATTER DAYS . . ." This event, is apparently part of the battle of the Great Day of God, as found in Zechariah 14; the book of Joel; Ezekiel 38 and 39, and Revelation 16. For an in-depth study of Ezekiel 38 and 39, write for my book A NEW LOOK AT EZEKIEL 38 and 39. This battle will be terminated by the return of our Lord.

A[~]t this time, He will destroy the enemy of His people. THERE WILL BE NO RAPTURE OF THE CHURCH, instead the "wicked" will be removed, and the "righteous" will remain behind to help govern the earth. (See Matthew 13:37-43, 47-49.)

Baptist evangelist, Jack Van Impe, in his fantasy, ISRAEL'S FINAL HOLOCAUST, p.130 says: "Students of Bible prophecy have long expected a Russian invasion of the Mid-East. He then quotes from a book by Dr. Harry Ironside: "In the last day, the final head of the Russian people will look with covetous eyes upon the great developments in the land of Palestine. They will determine that Russia must have her part of the wealth produced there."

But that's not what the Bible says. In Ezekiel 38:8, it says that the country attacked, will be "gathered out of many people, against the mountains of Israel, which have always been waste." There is little doubt in my mind, that during this war, the nation of the Israeli will be attacked and destroyed. But the major Russian attack will not be against the Israeli. That is not where their nuclear weapons are pointed. In spite of what Dr. Ironsides said about the wealth of Israel, they do not have enough to keep going without tremendous handouts each year from the United States. Their own leaders have openly admitted that without U.S. aid, the Israelis would collapse within six months. The natural wealth of the Israelis does not qualify in vs. 12, which states that Russia will attack this country "to take a prey, to turn their hands upon the desolate places which are now inhabited, and upon a people that are gathered out of all nations, which have gotten cattle, and goods . . ." That's not a picture of the Israeli. According to their own figures, they have less cattle in all of Israel, than we have in many counties in the United States.

Vs. 16 says they "will come up against my people Israel . . . You don't "come up" to go from Russia to Palestine, you "go down." But "go up" to get from Moscow into the heartlands of the U.S. and the logical invasion route, as any military tactician will tell you, is over the North Pole. Anyone with the intelligence of an average fifth grader should be able to tell you that Russia has not spent hundreds of billions of dollars, building up a military machine second to none in the world, just for the purpose

of attacking "little old Israeli" in Palestine. The target, as they have told us over and over, for more than seventy years, will be the nations of Christendom, especially Canada and the United States.

Van Impe continues his fundamentalist "fairy tale" by saying: "The Russians know they will be marching to the Middle East to take a spoil . . . Sheba and Dedan, represent a few Arab nations who will not attack Israeli. The Merchants of Tarshish are the Western powers who at this time will be under the control of the anti-Christ (they have been for over fifty years - AUTHOR.) This war between Russia and Israel (he persists in calling the Jews, Israel - AUTHOR), must take place when the Jews are dwelling safely in their land."

But if this is true, then this event will not take place in the near future, since the Jews are not dwelling safely in Palestine. And the attack against the people in Ezekiel 38 and 39, is against a people who are dwelling without bars and gates on their towns, and this is not true of Palestine.

Chapter XV. THE NEW COVENANT

Many Christians have been taught that in this Church Age, we have become completely divorced from the Old Testament. They do not realize that the New Covenant in Jesus Christ can be found complete in the Old Testament, yet there it is in Jeremiah 31:31-37. It clearly states: "... I (God) will make a new covenant with the House of Israel and the House of Judah. .. it will be different from the one I made with your fathers in Egypt, they broke that one, even though I was a husband to them - but in those days (THE LATTER DAYS we have been speaking about), I will put my law in their inward parts, and write it in their hearts, and I will be their God, and they shall be my people ... and they shall ALL know me... for I will forgive them and remember their sin no more." (PARAPHRASED.)

God then goes on to show that His covenant is eternal, as He says in Vs. 36 - "If those ordinances depart from before me . . . then the seed of Israel shall also cease from being a nation before me forever." He was speaking of the sun, moon and stars and said in essence: "As long as the sun, moon and stars exist, so long will there be a nation of Israel."

The writer of the book of Hebrews in the New Testament, confirms this in 8:7-13. In verse 7 he has been discussing the Old Covenant and mentions that the Levitical priesthood was but the forerunner of the perfect priesthood of Jesus Christ, which was to come under the New Covenant. Verse 9 is an almost exact quote from Jeremiah 31:32, while verse 10, parallels Verses 33, 34 in Jeremiah 31.

This covenant is ABSOLUTELY UNCONDITIONAL. God does not say: "If you obey me, then I will bless you," as He did in the Mosaic and Palestinian Covenants, He says in this New Covenant: "I WILL and they SHALL." We read here what God is gomg to do, regardless of what men or devils try to do to get around it. There will be no circumventing this plan of God. In common language: "You can't get around it; you can't get over it; you can't get under it. IT IS SURE!" Praise God, He has a plan for His people which cannot be changed.

Read very carefully the following references both in text and context. ("Text" meaning the principle part; "context" meaning the parts which surround it.")

- 1 New Covenant with the House of Israel Jeremiah 31:31-37; Hebrews 8:8-13.
- 2 An EVERLASTING COVENANT with Israel Isaiah 61:8; Jeremiah 32:37-40.
- 3 ISRAEL shall be my people, I shall be their God -Jeremiah 32:38.
- 4 They shall not depart from me Jeremiah 32:40.
- 5 They shall join themselves to me Jeremiah 50:4, 5.
- 6 The BLOOD of the NEW COVENANT Matthew 26:28; Mark 14:24.
- 7 CUP OF THE NEW TESTAMENT Luke 22:20.
- 8 This is the COVENANT I will make with them Hebrews 10:16, 17.

10 - I will put a new spirit within them Ezekiel 11:19.

11 - I will give them a new heart and a new spirit Ezekiel 18:31.

12 - I will give them a heart of flesh Ezekiel 36:26.

13 - I will sprinkle clean water on them Ezekiel 36:25.

14 - I will cleanse them Ezekiel 36:25.

15 - I will cause them to walk in my statutes Ezekiel 36:27.

16 - They shall be my people Jeremiah 30:22; 31:1; Romans 9:25, 26; Ezekiel 11:20; Jeremiah 24:7; Hosea 1:10; 2:23.

17 - It will not be for your sake, but for my Holy Name's sake Ezekiel 36:22, 23.

18 - I the Lord have spoken it and I WILL DO IT Ezekiel 36:36.

19 - I will yet for this be inquired of by the House of Israel to do it for them ("Enquire" - Hebrew "da rasch" meaning: "to question; seek after; to ask.") Ezekiel 36:37.

We of Israel Identity believe and preach with few exceptions, that the ceremonial laws and the laws of sacrifice were blotted out, having been nailed to Christ's cross and that man is no longer judged by the keeping of those laws. But the other laws, regarding personal conduct, health, and well-being of the nation are still in effect and have not been changed under the New Covenant.

De Borer claims that we attempt to "bypass" Calvary. While some of our Identity people have returned to the Old Testament feasts ordained by Moses, I do not know of one who says that personal salvation is not necessary. We have clearly seen this change of heart, in such passages as Hebrews 8:10 which says: "I will put my LAWS into their mind, and will write them in their hearts."

This New Covenant has absolutely no effect on either the Abrahamic or Davidic Covenants. It does not change or alter them in any way. It is an enlargement on these earlier covenants. The New Covenant rests on the blessed base of Christ's blood sacrifice for our sins, which secures for us eternal life, if we are willing to appropriate it.

Under the Mosaic Covenant, obedience was through fear (Hebrews 12:25-27), but under the New Covenant, obedience comes through a willing heart. Paul says in Gal. 3:24 -"Wherefore, the law was our schoolmaster to bring us to Christ." When we come up against the Law, we see how it is impossible for us to keep it in our natural, carnal bodies. We know from 1 John 3:4, that "sin is the transgression (breaking) of the law." We know from Ezekiel 18:4, 20 and Romans 6:23, that "the soul that sinneth, it shall die!" So in our desperate search for a method to escape, we are driven to Christ as the only m~ans of our salvation. The Law shows us the ONLY WAY and secures our personal relationship with the King, as a believer (Hebrews 8:11) and frees us completely from the bondage of sin, (Heb. 8:12, 10:17.)

In the Old Covenant, the blood sacrifices were necessary for salvation. They were a symbol of the coming sacrifice of the Lamb of God. The Old Testament saints were saved by grace, through faith, just as we are today. They looked ahead to the "perfect sacrifice" of God's Son, as we look back on it.
Both groups are saved, not through the keeping of the law, but through faith in the Son of God. The Law is for our welfare, both spiritual and physical; it has nothing to do with salvation.

The New Covenant rests upon an accomplished Redemption: "For this is my (Christ's) blood of the New Testament (Covenant), which is shed for many, for the remission of sins," (Matthew 26:28; see also 1 Cor. 11:25.)

In Heb. 9:11, we read: "But Christ being come an high priest of good things to come, by a greater and more perfect tabernacle, not made with hands, that is to say, not of this building." Continuing in Vs. 14: "How much more shall the blood of Christ, who through the eternal Spirit offered Himself without spot to God, purge your conscience from dead works to serve the living God." (Read also vs. 18-23.)

In this New Covenant, God refers to Himself as the "Husband of Israel," therefore we know that the "Israel nation," not the "church" is His bride.

The Abrahamic Covenant formed the Israel nation. The Davidic Covenant created the Royal family from which the Savior would come, and which has, and will rule until He comes as King of Kings and Lord of Lords.

The New Covenant shows the redemption, purification and restoration of Israel, under the rulership of Jesus Christ, YASHUA!

"The Lord hath poured out upon you (Israel) the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets (preachers) and your rulers (politicians), the seers hath He covered . Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honor me, but have removed their heart far from me. . . Therefore, behold, I will do a marvelous work and a wonder among them: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent (those who take part in the political process) will be hid." - Isaiah 29:10, 13

Chapter XVI. MARKS OF IDENTITY!

Whenever the word ISRAEL is mentioned, the majority of Christians immediately think of the people we call JEWS. When we speak of the Anglo-Saxon, Celtic-Scandinavian-Germanic and related peoples as ISRAEL, they have a tendency to react with scorn and hostility. We must remember that man's answers to any question, in order to be true, must coincide with what God says. The answer must not come from some learned "Doctor of Theology," or "seminary scholar," who reads Hebrew and Greek, but from the Bible itself. If they are not consistent in their teaching with the Word of God, then we MUST stand by the WORD at all costs.

Unfortunately, in these LATTER DAYS, very few Christians are willing to take the time or effort to see what the Bible has to say about Israel. They rely on what their pastor tells them, for after all, he was the one who went to seminary. They fail to realize, that all too often, the pastor relies on what the seminarian taught him, for after all, he was the expert in Greek and Hebrew and should know the truth. If our people would read and study the Bible for themselves, without some preacher looking over their shoulder telling them what it means, they would discover many proofs concerning the Israel people, which can and must be used as "marks of Israel Identity," to prove who they really are. If as they claim, the Jews are God's Chosen, then the JEWS MUST fulfill every Scripture concerning Israel. If, as we contend, the Anglo-Israel people are God's Chosen, then they must fulfill this same criteria.

Today, as you know, a great controversy shakes all Christendom. For some reason known only to God, the majority of Christians have opted to call God's worst enemies, His Chosen. They have become so inflexible in this belief, that they "cut off for heresy," anyone who believes otherwise, even when they can prove their stand from the Bible. Most Christians refuse to sit down and look at what the Bible has to say about "true Identity."

Whenever open discussion is cut off, men fail to learn the truth. So under the guidance of clever Judaizers, modern Christians have for the most part been isolated by their church leaders from Biblical truth about the Chosen People. The opponents of Israel Identity, have mis-interpreted Biblical teachings, often deliberately, in such a way that the vast majority of their people are confused and have been quite literally "brainwashed" by Jewish propaganda, into accepting their bitterest enemies, as the ones they MUST support or earn the hatred of their God.

If open discussion in our churches was allowed concerning the Judeo-Christian question; if preachers were allowed to preach the whole truth of the Bible, without pressure from above, the pro-Jewish element in our churches, which have turned most of them into Judeo-Christian churches, would be exposed as the frauds they are and Christians who are now neutralized, would once again become "front line soldiers" for Jesus Christ, and the "salt which has regained its savor."

As early as 1921, the great Christian industrialist, Henry Ford, Sr., tried to warn Christians about what was happening. In his book THE INTERNATIONAL JEW, which took several years and the expenditure of more than \$6-niillion in research, he states that one of the biggest tasks of the church leaders is to relieve Christians from what the Bible calls "Fear of the Jews!"

There are many references in Scripture to the blindness of the Israel people in captivity. They will be blind to their identity in the LATTER DAYS. This has never been an affliction of those we call Jews, for they have known their heritage and identity from the first and have fully lived up to it. Jesus knew whereof He was speaking when He said to them in John 8:44 - "Ye are of your father the devil and the lusts of your father ye will do . . ." The Jews, from their beginning, have loudly proclaimed for everyone to hear, that they are God's Chosen and the Apostle Paul in Romans 11:8, said of Israel: "God hath given them the spirit of slumber, eyes that they should not see, and ears that they should not hear; unto this day."

Unfortunately, as far as modern Bible scholars are concerned, the White race, so they claim, sprang from nowhere. When they study the history of ancient peoples, such as those of Babylon, Assyria and Egypt, it is with an eye to proving their doctrinal thesis. But when they see ancient peoples who were our ancestors, they pass over this as non-essential.

Have you ever wondered, for instance, why certain nations have a natural distrust for each other? Of course, there is the exception of the Soviet Union, which, like the United States, is made up of people from many races, many of whom are Israelites. But few Christians are willing to face the truth, that the reason communism seeks to destroy Christendom, is not because the Russian people dislike the people of Christendom, but because of Jewish hatred for Christianity and everything connected with it. Whether you want to accept it or not, irrefutable evidence proves that Communism from its earliest beginning, has been the brainchild of Judaism. (For more details on this, I suggest you write for my book THE SATANIC COUNTERFEIT; KNOW YOUR ENEMIES, and THE GREAT CONSPIRACY.)

Few scholars are willing to admit that the distrust and antagonism between most countries goes back into the past and was usually caused by ancient injustices on the part of one or both; things which very few historians remember today.

Because of this and because God made certain promises to certain people - promises which are now in the process of being fulfilled - the identity of these people can be determined from Biblical marks of their identity.

If you will be honest enough to put aside "preconceived" notions which you have had drummed into your head in your church for years; if you will get away from the "brainwashing" which has been inflicted on the Christian church from Jewish sources; if you will allow the Bible to speak for itself, without having to have it explained by some brainwashed preacher; if you will earnestly and prayerfully seek the guidance of the Holy Spirit in your search for the truth, then a whole vista of truth will open to you, like a rose to the morning sun. You will never acomplish this, until you get away from Bible helps like the Scofield Bible, which are designed to blind you to Israel truth.

For the life of me, I cannot understand how intelligent people are willing to turn their back on their "birthright" and blandly turn it over to those who hate everything they stand for. This is what most of Christendom has done. I did it for forty-five years, until I got my head screwed on straight and began to think and study the Bible for myself. I wallowed in this same "spiritual blindness", because I was too lazy to study the Bible for myself, and as a result, the Book remained a mystery to me. This is not what God wants from His children. The belief that the people we now call JEWS, are the CHOSEN PEOPLE of the Bible, is based on manmade conceptions, which have been cleverly introduced into the Christian church by the same men the Apostle Jude warned us of in Jude 4: "For certain men are crept in unawares, who were before of old ordained to this condemnation, ungodly men, turning the grace of our god into lasciviousness, and denying the only Lord God, and the Lord Jesus Christ." The Apostle Paul further clarifies these "deceivers" in Titus 1:10, when he says: "For there are many unruly and vain talkers and deceivers, specially they of the circumcision (Jews): Whose mouths must be stopped, who subvert whole houses (families), teaching things which they ought not for filthy lucre (money's) sake." (Anyone who has had much to do with Jews, knows that the average Jew will do most anything for money.)

I have been "black-balled" for all intents and purposes by the fundamental Baptist churches in America, which I served faithfully for eighteen years, not because I departed from the "fundamentals of the faith," but because I refuse to be deceived by these Christ haters they uphold. I refuse to "bow the knee" before usurpers, or be intimidated by "fear of the Jews!"

While it may seem to be "racist" on the surface, it is still essentially true, that each race has certain characteristics which set them apart. A well-known American philosopher once said: "Negroes are noted for their athletic poweress and for eating each other." While this may seem racist on the surface, it is nevertheless true. Look at the large number of "black" athletes who now dominate sports such as boxing, football, baseball, all physical sports. The African blacks for centuries have practiced cannibalism, while this horrible practice is virtually unknown among the white nations.

No two racial groups will respond to identical emergencies in the same manner. The Englishman will react differently from the Hindu from India; the American from the Chinese; the Canadian from the Congolese. It will have nothing whatsoever to do with their educational background, but will be an "inborn" trait.

If you were to take a group of 100 blacks and place them on an uninhabited island, history proves that in 100 years, they would be living as they have for the last 5,000 years. (I have seen black tribes in Central Sudan, who have not bettered their ways of living for thousands of years and who do not even know how to use a wheel.)

But if you were to take an equal number of whites and place them on the same island, they would immediately begin trying to improve their situation. Why? Because the two races are inherently different, regardless of what the social scientist says to the contrary. This is why Zionist pressure in Christendom, is seeking to amalgamate (mix) the races. They do not advocate that for Jews, just for Christians. For they know, that history proves that mongrels are easier to control than those of pure blood. Don't argue with me about this. Just check out your history books for the past 6,000 years of written history and see what has happened to every civilization which has begun a process of intermingling.

One of the outstanding characteristics of the Anglo-Saxon and related people is their "love of freedom." It is unique among all the peoples of the world. Most of them, unless they have become "brainwashed by Jewish propaganda", would "rather die on their feet, than live on their knees!" This intense desire has produced great pronouncements such as: "Give me liberty or give me death!" It has produced the most magnificent documents the human race has ever written such as the Magna Charta and the American Constitution, with it's unique Bill of Rights. The Jewish race has never

produced anything like this, although they try and claim Moses for their own. Jesus pretty well handled this argument, when He told the Jewish religious leaders: "If ye had believed Moses, ye would have believed me, for he wrote of me," (John 5:46.)

There has never been any other people which have been so motivated towards freedom, as the white people of Christendom. Could it be that this is because God said that Israel was to "preach good tidings unto the meek ... to proclaim liberty to the captives, and the opening of the prison to them that are bound?..." Jewry have never done this, only the white nations of Christendom.

I believe one of the greatest evidences available that we are indeed Israel, is our reaction against unjust taxation. This reaction can be found all through the ancient history of Israel, from their captivity in Egypt, until the time of their dispersal. It was what caused the split between the Northern and Southern sections of the Hebrew people.

Listen to the cry of the Prophet Amos in Amos 8:4 - "O ye that swallow up the needy, even make the poor of the land to fail." (I.R.S. maybe?) Listen to Micah 3:2 - "Who hate the good and love the evil; who pluck off their skin from off them, and their flesh from off their bones." (Have you ever heard the phrase: "I'm being skinned by the government?") Listen to Zephaniah 3:1-4 - "Woe to the oppressing city (Washington D.C.? Maybe!) She obeyed not the voice. . . she received not correction; she trusted not in the Lord; she drew not near her God. Her princes (government officials) within her are roaring lions: her judges are evening wolves . . . Her prophets (pastors) are light and treacherous persons; her priests have polluted the sanctuary, they have done violence to the law." Listen to Zechariah 7:9 -Execute true judgment, and show mercy and compassion every man to his brother: and oppress not the widow nor the poor, and let none of you imagine evil against his brother in your heart."

All of these things are evils which have "bugged" Israelites from time immemorial and which are destroying us today.

The records of the Scythians, the Goths, the Visgoths, echo with the cries of free men, trying to escape government tyranny. Even the Roman Emperor Julius Caesar, marveled at the Britons love for freedom.

We marvel, as we look at how our country was founded to "establish justice, insure domestic tranquility, provide for the common defense, promote the general welfare (not of just one group who refuse to help themselves, but for all citizens), and secure the blessings of liberty for ourselves and our posterity."

In Hosea 6:6, we listen as God speaks to Israel: "For I desire mercy and not sacrifice: and the knowledge of God, more than burnt offerings." Then Micah 6:8 crowns God's desire for His people in these words: "He hath shown thee, 0 man, what is good and what doth the Lord require of thee, but to do justly, and love mercy, and to walk humbly with thy God." None of these are Jewish traits, but they are "inborn" into the very fiber of the Anglo-Saxon and related peoples.

This is why our people freed their slaves, while the colored nations of Asia and AFRICA still practice it. The slaves were brought to America, primarily by Jewish traders as can be seen by documents in the Carnegie Institute in Washington, D.C. (For further information on this, write for my pamphlet WHO BROUGHT THE SLAVES TO AMERICA.) But let us spend some time looking at a few of the 200 or more Bible marks of Israel Identity, as laid down in Bible prophecy.

1 - Israel must exist as a great nation (Jer. 31:35-37; 33:20-26.) Until 1948 there was no such nation of the Jews and the present nation of the Israeli in Palestine is a "psuedo-Israel."

2 - Israel must be an island nation, (Jer. 31:10; Isa. 41:1; 42:12; 11:11; 24:14-16; 49:1-3; 49:12.) The Jews have never qualified here.

3 - The ISRAEL lands must be north and west of Old Palestine. (Jer. 3:12; 23:8; Isa. 49:12.)

4 - Israel must be made up of a vast number of people, the Bible illustrates this by saying: "as the sand of the sea, or the stars of heaven, in number." (Hosea 1:10; Gen. 22:17; Gen. 32:12.) The Jews, according to their own census figures, have never numbered more than 18-million at any one time.

5 - Israel must have found the island lands too small for their numbers and desired larger areas for expansion. "For thy waste and desolate places, and the land of thy destruction, shall even be too narrow (small) by reason of thy inhabitants, and they that swallow thee shall be far away." The American Standard Version translates this to read: "Surely now, you will be too cramped for the inhabitants." This was what happened during the 18th and 19th century, when during a fifty year period, more than 40-million white people migrated to Canada and the United States, in the greatest migration of all time. This has never happened to the Jews.

6 - Israel must have lost part of their people, at least one tribe, which split off from the mother nation. Isaiah 49:20 -"The children which thou shalt have, AFTER THOU HAST LOST THE OTHERS, shall say again in thy ears, THE PLACE IS TO STRAIT (small) for me; give me a place where I may dwell." So in 1776, when Britain lost her children in the United States, within a few years, the migration took place which took Israelites to South Africa, Australia, New Zealand, Canada, and of course, the United States. The Jews have never had a split off from their ranks like this.

7 - Israel must be living under a monarchy and have a descendant of King David (king or queen) sitting on their throne. (1 Chron. 22:10; 2 Chron. 13:5; Jer. 33:17; 33:19-26; 2 Sam. 7:13-16.) The British monarchy traces its ancestry back to David and the genealogy is there for even the skeptics to see if they so desire. It is openly displayed at Westminster Abbey and is an official part of British government documentation.

8 - Israel must be represented by more than one nation. (Gen. 35:11) says "... a nation, and a company of nations shall be of thee, and kings shall come out of thy loins." Only the nations of Christendom qualify here. One nation, the United States, and a "company of nations," the British Commonwealth, all white nations. By no stretch of the most vivid fundamentalist imagination, can the Jews qualify here.

9 - Israel must have a nation which sprung from the mother nation, but which is independent of them. (Gen. 48:19; Isa. 49:20.) Only the British Commonwealth qualifies here, with the independent nation being the United States.

10 - Israel must have immense colonies (Isa. 49:8; 54:3.) Again, only the British Commonwealth qualifies here. The Jews have never had any colonies.

11 - Israel will "push the people together," (Gen. 33:17.)

12 - Israel will be the chief (most prominent) of the nations, (Jer. 31:7; Amos 6:1.)

13 - Israel will be an undefeated nation (Isa. 54:17; Micah 5:8.) The English speaking nations of the world have never fought a losing war. (We are not talking about "police actions" such as Korea and Vietnam, fought under the U.N.)

14 - Israel will win their final war with a relatively small army. (Lev. 26:8; Deut. 20:1.) In our coming conflict with Russia and very probably China, plus the black nations of Africa, Israel will be greatly outnumbered. The Jews, while defeating the greatly numerical Arab armies, did it through the use of American equipment, not through the help of God, whom most of them denounce. There is some difference here.

15 - Israel will be a wealthy nation. (Deut. 8:18.) The Gross National Product of the Israeli in 1980, was about \$16.4-billion; that of the U.S. \$2.5-trillion; that of Canada \$249.3-billion; that of Australia \$119.1-billion; that of New Zealand \$20.2-billion; that of South Africa \$54.9-billion; that of Britain \$346.6-billion. This means that the nations of Christendom, "true Israel, has a yearly GNP of about \$3.289-trillion compared with \$16.4-billion for the Israeli. As I have mentioned previously, Israeli leaders know that if the U.S. were to withdraw their support of the Israeli, they would soon collapse.

16 - Israel will lend to others, but not borrow (Deut. 15:6). This is a conditional promise. Since the end of World War II, the United States has supplied other nations (this is through the end of 1979) more than \$246-billion in military, economic and technical aid and loans. Of this, only \$75-billion has been in loans, the rest has been in the form of gifts. To the Jews in Palestine, for instance, we have given \$1 2-billion plus, with only \$4.4-billion repaid. But during this time, as the U.S. has drawn away from God, we have begun to borrow from the International Bankers, who are almost 100% Jews who control the Federal Reserve System until in one year, we borrowed more than \$80-billion at huge interest rates, so that we could give it away, often to nations who hate us. The conditions of Deut. 28:44 are now at work in this country: "He shall lend to thee, and thou shalt not lend to him: he shall be the head, and thou shalt be the tail."

17 - Israel was to abolish the slave trade. (Isaiah 58:6.) This has happened only among the Anglo-Saxon and related peoples. Britain was first in 1834, followed by the United States in 1865.

18 - Israel was to have the finest fruit and cattle in the world. (Deut. 38:4 - again conditional.) In 1979, the total Israeli production of cattle was under 50,000 head, while that of the U.S. is in the hundreds of millions.

19 - Israel was to lose her identity and become known by another name (Isaiah 65:16.) They were no longer to be called "Hebrews", but Christians, and their nations CHRISTENDOM. The JEWS are still called JEWS.

20 - Israel's national heraldly was to feature the lion and the unicorn. Both of these animals are found on the official seal of Great Britain.

21 - Israel was to be a great missionary people, (Isa. 22:6; 43:21; Mark 16:15; Matt. 7:20.) Over 95% of all Christian missionary effort comes from the United States and England. The Jews have never done this.

22 - Israel was to be named after ISAAC and were not to be called ISRAEL. (Gen. 21:12; Romans 9:7.) They were to be known as ISAACSSONS-SAXONS.

23 - Israel's name was to be called GREAT, (Gen. 12:2). There is only one nation in the world with this name, our mother nation GREAT BRITAIN.

24 - Israel was to speak another language other than Hebrew. (Isa. 28:11.) (This does not refer to the "glossolalia" now being practiced by Charismatic Christians, as they speak in "other tongues." The Scripture name for "tongues," is "languages-known languages.)

25 - Israel was to be a CHRISTIAN Nation, (Hos. 1:10; Isa. 9:2; 9:8; 45:17-19, 15; 48:20; 49:3.) On at least three occasions, the Supreme Court of the United States has declared this to be a CHRISTIAN country. The original Charters of each of the thirteen original Colonies, reveal that they were settled "For the glory of God and the propagation of the Christian faith." America was never intended to be a "pluralistic" country, as Jerry Falwell and others of the Judeo-Christian crowd affirm.

26 - As long as they obeyed their God, Israel was to "Possess the gates of their enemies," (Gen. 22:17,18.) Until the last few years, as the Israel nations have become mired in Judeo-Christianity, they held all these important gates - the Suez Canal; Gibraltar; the Panama Canal; the Strait of Magellan; the Cape of Good Hope. The Jews have never controlled any of these.

27 - Israel was to observe the Sabbath nationally. (This does not necessarily refer to the Jewish Sabbath which is observed on Saturday.) Only in Christendom, has one day in seven been set aside for worship and rest.

28 - Israel was to become a mighty "sea power." (Ps. 89:25; Numbers 24:7.) At one time Britain ruled the sea and the sun never set on her mighty empire. Then she began to forget her God, and she has become a third rate nation. Then America became a great sea power, now because of our wickedness, we are losing out to the anti-God Soviets.

29 - Israel was to be tolerant of strangers, (Lev. 19:33, 34.) Only the nations of Christendom have shown this tolerance. In Palestine today, if you are not a Jew, you are rated as "nothing," and have very few privileges.

30 - Israel was never to become subject of a foreign power, (Deut. 15:16.) Neither England or the United States and Canada, have ever been ruled by foreigners.

31 - Israel was to possess a mighty tract of land, outside Palestine, where the multitudes of her people could live in peace, (2 Sam. 7:10.) We believe this APPOINTED PLACE is in North America. Palestine bears none of the identifying marks of this Promised Land.

32 - Israel's preservation will be due, not to her vast military power, but through the Divine protection and intervention of her God. The Zionists have their protection from the support of America. I firmly believe, that when this mess is over and our God has "balanced His scales," we will

know of a surety, both Israel and her enemies, that the victory was not won through our might, or intelligence, but because of the intervention and will of our God.

33 - In the end, Israel will be joined to Judah and at least some of the people will return to the original land, (Jer. 3:14, 18; Ezek. 37.) I believe this will take place after our Lord returns. Those who return to the "Old Land," will not be JEWS, but ISRAELITES.

34 - Israel will be used as an instrument in the hands of God to destroy the heathen who will not bow the knee to His rule, (Jer. 51:20; Dan. 2:44.) This will be sometime in the future!

35 - Israel was to spread abroad to the east and west, the south and north. This is where the Israel people went in their treks to the New World, South Africa, New Zealand and Australia.

Israel has always been represented as being "sheep." In the End Times, they will be separated from the "goat nations," those who refuse the Lordship of King Jesus, (Matt. 25:31-34.)

36 - The Israel "sheep nations," would feed the hungry; clothe the naked; and liberate the captives, (Matthew 25:31-46.) Only the nations of Christendom have done this.

37 - Israel was to become "circumcised" in their heart. (Deut. 10:16; 30:6; Romans 2:28, 29; Phil. 3:3; Col. 2:9, 11.)

38 - The Israel nations were to glorify the Holy One of Israel. Only the nations of Christendom have openly accepted Him and based their governments on His law. (Isa. 41:16; Luke 1:32; 7:16.)

39 - Only Israel would declare JESUS CHRIST to be their God. (Isa. 43:10-12; 44:8; 49:3, 4; 52:6; Acts 1:8.)

40 - Only Israel would possess the Spirit of God and the Word of God in their innermost being (Isa. 59:21.) The religion of the JEWS is based on a heathen book called the BABYLONIAN TALMUD, which repudiates the teachings of God through Moses.

41 - Only the nations of Christendom are the "sheep of the house of Israel," as can be seen by a close look at (Ezek. 34:11, 12; John 10:26, 27; Matt. 15:24.)

42 - The JEWS are not the servants of God (Isa. 41:8; 43:10; 49:3.) Jewish rabbis openly admit that their god is "materialism."

43 - The Jews are not a "holy nation," but have become a curse to every nation which has dealt with them. (1 Thess. 2:15.)

44 - Of all the great Scriptural heroes mentioned in Hebrews chapter 11, not one was a JEW. This includes Abel, Enoch, Noah, Abraham, Jacob, Sarah, Isaac, Joseph, Moses, Gideon, Samson, David, Samuel. The first Jews were not mentioned in Scripture until 2 Kings 16:6. This was at least 273 years after the reign of David.

45 - Israel was to have ALL of God's Word, (Rom. 9:3-5; Ps. 147:19, 20; Deut. 33:4.) The Jews do not even honor the Old Testament, they only give lip service to it. Jesus told their religious rulers in (John 5:46), "If ye had believed Moses, ye would have believed me; for he wrote of me." A check of the Talmud will show you that their teachings contradict those of Moses and the prophets.

46 - ISRAEL was to .be above all nations. This is in a moral and spiritual sense. The Jews have never qualified here. Their leaders teach them that they are superior to everyone else, in fact the Yiddish word "goyim" which is used to define "non-Jews," refers to "non-Jew" animals according to the teaching of the TALMUD.

47- The JEWS are NOT NOW, nor EVER HAVE BEEN GOD'S CHOSEN PEOPLE. (Numbers 24:8, 9; Isa. 41:15; Jer. 51:20-23.) True Israel has always been a group of nations (tribes) which have fought against evil. Even Hitler's fight was against the evils of anti-Christ, Zionist Communism. As Gen. George Patton once said: "I believe we fought on the wrong side during this war (WWII)." Patton was killed because of what he knew about the Zionist conspiracy and the top officials who backed it (Churchill, Stalin, Roosevelt, Eisenhower, etc.) But history proves that both World War I and II were started by the International Zionists, for Jewish interests and that the Christian nations who bore the brunt of the suffering and cost of these wars, got absolutely nothing from them but death and suffering. The Jews have benefitted from, and been prominent in causing every war which has been fought in modern times. As always, like one of their top Rabbis in Europe said: "Wars are the Jews harvests, for with them we kill off Christians and take control of their gold. We have already killed 100-million of them and the end is not yet in sight." This statement was made in Prague, Austria, in 1857, by a Jewish Rabbi named Reichorn.

48- The JEWS have never borne the name of ISAAC, yet the promise was: "In Issac shall thy seed be blessed!" (Gen. 21:12; Amos 7:16; Rom. 9:7; Heb. 11:18.)

49 - The modern day JEWS have never lost their identity, they have been Jews for centuries, only the nations of Christendom have done this. (Hos. 1:9, 10; Isa. 1:3; 42:19; Deut. 32:26; Jer. 50:6, 7; Hos. 8:8; 9:17.) The Jews are "still the sons of Satan," which they were when Jesus called them this in John 8:44.

50 - The JEWS have never had a new name. Israel's name was to be changed. (Isa. 62:2; 65:15; Hos. 1:10; Rom. 9:25, 26; 1 Peter 2:10; Acts 11:26.) The JEWS have been the YEHUDIM since 742 B.C. and have left their name as a curse to ISRAEL. (Isa. 65:15.) But God's ISRAEL, has not only had a new name, they have a new language (Isa. 28:11.)

The Identity detractors such as DeBoer, in his THE NEW PHARISSEISM, p.36, says: "He (Paul) instructs Roman believers that God has not cast away His people, that God has not put Israel aside and made His covenant of no effect, but rather that the terms of the Covenant require faith, and that the unfaithful have been rejected and the faithful accepted." (Here he does a typical job of twisting things to serve his own purpose. The first part of this paragraph is true, but the poison seeps in during the remainder of his statement.) "He (Paul) sets the true Israel of God under the figure of the olive tree. He describes the roots and the branches of the olive tree today, which represents Abraham and the faithful patriarchs Moses and all the prophets, indeed all the faithful of the nation Israel and of the OLD TESTAMENT JEWISH CHURCH!" Notice how slyly he slips in the term JEWISH CHURCH, when it should have remained ISRAEL. He is being intellectually dishonest for he knows there were no people called Jews at the time of the Patriarchs. Another critic says: "The Israel Identity people do not circumcise, nor do they speak Hebrew, but the Jews do." Here he completely disregards what the Word says about Israel changing their name and their language.

51 - Are the heathen nations aligned against the JEWS? Not so you would notice, outside of the Arab world. The JEWS would like to have us believe this. Their "stooges" standing behind the pulpits of the Judeo-Christian churches of America would like us to believe this. But they are not. Official Soviet policy is not anti-Jew, only to the point where their Jewish leaders see it as a benefit to their world plans. A majority of the Comintern (the ruling body of Russia) at the present time are Jews. Many of the richest people in Russia today are Jews, who live in elegance in the resort areas of the Black Sea. The wrath of the anti-God nations of the world today, is not aimed at the ISRAELI, but at the nations of Christendom. We could expect to receive more help from the Moslem nations, than we would from the Jews, if the chips ever fall in another World War.

At least the Moslem nations look on our Savior with the respect they reserve for a great prophet. They do not spit when His name is mentioned, as the orthodox Jew does; they do not pray many times each week for curses on Christ and Christianity, as the Jew does.

52 - It was not the JEWS who delivered Jerusalem from the hands of the heathen in 1917. It was Anglo-Saxon troops under an Anglo-Saxon general, with Anglo-Saxon planes flying overhead as was predicted by the prophet Isaiah in 31:5.

It might be interesting at this point, to note that all the royal houses of Europe, with the exception of one, are Germanic in origin (Gen. 49:10; 35:11.) The breach between the two branches of Israel, represented by Great Britain and the United States on one side, and Germany on the other will soon be healed. No more will the "sons of Satan" be able to cause ISRAELITES to fight against their brethren, as they have so cleverly done in many wars of the past. It might be interesting to note that Germany's final safety will come before that of Great Britain and the United States, (see Zech. 12:7.)

Chapter XVII. THE ORIGIN OF THE RACES

After the Great Flood, the Adamic race became separated into three main families of sub-races -SHEMITE, HAMITE, AND JAPHETHITE. The descendants of Shem were the continuation of the Divinely appointed stock whose special purpose would be to prepare the world for the establishment of God's Kingdom on earth.

The descendants of Cain were a "throw back" to the contaminated stock of Cain. The descendants of Japheth were a sort of neutral element, which intermarried into the other two groups. Gen. 9:19 says of them: "These were the three sons of Noah; and of them was the whole earth overspread (populated)."

In Genesis 9-11, we find details concerning the generations of Noah's sons and see the "cursing" of Canaan, a son of Ham; followed by the blessing of Shem, and the enlargement of the tents of Japheth and his intermingling with Shem.

From the "sons of Japheth" came the following:

GOMER AND MAGOG - The fathers of the Tatar tribes who settled in what is now modern Russia. Their descendants primarily remained in this area. About 95% of the people we today know as JEWS the one's called ASHKENAZIM - belong to this group. They never came from Palestine.

MADAI - From whom came the Medes.

JAVAN - the ancestor of the aboriginal stock of the Grecian archipelago.

TUBAL - Father of the tribes from southern Russia. The city of TUBLOSK was named after him.

MESHECH - Another Russian tribe, from which came the modern name of MOSCOW.

TIRAS - Father of the Thracian tribes.

THE SONS OF HAM

CUSH Descended from Nimrod the "mighty hunter" and founder of the city of Babel, from which came Babylon (meaning "confusion.") (See Gen. 10:8-10.) Abother descendant was Asshur, who founded Ninevah, the capitol city of Assyria. Some of Cush's descendants later mingled with the black Africans and became the inhabitants of Ab-bysinia, now called Ethiopia.

MIZRAIM - Father of the Egyptians and Philistines. The word "Egypt" in Hebrew is "mizraim." The maps of the ancient world call this area MIZRAIM and ETHIOPIA was known as CUSH.

PHUT - The Negroid races came from this son an4 spread throughout Africa. Every nation which has intermarried with them, has slid "down the tube" through this miscegenation.

CANAAN - Father of the Canaanite nations stretching from Sidon to Sodom and Gomorrah (see Gen. 10:19.) It was this people who became so evil with their practices of Sodomy and who had revived the wicked practices of Cain, which were from before the flood, that caused God to destroy this area.

"The Lord hath poured out upon you (Israel) the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets (preachers) and your rulers (politicians), the seers hath He covered . Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honor me, but have removed their heart far from me. . . Therefore, behold, I will do a marvelous work and a wonder among them: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent (those who take part in the political process) will be hid." - Isaiah 29:10, 13

THE SONS OF SHEM

These men are listed in Gen. 10:21-31. It is through this "bloodline" that Jesus Christ the Redeemer was to come - Adam, Seth, Noah, Shem, Abraham, Isaac, Jacob, Judah, David, Jesus (see Matthew 1 and Luke 3 for the complete genealogy.)

In Gen. 10:32, we learn that Shem had five sons - Elam, Asshur, Arphaxad, Lud and Oram. From the genealogy of Shem in Gen. 11:10, we find that Shem came from Eber or Heber who was the father of the Hebrews (not the Jews). There were no Hebrews on earth before this time. From this Hebrew family came our forefather Abraham, first called Abram.

Following the confusion of tongues, which took place at the Tower of Babel (Gen. 11:7-9), we find the human race divided in-to two main groups - the HAMITIC-JAPHETHIC combination and the SHEMITE people. From the HAMITIC-JAPHETHIC group come most of the war-like nations and confederation of nations, which grew up in the Chaldean area, with Shinar as its center. This was about 2,000 BC. This confederation developed into the Assyrian Empire which was the first great world-empire. This society is sometimes called the Gentile Nations and had its secret societies called the CABAL, which were started by Nimrod. It was government by force, being a totalitarian dictatorship and provided the Gentile National System which has become known as the BABYLONIAN system. It is still controlling the world today and holds most of the world, including the Israel nations, in economic bondage. It is almost totally controlled by International Jews. It is in direct opposition to the system of economics appointed by God for His Israel people.

Most Christians have been completely fooled by the propaganda that white Christians are Gentiles, and the Jews the Chosen people. It is the other way around. The Jews, who are descendants of Cain and Canaan, have been the bitterest foe of the Israelite people since the beginning of their recorded history and have always controlled the evil system of "usury bondage" which now threatens the world's economic systems. It was condemned soundly in Mosaic Law.

Today, modern Judaism, is an occult, evil religion, controlled by a secret CABAL called the KABALLA. Their sacred book, the BABYLONIAN TALMUD, contains many of the occult secrets which came direct from Babylonian idol worshiping practices.

The descendants of Ham and Japheth, who knew Shem was divinely appointed stock, who was to prepare the world for the establishment of God's Kingdom on earth. They set out to frustrate this

plan, by seizing control of the world through secret organizations. In the 1700's, this secret organization was known as the ILLUMINATI, which was the forerunner of Communism. Interestingly enough, the top leaders in these conspiratorial societies for ages, have been Jews.

The Bible reveals a great deal about Satan's plot to seize and control the world and destroy God's people. It tells a great deal about how they will go about frustrating God's plans, and predicts their ultimate defeat and destruction.

But it is next to impossible, for Christians to be successful in this war which we are fighting for our survival, unless we know who our enemies really are. For centuries now, God's bitterest enemies, the Jew, has set himself up as the Chosen People and have subverted God's real Israel into helping and supporting their own worst enemies. In 2 Chronicles 19:2, we read these words: "... shouldest thou help the ungodly? and love them that hate the Lord; therefore is there wrath upon thee from before the Lord." This is a verse Twentieth Century Christians better understand, before they destroy themselves.

The indifference of Christians to this insidious enemy which has infiltrated our ranks, was shown many years ago when Nicolai Lenin, then head of the Communist world said in effect: "We will never have to fight against them, because they will become so morally corrupt, they will drop into our laps without a fight."

While it may be difficult for "brainwashed, subverted" Christians, especially pastors, to face the bitter truth. They are going to have to accept it and act on it if they want to survive. The fact remains, in spite of all the howls of protest which come from Jewish sources and their Christian stooges such as Van Impe and DeBoer, that there is much evidence which proves that revolutionary Jewish effort is behind the movement to wipe out Christianity. Yet when a blasphemous movie, such as the recent TEMPTATIONS OF CHRIST, makes the Christian world angry, few Christian leaders have the courage to point out that it was Jews who made and distributed that picture and who are making money off it.

An honest look at the destructive fervor of world Judaism, will bring before us, terrible pictures of oceans of blood, and millions of Christians who have been slaughtered in hideous ways, to slake the blood craze of those who hate Christ and His people. (For more information on this, listen to my cassette tape, THE PLOT TO DESTROY CHRISTIANITY.)

Must we wait until the heathen hordes commanded by International Zionism march through our city streets? Must we constantly restrain ourselves, under our Christian standards, until we see our wives and daughters raped by those who consider a "non-Jewish woman a piece of meat to use any way they desire?" Must we wait until they burn our Bibles and board up our churches and we are driven underground? How long, O God! How long, must we sit back and allow this to happen?

If the Jews want to live in peace and security, as they constantly aver, then let them prove it by their actions. This is not shown, when they try and take prayer from our schools, and Christian symbols from our city streets. As long as they continue their aggressive ways against Christ and Christianity in this country, then it is our right, nay, it is our DUTY, to defend our families, our friends, our faith, our race, and our country by any means which are available. We MUST NOT allow these anti-Christs to dictate the terms by which Christian America is to be governed. If TRUE ISRAEL will seek God's face,

then "No weapon which is formed against thee shall prosper (be successful): and every tongue that shall rise against thee (even from the Judeo-Christian pulpits) shalt thou condemn. This is the heritage of the SERVANTS OF THE LORD - ISRAEL."

Chapter XVIII. THE SHEMITIC RACE AND ISRAEL

It was from the Shemitic race, through Heber, that Abraham came. Later God changed his name to Abraham. He was chosen above all other men on the face of the earth, to be the father of a very special people - these were not to "lord it over others," as the Jews are taught - these were not to be a MASTER RACE, as Hitler had in mind, but were to become "servant-rulers," one's who would first prove they could "serve" before they were given the privilege of "ruling."

It was through Abraham and his offspring, that all the families of the earth were to be blessed.

Not only through their actions, but because through them would come the Savior King, who would one day rule the world in complete justice.

There were three major figures in this remarkable family which we will discuss:

ABRAHAM - From whom came Ishmael, the father of the Arab people. Abraham also had six sons by his third wife, Keturah (~ee Gen. 16; 21:1-8; 25:1-4.)

ISAAC - The son of Abraham's old age. (He was 100 and his wife Sarah was 90, when this child was born.) This was the son God had chosen, to be the father of the family, from which His own Son, would have His earthly birth. Isaac had twin boys, Bsau and Jacob, (see Gen. 25:24-26.)

Esau was called "Edom," which in the Hebrew language means "red," because he was a hairy man, covered with red hair. Some of Esau's descendants can be found among the Turks, while other, through his grandson Amalek, are among the people we today call JEWS. (They say so in their own encyclopedia.) They are now, and have always been the bitterest enemies of true Israel. (See Mal. 1:2-4 for their final disposition.)

The nation of Idumea (Edom) was absorbed into Jewry during the time of John Hyrancus, about 125 B.C. These people were forced to become Jews, much as those Persians spoken about in Esther 8:17. These people were not Israelites, even though they were from the seed of Abraham. The majority of Jews during Christ's time belonged to this group, and all the Jewish leaders among the Pharisees and Saducees were from this lineage. This was very probably the basis of Christ's cutting remarks to them in John 8.

JACOB - Jacob was the youngest of the twins born to Isaac and Rebekah. He was a greedy man who took advantage of his brother Esau's weakness for material things (a trait which is typically Jewish). But at the Brook Jabbok, Jacob was "born again," he experienced a spiritual rebirth (see Gen. 32:22-28.) He became a new man and God gave him a new name, ISRAEL, which in Hebrew means: "ruling with God." He is the father of all physical ISRAELITES. There were no ISRAELITES in existence anywhere, before this time.

As many of you will remember from your Sunday School lessons, Jacob had twelve sons who became the fathers of the twelve tribes of Israel. They were all ISRAELITE THERE WAS NOT A JEW AMONG THEM! They were Semites and Hebrews. Their religion was HEBREWISM, not JUDAISM! The term "anti-Semitic" which is such a trigger word for modern Jewry, is a gross misnomer since very few of modern day Jews are Semites. The term is used for the purpose of "fooling, and brow beating", Christians.

There are multitudes of people on this earth today who are descendants of Abraham, just as God promised him it would be. They can correctly say: "We are the sons of Abraham," which is something which very few Jews can honestly say. Many of the "seed of Esau," adopted Judaism and can rightly be called Jews, but they have no moral or legal right to use the term ISRAEL, and are using it only to confuse Christians and cover up their designs for a World Jewish Empire.

Chapter XIX. CLASSES OF ISRAELITES

In Romans 11:25, the Apostle Paul writes that "Blindness in part is happened to Israel." Now most of our Protestant and some Catholic pastors will say this has reference to the Jews and that when Jesus returns the second time, the Jews will recognize Him as their Messiah and all of them will be saved.

J ourVan Impe, in his book ISRAEL'S FINAL HOLOCAUST!, p.152, says: "In the coming age (millennium) of peace, Jews will love the name of Jesus and will be thrilled with the benefits of His kingd9m." (UNQ.) It appears that Van Impe never read Luke 19:27, which is an accurate description of what is going to happen to the anti-Christ Jews when Jesus returns. Maybe he has translated this verse to fit his own interpretation of Scripture, as he has apparently done with many others. This statement by Jesus, follows His story of the nobleman who went into a far country to receive a kingdom (Luke 19:12-27), it becomes quite evident that He is speaking of Himself and the Jews were those mentioned in vs. 14 - "But his citizens hated him, and sent a messenger after him saying, WE WILL NOT HAVE THIS MAN TO REIGN OVER US." These were almost identical to the words used by the Pharisees and ALL the Jewish people, as Christ appeared before Pontius Pilate and they cried: "We have no king but Caesar!"

Van Impe continues his Jewish white wash job on p.155 - "because of their business ability, the Jews have been the scapegoat for the economic ills of many nations. Their success in handling money has often brought them grief. Hitler's excuse for the holocaust was in large part because the Jews had monopolized the wealth of Germany. Few have recognized Jewish prosperity as the fulfillment of God's promise to Abraham as recorded in Gen. 12:1-3." (UNQ.) Now that's stretching the Word of God mighty far and is treading on mighty thin ice, since the historical record shows that the Jews were kicked out of every country in Europe, sometimes more than once, because of their immoral conduct and because they tried to take over control of every country they lived in, just as they are doing in America today, through their control of the economy. Van Impe can scream to the contrary until he has a coronary, but that is not going to change the truth of what the Jews have done to dest pritrue Israel.

As masters of "usury" Jews ran Germany to the brink of economic destruction before WWI I. In fact, it was Jewish actions in Germany, that drove the German people into the arms of Adolf Hitler. Whatever his position concerning the Jews, whether he may have been right or wrong, he was correct when he labeled them as a "nation of leeches, parasites, and blood suckers." This is what Martin Luther, the Great German Reformer said about them centuries before: "Next to the devil, Christians have no more bitter, more poisonous, more vehement enemies than a real Jew who earnestly desires to be a Jew... Should they at times do something good, know full well that it is not done out of love for you, nor for your good." (UNQ.) Possibly this was what the APOSTLE Paul had in mind in 1 Thess. 2:15, when he said of the Jews of his day: "Who both killed the Lord Jesus, and their own prophets, and have persecuted us (the Christian church); and they PLEASE NOT GOD AND ARE CONTRARY TO ALL MEN." (Emphasis mine.)

It is "true Israel" who has been blinded, not the Jews. We have been blind for 2500 years, to our identity, to our heritage, to our responsibilities before God, to our mission. But now, as the END TIMES are coming on the scene, the "blindness which happened to Israel in part," is being removed, as thousands upon thousands of "true Israelites" are beginning to wake up and find out who they

are. Like Esau, White Christians have not realized the value of their birthright and have sold it out to the Jews and thus despised it.

The Romans 11:22, verse, has been applied to the Jews by our "brainwashed" pastors, but this blindness does not have to do with unbelief. It comes from the Greek Word "porosia," which literally means: "stupidity or callousness." We have been "brainwashed" through our own "stupidity and callousness" to the truth, into believing that the Jews will be restored nationally to Palestine in their unbelief and there will accept Christ. I predict they will return to Palestine all right, not to accept Christ but to fulfill the prediction of Luke 19:27.

Typical of the "baloney" which is coming from the fundamental churches of America is this masterpiece of Jewish propaganda written by R. B. Thieme, pastor of the Berachah Church of Houston, Texas. Thieme is supposed to be a "super-intelligent" man, at least he considers himself to be so, who reads both Hebrew and Greek. On p.137, of his book ANTI-SEMITISM, he says: "Whereas our ancestors picked lice from their hair and fleas from their bodies while they still lived in caves and hovels under the most primitive conditions, the ancestors of the Jews had a fantastic standard of living. They had laws of hygiene which were absolutely phenomenal. (Of course he is speaking of ISRAELITES, since there were no Jews at this time - AUTHOR.) They possessed a perfect system of justice and super-morals. They practiced soil conservation and rotation of crops. Their excellent dietary laws contributed to the nation's health. They produced inspired artisans, poets, and musicians, great statesmen and warriors, judges and kings. No matter how terribly they have been persecuted; how cruelly they have been driven from country to country, the Jews have NEVER SUFFERED DEFEAT OF THEIR CULTURAL OR SPIRITUAL STANDARDS." (UNQ.)

If you want to know the basis for their "cultural and spiritual standards," read their TALMUD and then see what unadulterated "hogwash" this brain is putting out. It's enough to make an honest man "sick to his stomach." In reality, it is a "blasphemy of the truth."

In the first place, Thieme is not speaking of Jews, although this is what he calls them. He is intelligent enough to know that he was speaking of Israelites, not Jews and that they are completely "different breed of cats." I challenge his statement about the "Jews never having suffered a cultural or spiritual defeat." Let this distinguished scholar explain, if he can, why every evil influence in America - the very things which are tearing down what he says he stands for, are being bankrolled by Jewish money. It is the Jews who operate the filth of Hollywood, that put out films degrading our Savior, like the filth of THE LAST TEMPTATIONS OF CHRIST. It is Jewish doctors, for the most part who own and operate the "abortion mills" of America, which yearly slaughter close to 2-million unborn babies. It is Jewish crime lords who own and operate the prostitution rackets, and get fat off the proceeds of dope; they are the ones who wallow in child pornography and own the filthy magazines which are a disgrace to our nation. They were the spiritual father and mother of "hard rock" music. Look at every evil which is destroying America, and somewhere in the background, funding it and promoting it, you will find a Jew. Is this what Thieme means by "cultural and spiritual standards?" It's no wonder our Master said to them: "Ye serpents (snakes), ye generation of vipers (poisonous snakes), how can ye escape the damnation of hell?" It's no wonder He told the Pharisees that each of their converts became "twofold more a child of hell than themselves," (Matthew 23:15.)

One of the most difficult problems for most Bible students and readers, is that they cannot intelligently understand the Book, until they understand the difference between Israelites and Jews.

Before we try and even understand our Bibles, we better get our definitions straightened out.

It is impossible to transfer the promises made to Israel, to another people we call JEWS. We MUST not ascribe statements concerning the JEWS, to a people who are ISRAELITES. To break this rule is to result in mental chaos which will utterly blind the reader to the truth of the Scriptures or to God's purpose for men on this earth. Because men have constantly broken this rule, we see hundreds of different denominations in this country alone, all claiming to have the truth and nothing but the truth. Anyone with any common sense can see the fallacy in this kind of thinking.

There are five classes of Israelites mentioned in the Bible:

1 - THE TEN TRIBED NATION OF ISRAEL - this was the Northern Kingdom of Israel.

2 - THE TWO TRIBED KINGDOM OF JUDAH, known as the Southern Kingdom, which included Benjamin and some of Levi.

3 - THE HOUSE OF DAVID, which was taken out of the Tribe of Judah and set up as a separate entity to rule over Israel forever.

4 - THE FEW JEWS WHO ARE ISRAELITES. (Remember a vast majority of Jews are not.)

5 - SPIRITUAL ISRAEL. That vast army of people, regardless of race, color or social position, who accept Jesus Christ as Savior and King and who have been called by the Spirit of God into Sonship. Paul said in Gal. 3:29 - "If ye be Christ's, then are ye Abraham's seed, and heirs according to the promise. (Some Identity preachers will violently disagree with this, but I believe this is what the Bible teaches.)

THE JEWS OF JUDAH

You may recall that Jacob-Israel has 12 sons and that one of them bore the name of Judah. If all the descendants of Judah had formed themselves into one tribe (which they did not), the Judahites would have had a one-twelfth portion in Israel, and never at any time, all of it, as most of our preachers proclaim when they say: "The Jews are ALL of Israel."

Some of the people we today know as JEWS are descended from Judah, the people we today know as JEWS do not represent "ALL OF JUDAH", only a very small part. Nor do they represent the HOUSE OF JUDAH.

The name JEW is a contraction of the Hebrew word YEIIUDIM, which literally means: "a remnant of Judah," and that is exactly what they represent - those who are actually from this tribe.

But the vast majority of JEWS are not Israelites. Millions of people have been adopted into the Jewish religion. In Esther 8:27, we read where "many people of the land became Jews; for fear of the Jews." The land which was spoken of here, was a vast tract which stretched over 127 provinces from India to Ethiopia, to Asia Minor. None of these people were Jews by blood and none could claim Abraham as kin. You see, just because a person becomes a Jew by religion, does not mean that they are an Israelite, a child of Abraham. Think of such examples as the black singer Sammy Davis, Jr. Would any preacher be so stupid as to say that Davis was an Israelite and thus the son of Abraham? While

Jewish sources say there may be as many as 18- million Jews in the world today, only a tiny minority of them can be classified as Israelites. Many are heathen who have become Jewish proselytes and we have already seen what Jesus said of them, when He told the Pharisees that their converts became "two-fold more a child of hell than themselves," (Matt. 23:15.)

Many Edomites were forced into accepting Judaism, in order to remain in Palestine. This does not make them Israelites.

The Encyclopedia Britannica will tell you that an entire nation of people who lived in the vicinity of the Black Sea in the 8th Century became Jews by adopting this religion. These were Khazars, but this did not make them Israelites. These Jews, the Ashkenazim Jews of today, from which 95% of modern Jewry sprang, had no connection with Israelites of the Land of Palestine. Every leader of the modern Israeli nation has been an ASHKENAZIM JEW, of Khazar ancestry. These people were Turco-Mongolian. Jesus recognized that these people were not genuine Israelites and the Apostle Paul in Titus 1:10-14 warns Christians about these imposters.

Nehemiah makes a careful distinction between the "people" and the "Jews" in Nehemiah 5 and a careful study of Jesus' Parable of the Wheat and the Tares, (Matt. 13:24-30, 36-43, together with His statements in Matthew 23, where He denounces the Pharisees and scribes, seven times calling them "hypocrites, children of hell, children of the devil," shows this. A genuine JEW, if there is such a creature, would racially be an ISRAELITE, because he would have to be descended from Judah. But the JEWS of today ARE NOT JUDAH and they most certainly are "not all of Israel," because most of them are not Israelites at all!

The Jewish convert to Christianity, Benjamin Freedman, who spent much of his adult life fighting Zionism, believed that he was a gentile baby who had been adopted by Jewish parents. He was very high in world of Jewish hierarchy and was the confidant of seven American presidents, and close friends with such Jewish leaders as Bernard Baruch. In his book FACTS ARE FACTS, which is a letter written to a Catholic priest, who had converted from Judaism to Catholicism, he said on p.69: "The Oxford dictionary brings out clearly that JUDAIST and JUDAIC are the correct forms for the improper and incorrectly misused and misleading JEW and JEWISH. JUDAIST, and JUDAIC ARE CORRECT, JEW AND JEWISH are incorrect. They do not belong in the English language if the use of correct words is of interest to English speaking people.

"The SO-CALLED or SELF-STYLED JEWS, cannot truthfully describe themselves as JEWS because they are in a sense JUDEANS. They may correctly identify themselves by their religious belief if they wish, by identifying themselves as JUDAIST. A JUDAIST is a person who professes so called JUDAISM as his religious belief. . . The origin of JEW does not have its roots in JUDAISM. The adjective form of JUDAIST is JUDAIC. JEWISH is an objective and is incorrect, since JEW is a noun.

"Well-planned, well-financed publicity by self-styled JEWS in English speaking countries in the 18th, 19th and 20th Centuries, has created a wide spread acceptance of JEWISH." (UNQ.)

Freedman then goes on in a rather "tongue in cheek" manner to describe all the outlandish uses of the word JEWISH "Jewish rye bread, "a converted Jew bragging of his Jewish blood (I have seen this happen many times - AUTHOR.) "as if he believed JEWISH blood was biologically different from that

of the Catholic which he claims to have become." He then asks this question: "Do you determine race by religious dogma or doctrine?"

He continues: "If a JEWESS is the female for the male JEW; I must admit I have been unable to find female or male designations for any other religion. It has become popular to refer to the Virgin Mary as a JEWESS. But it doesn't make very much sense to me.

"Another word which creates a lot of problems is JUDEOCHRISTIAN . . . it presents a strange combination. Does JUDEO refer to PHARISEEISM or to TALMUDISM? or so-called JUDAISM? This is as unrealistic as to say that something is 'hot-cold'; 'light-heavy'; or 'wet-dry'; 'happy-sad'. These terms are antonyms, not synonyms. Judeo-Christian in the light of incontestible facts is also an antonym (word of opposite meaning,) not a synonym, as self-styled Jews would have Christians believe. It's just more sand for Christian eyes." (UNQ.)

If preachers of the Gospel would spend more time telling their people the truth concerning "personal salvation" and telling them about their responsibility to the "kingdom of God on earth", as they are supposed to do, rather than waste their people's time trying to prove that Judaism and Christianity come from the same source, there would be far fewer confused Christians and we could make much faster headway 'against those who seek to destroy us.

Mr. Freedman goes on to say on p.72: "The word anti-Semitic is another word which should be eliminated from the English language. . . it serves only one purpose today. When self-styled Jews feel that anyone opposes their objectives, they discredit their victims by applying the word 'anti-Semite;' through all channels they have at their command and under their control. (Well over 90% of all the news media, plus TV, radio and Hollywood studios, are owned/and or controlled by Jews. For more information see my book SATAN'S KIDS - AUTHOR.)

"I can speak with authority on this subject, because self-styled Jews were unable to disprove my public statements made in 1946 with regards to the situation in Palestine, they have spent millions of dollars to smear me as an anti-Semite, hoping thereby to discredit me in the eyes of the public who are interested in what I am saying. Until 1944, I was a 'little saint' to these same self-styled Jews, but when I disagreed with them publicly on Palestine, suddenly I became the Number One Anti-Semite in the country.

"It is disgraceful to see Christian clergy take-up the use of the word 'anti-Semite!' (Thieme, in his book ANTI-SEMITISM!, p. 141 says: "One of the worst things that can happen to the believers in the Lord Jesus Christ is for him to become involved in anti-Semitism; it is generally a manifestation of his revisionism [one who andocates a change in doctrine.]" - AUTHOR.

"They should know better. They should know that 'anti-Semitism' is a meaningless word in the sense in which it is used today. The correct word to use would be 'Judeo-phobe'! Anti-Semite is nothing but a smear word, because Semitic is associated with Jesus in the minds of most Christians. Christians have become accessories to the destruction of the Christian faith by tolerating the use of this' smear word; which is used to silence those who would about.

"The Lord hath poured out upon you (Israel) the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets (preachers) and your rulers (politicians), the seers hath He covered . Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honor me, but have removed their

heart far from me. . . Therefore, behold, I will do a marvelous work and a wonder among them: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent (those who take part in the political process) will be hid." - Isaiah 29:10, 13

THE DESCENDANTS OF JUDAH

Before going to Egypt, the TRIBE of Judah was split in two by the birth of twin sons, see Gen. 38:27-30.

In Egypt, Joseph married the daughter of Poti-Pherah, the priest of On (see Gen. 46:20.) Do not be deceived into believing she was an alien, as it was very possible that her father was an Israelite. The reason I say this is that the two sons which were produced by this marriage - Manasseh and Ephraim, were completely accepted by their grandfather, Jacob-Israel, who adopted them. It is highly improbable that Jacob would have given these two boys his blessing if they were sons of an alien. Later, these boys became the heads of two tribes, displacing Joseph (Gen. 48:5.) This made a total of thirteen tribes. Later, Levi was elevated to the position of Civil Service and was not numbered with the rest of Israel, so that once again there were twelve tribes (see Numbers 1 and 26.)

There is extra-Biblical (outside the Bible) evidence, that some of the descendants of Judah left Egypt when the persecution of Exodus 1:8-13 began. At this time, Israel probably numbered about 2-million people. Exodus 1:7 says that they had "increased abundantly and multiplied until the land was filled with them." This of course, was one of the reasons the Pharaoh was afraid of them. (See Ex. 1:8-12.)

It is important for us to understand that in the view of the majority of preachers who teach that "the Jews are ALL of Israel," they refer to the modern JEW as of JUDAH. We also should remember that for 3400 years of history which are recorded in the Bible, there were no people called JEWS anywhere in the world and that today's JEWS are not JUDAHITES.

Judah had five sons, three by a Canaanite woman named Shuah: they were Er, Onan and Shelah (Gen. 38:2-5). The rest of this chapter describes the death of Er and Onan. Shelah later had a son named Er.

Judah's two other sons were born to Tamar, his daughter-in-law, and were twins named Zarah and Pharez. This split the tribe (see Gen. 38:11-30.) The name "Pharez" in Hebrew means "breach or split." An intense rivalry sprang up between these two branches over the Royal Birthright blessings. Zarah had two sons named Calcol and Darder, (see 1 Chron. 2:6.)

From the Pharez branch of the family, there came the line of Jesse, the Father of David and grandfather of Solomon. This was the only branch of the JUDAH family which formed a tribe and remained in Palestine. The other descendants left Egypt and moved to various parts of the world, where they are identified by secular history.

Of the three, son of Judah, Shelah was the, first-born and according to Hebrew custom was entitled to the "birthright" blessings. But he was rejected, in part because of his mother havin g been a Canaanite, which would have contaminated the blood line of the Messiah (see Gen. 24:3, 37; Deut. 7:1-6; 20:16-18.) However, Shelah and his descendants were of JUDAHITE stock. Shelah bore a deep resentment towards his father Judah, because Judah had not kept his word by giving Tamar (a pure blooded Hebrew girl) to him for his wife. This gave Tamar the excuse to "play the prostitute," as told

in Gen. 28. From that time on, there was an unfriendly relationship between the Shelah group and other JUDAHITES.

The majority of the descendants of Shelah and Er left Egypt when the persecution began about 1706 BC and retraced their journey across the Sinai Peninsula to the lands of the Canaanites and Phonecians. Here they inter-married and strengthened the Canaanite strain, which had first entered Hebrew stock through Shuah's daughter. In these foreign lands, they picked up the habits, languages and religions of the Canaanites and Phonecians. The theory has been advanced by some scholars, that from the word "Phonecian", came the word "Fenian," which was later changed to "Sinn-Fein," and was related to Ireland.

Later, somewhere around 1500 B.C. many of the descendants of Shelah-Judah left Palestine on Phonecian ships, migrating to what we today know as Ireland. They traveled through the Mediterranean Sea, through the Straits of Gibraltar (then known as the "Pillars of Hercules") into the Atlantic Ocean and then north along the western sea coast of Europe to the British Isles.

These people called their home "ERIN" or "ER's LAND" after their forefather "ER". Ireland was also known as IRENE or HIBERNIA, the latter word coming from the Hebrew word HEBER or EBER, who was the forefather of all the Hebrews. Thus the word IRELAND, actually means LAND OF THE HEBREWS.

The islands to the north were named HEBERIDES the ISLANDS OF THE HEBREWS. The ancient Irish language was BRSE from ER and was a combination of Hebrew and Phonecian. South Ireland today is called "EIRE."

In 1 Chron. 4:21-23, we find that the descendants of Shelah and ER were skilled workers in fine linen, pottery, plants and hedges. This is a pretty accurate description of modern Ireland which is known world-wide for Irish linen, Behlleh China, and a love for gardening.

The Canaanite infusion of blood may be one of the underlying reasons for the apparent "inborn" and often unexplainable and un-reasonable animosity between Ireland and Britain.

In Numbers 33:55, the Israelites were warned that the Canaanites were to be "pricks in the eyes, and thorns in the flesh of Israel." So while the descendants of Shelah-Judah are alive and well in Ireland today - and while they are of the stock of

JUDAH - THEY MOST CERTAINLY ARE NOT JEWS!

It might be worthwhile if we digress a bit here and go into a further study of this branch of the Judah family. The following remarks, except for those so noted, come from the scholarly book THE PHONECIAN ORIGIN OF BRITONS, SCOTS AND ANGLO-SAXONS, written in 1924 by the eminent author L. A. Waddell, Fellow of the Royal Anthropological Institute of the University of London.

"The most suitable starting point to begin unravelling the tangled skein of history of the lost threads of origin of the Britons, Scots, and Anglo-Saxons, are the fresh clues gained on the grounds of deciphered Phonecian inscriptions found in Britain. (It might be of interest to know that Phonecian inscriptions, from before the time of Christ, have been discovered in various places in the New World - AUTHOR.)

"The chief of these inscriptions, and the first reported in Britain, is covered in a hoary old stone of about 400 B.C. dedicated to Bel, the Phonecian sun god. It was carved by a votary (worshiper) who identified himself by the three titles of Phonecia; Britain, and Scot. This stone preserves the name and titles of a prehistoric, literate Phonecian king who ruled in North Britain.

"This Brit-Phonecian inscription in Britain, records the unequivical (without doubt) Aryan character of the Phonecians.

"These "Khatti" or "CATTI", as they have been called, were pictured as living in this area 2,000 to 3,000 BC. They were tall in stature, wearing snow boots and looking much like the Goths of later times.

"The ruins of their towns and cities can be found scattered throughout the length and breadth of Asia Minor and into Central Europe. These ancient people of Asia Minor were the ruling class known as Hittites. They are referred to in the Old Testament. (See Gen. 5:20; Ex. 3:8; Num. 13:29; Deut. 20:17; Joshua 1:4, etc.)

Mr. Waddell then continues, after a long scientific discussion on archeological proofs, to say that an examination of Phonecian tombs proves that the Phonecians landed in Ireland. He says:

"They were a long-headed race like the Aryans, and totally different racially from the Jews.

"A mass of new historical facts, establishes that King Brut-the-Trojan, arrived in Britain by sea about 1103 BC. The arbitrary rejection of traditional ancient British Chronicles as a source of pre-Roman British history, by modern scholars, is based upon the kind of objection and dogmatic assertion which if applied to the Old Testament, or early Greek and Roman history, would entail their total rejection." (UNQ.)

This is the kind of religious dogmatism which we find in Olinger's statement: "The only support for the legend (that the prophet Jeremiah lived out his life in Britain) are the unreliable CHRONICLES OF IRELAND." (UNQ.) Using this kind of reasoning, there is little doubt, that if Olinger had lived in a much earlier day, he would have been among those who voted the death penalty for those "fools" who said the world was round. They were heretics, you know!

PHAREZ-JUDAH AND ZARAH-JUDAH

The story of the birth of these twins, should be studied carefully by every student of Israel Identity. It can be found in

Genesis 38 and describes the second split in the solidarity of the descendants of Judah.

The Hebrew mid-wife, who was waiting for the birth of the twins, was prepared to mark the firstborn, since it would be he who would normally received the "birthright blessings." (Read Gen. 38:27-30.)

The descendants of Zarah knew they were the "Scarlet Thread Line" (the cord by which the midwife marked the firstborn,) and naturally felt they were entitled to the "birthright blessing," and the privilege of carrying on the family blood-line of the Messiah. But the descendants of Pharez knew their father had been born first. This brought about a breach in the Judah tribe.

In Gen. 49:10, we read where God stated: "The sceptre shall not depart from Judah . . . until Shiloh come." Pharez-Judah thought they should be the rulers; Zarah-Judah were sure they were the ones. But God had His own way of working this mess out.

At about the time when Shelah's descendants were arriving in ancient Ireland, we find that Chacol of the Zarah-Judah line had founded the ancient Irish line of kings, which had been planted in Ulster, hundreds of years before the time of Christ.

Many of DARDA branch of the Zarah-Judahites, left Egypt to settle the DARDA-NELLES and the HEBRUS RIVER in ancient Thrace. This latter branch of Judah, founded the ancient city of Troy, which was destroyed by the DANOI of Greece about 1100 BC. These DANAI were from the Tribe of Dan, which had split into at least three sections, with about a third of them settling in Greece. They were "blood brothers" of those they fought and destroyed in Troy.

Following the destruction of Troy, the Trojan King Brut or "BRIT," migrated with many of his people to an island to the northwest which was named BRIT-AIN, meaning "Covenant man," or "men of the Covenant." In St. Peter's church in Cornhil, London, is a stone monument which commemorates the arrival of the Trojans about 1075 BC. Traces of these same people have been found in Scotland.

While the main body of DARDA-ZARAH-JUDAHITES went to Britain; some of them settled in what is now known as Spain, where they named their land "EBERIA", or "IBERIAM" after their father "EBER." This Hebrew word means "chosen" or "elect." It is also part of what we now call the Iberian Peninsula. They built the city of ZARA-GOSSA, naming it after their forefather "ZARA," on the Elbo River. This city still exists to-day.

It is interesting to note how the Identity critics seek to discount these Israel names which can be found all over Europe. Olinger scornfully says: "They (Identity) point to many European names (Danube, Danmark, London, etc.,) which seem to bear the names of Dan. It should be noted, however, that a "d" or "n" in a name do not necessarily prove that the Tribe of Dan settled this area." (UNQ.) He then uses as an example, the Vietnamese cities of Danang, Dieu Bien Phu and Nam Dinh, "which no one believes were settled by Danites," he concludes:

"Each of the supposed Danite names has a source which in no way is connected with the tribe of Dan. The Danube for instance, gets its name from the Celtic word for River. (Of course, he refuses to accept the Hebrew background' of the Celts -AUTHOR.) "it is a mistake to assume the geography of Europe gives evidence of the lost ten tribes." (UNQ.) You will notice he gives no suggestion as to why these names are found in only certain areas of the world, and these areas are where we say the Children of Israel traveled in their trek to the APPOINTED PLACE.

It is also interesting to note that so-called Bible scholars like Olinger, will accept historical records from Egypt, Assyria and Babylonia, which are thousands of years older than those from Great Britain and Ireland, but refuse to accept the historical records of their own people and call them fairy stories. How sad that so many of our Israel people are inflicted with this same strange malady.

Although many of the descendants of Judah settled in the British Isles, even the unbelieving Bible scholars do not make the mistake of calling them JEWS.

There seems to be a connection in the story of the "Scarlet Thread" of Zarah, and the fact that it is accepted in many customs of the British, even at governmental levels. The Red Thread is woven into every inch of the ropes which are used by the British navy, with the exception of one naval yard where the color is blue. All British official documents are tied with a "red ribbon." All British possessions on their maps are marked in "red." It is also the official color of the Royal Guard, and of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. Could this possibly have some historical significance?

Chapter XX. TWELVE TRIBED ISRAEL

The following information is taken almost "verbatim" from MAN THINKING, by Mervyn T. Judge, of Sydney, Australia, the man from who we have received the inspiration for this book. It can be authenticated in many places and a little honest Bible study will reveal its truth.

Following the Exodus from Egypt under Moses and the forty years of testing in the wilderness of Sinai; during which all the people over the age of forty died, with the exception of Joshua and Caleb (see Numbers 14:22-34.) the tribes composed of a new generation settled down in a long military campaign to conquer the Promised Land and form the United Kingdom of ISRAEL AND JUDAH under King David. (2 Sam. 5:5-12.)

Immediately following the Exodus, the population of Israel was given in the first chapter of Numbers. The males of 20 years and upward, all who were able to go to war, were 603,550, plus 22,000 Levites. Therefore counting women and children, we can logically believe there were at least 3million Israelites in this area.

The population at the end of 40 years of wandering in the desert had dropped a bit, for the new generation according to Numbers 26, was 601,730, plus 23,000 Levites. (There is no indication that this number was men only.)

This census took place about 1451 BC, but by the time of King David, some 400 years later, the total military force of Israel was listed as 1,100,000, while those of Judah were 500,000. If we were to multiply that by five, the size of the average family, we would have an Israelite population of close to eight million, not including the tribe of Benjamin and the Levites. It would be reasonable to say that there were close to 9-million Israelites alive at this time, in the land of Palestine. (KEEP IN MIND THAT THESE WERE NOT JEWS, SINCE THE NAME WAS NOT EVEN KNOWN UNTIL SEVERAL HUNDREDS OF YEARS LATER ABOUT 742 BC.) This does not take into account the large number of Israelites who had fled from Egypt and who lived on the shores of the Mediterranean Sea, in Asia Minor, and in the British Isles. Most Bible scholars never take this into account, although they know that all the peoples of the world, have at some time or other, moved outside the boundaries of their homeland.

A close study of your Bible and of secular history will reveal two Israel trees growing. One was in Palestine and the other in Europe and the British Isles. At this time, which was about 1,000 BC, we find this breakdown:

1 - IN PALESTINE - Jacob's family of Simeon, Napthali, Issachar, Asshur, Zebulon, Dan, Ephraim, Manasseh, Gad, Reuben, Judah, and Benjamin. There were also some Ishmaelite Arabs who were of Abraham's blood, but who were not Israelites.

2 - IN THE BRITISH ISLES - we find the descendants of Shelah, the Danaans and Trojans who settled in Hibernia and Britain about 1075 BC.

Both of these trees were rooted in Shem; each had a priestly order of Levites working among them; each had a king from the tribe of Judah reigning over them. About 975 B.C. Rehoboam, the son of Solomon became king on the death of his father and the nation was immediately split over the issue of the exorbitant taxation Solomon had imposed to build the temple and his ps bee in Jerusalem.

God used this trouble to split the nation of Israel. When Rehoboam assembled an army of 180,000 men to fight against Northern Israel, a prophet warned JUDAH: "Ye shall not go up, nor fight against your brethren, the children of Israel; return every man to his house: FOR THIS THING IS FROM ME." (Emphasis mine. 1 Kings 12:21-24.)

At this time, the two kingdoms became known as the House of Israel and the House of Judah.

Owing to the gross disobedience and awful idolatry on the part of both kingdoms, the punishment clauses of Leviticus 26 became operative and both Israel and Judah were sent into punishment and correction for a period of 2520 years. Both kingdoms became completely broken and the people were deported into Assyria and Babylonia.

It was at this time, that the transplanting of the "Tender Twig" of the Royal House of David, took place between Palestine and Ireland, via Egypt. Ezekiel 17:22, 23, says: "Thus saith the Lord God, I will also take of the highest branch of the high cedar, and will set it; I will crop off from the top of his young twigs a tender one, and will plant it upon an high mountain and eminent. In the mountain of the height of Israel will I plant it." (It might be interesting to note here, that the word "mountain" as used in the Old Testament, often refers to "nation.")

Following the Assyrian invasion, the Israel olive tree was broken. The ten tribes in the North had been deported to Assyria, and all that remained were the tribes of Judah and Benjamin, with some of the Levites, with King Zedekiah of the House of David, ruling over them from Jerusalem.

Then in 2 Kings 18:13, we have the account of how Sennacherib of Assyria invaded the southern kingdom, capturing and deporting most of the Judah people to Assyria. At this time, they captured 46 fortified cities and deported 200,150 of the men of Judah. Thus we find that the main body of the Israelites went into Assryian captivity, leaving only a relatively small number of the House of David in Jerusalem. By 713 BC only a small remnant of the once powerful nation of Israel remained in Palestine.

About 100 years, later, Nebuchadnezzer, came to Palestine and found the remnants of the two tribes, the YEHUDIM. He captured Jerusalem after a long siege in 604 BC and made it part of the Babylonian Empire. He deported all the important people to Babylon, leaving only the very poorest rest behind. :The Israel olive tree had: almost ceased to exist in Palestine at this point.

Following the destruction and burning of the temple in 585 BC and the complete destruction of Jerusalem, Jeremiah escaped to Egypt with king Zedekiah's daughters (Jer. 43:5-17) and Israel ceased to exist in Palestine.

In the meantime, the main body of Judah and Israel, living in exile in Assryia, took advantage of the wars which were then raging between Assyria and Babylonia, which resulted in Nebuchadnezzer setting up his world empire. During this period Israel in Assyria regained their freedom and commenced their long trek to the north and west, through the Pass in the Caucasus Mountains, known then as "the Pass of Israel," and into Europe. This is recorded in the historical book of 2 Esdras 13:39-48, which is not accepted by the church crowd as authentic history. (I believe because it contradicts some of their pet theories.) While in Assyria, the Bible account comes to a strange and mysterious close.

But historians, and ethnologists (those who study the divisions of races) pick them up in history. There is no gap for the earnest searcher of truth, in spite of the deliberate road-blocks which have been thrown up by organized religion. There are many writers who confirm this, men like Turner, Huxley, Rawlinson, Hannay, Sir A. Keith, as well as ancient writers such as Diodorous, Herodotus, Homer, Josephus and Strabo. They link the Israelites of Assyria with those who were then known as "Sons of Sac," or "Sacae" and tie them in with the modern Anglo-Saxons.

More than a thousand monuments and gravestones have been discovered across Europe which show inscriptions telling of the migrations of the Israel people across Europe. Men like Olinger and Van Impe, refuse to accept these proofs, because they know they will be revealed as having been wrong in their theology. This they refuse to accept!

While there is some evidence that portions of the tribes of Reuben, Gad and Manasseh went as far east as China and possibly Japan, and main body traveled north and west, as the prophets had prophesied, moving from the shores of the Black and Caspian Seas; stopping and settling for a while, then moving on; leaving a colony here and there, but drawn ever westward by some irresistible force towards the APPOINTED PLACE of 2 Samuel 7:10. Pockets of Israelites can still be found in every European country.

As they moved, their name and language changed. They were known as Saka, Sajoi, Sacae, Sakasuna, Kumri, all meaning "Sons of Isaac." They eventually reached the British Isles and became known as Angles; Saxons; Jutes; Danes; Celts; Frisians and Normans. They located themselves among the descendants of the Israel people who had arrived in the British Isles, hundreds of years before. They grafted themselves into the Israel Olive Tree (read Romans 11, with this in mind and see if it doesn't give this marvelous chapter a great deal more sense than what we have been taught by our pastors.) These people were of all one common stock. Historians such as Sharon Turner and Gibbons say they are "all of one stock." Prof. Huxley, in his book RACIAL ORIGINS, says: "The invasion of the Saxons, Goths, Danes and the Normans changed the language of Britain, but added no new physical elements. Therefore we should talk no more of Celts and Saxons, for they are all one blood. I never lose an opportunity of rooting up the false idea that the Celts and Saxons are of different races." (UNQ.)

Prof. Freeman, in his ORIGIN OF THE ENGLISH NATION, says: "Tribe after tribe, Angles, Saxons, Jutes, Frisians, poured across the sea to make new homes in the British Isles. Thus grew the British nation. . . a nation formed of the union of various tribes of the same racial stock. The Dane hardly needed assimilation; he was another kindred tribe, coming later than the others. Even the Norsemen were kindred." (UNQ.)

Edwin Guest, L.L.D. said: "The Scots were descended from the Scythae and they came to Ireland from Spain." (UNQ.)

Alexander del Mar, in his book ANCIENT BRITAIN REVISITED says: "Picts was the name of a tribe of Gotha. Scythians, Scutes and Scots are one word and mean one people." (UNQ.)

The Saxons therefore derived their name from "SACAF", meaning "Sons of Sak," or "Isaac's sons," (Gen. 21:12.) Romans 9:7 tells us that the Israelites would not be named after Israel, but "In Isaac shall thy seed be called."

These eminent writers, and many more blow to "smithereens" the scoffings of the Israel-Identity critics who say: "not a single scholar . . . anywhere . . . absolutely no one . . . puts their name to it."

Chapter XXI. THE NATION OF THE JEWS

After seventy years of Babylonian captivity (Jer. 25:11, 12; 29:10), a remnant of the Southern kingdom of Judah returned to Jerusalem and established what became known later as the "Nation of the Jews." It is well for us to remember, that this nation of Jews was not the House of Judah or the House of David, even though they occupied the land of Judea. There had been a great intermingling in Babylon, not only of blood lines, for which Ezra and Nehemiah literally tore their hair out, but in intermingling of the Hebrew religion with that of the Babylonian occult religions. What emerged was JUDAISM, or more honestly TALMUDIC JUDAISM. This new religion was a "man made" religion, substituting the traditions of men, for the Law of God. (See Jesus condemnation of the Pharisees in Mark 7:7.) Many of the Pharises were not Israelites by blood (see Esther 8:17.) Less than 49,000 returned (Ezra 2:64 and Nehemiah 7:66) and there was a distinction made between "the people" and "the Jews." While they were apparently JEWS by religion, most of them were not racial Israelites.

Many had inter-married with the descendants of Ham; Canaanites; Hittites; Amlekites, etc., (Ezra 9.) They claimed that the entire land belonged to them. Their fore-fathers had made the same claim in 594 B.C. when they said to the Israelites: "Get you from the land; unto us is this land given in possession," (Ezekiel 11:15). This is the same thing that their descendants are saying to the Arab people today. Only today they say: "We have an inalienable right to this land, from God." This is pure "hogwash!" But they have been so clever in their claims, that they have fooled the majority of our Christian ministers into backing them, even though they "hate our guts."

A short study of Jeremiah 24 will reveal the difference between the "good" and "bad" figs of Judah. The good figs were removed and many of them merged with the Israelites in their journey across Europe and many eventually accepted Christ as their Savior and Messiah. But they were not the Jews of today. The "bad Jews" were the one's who were in Jerusalem when our Lord was on earth and who taunted and ultimately killed Him. These became a curse to every nation where they ever stopped, on their never ending wanderings. They were the one's Christ spoke to in Matthew 21:43, when He said: "The kingdom of God shall be taken from you, and given to a nation (not a church) bringing forth the fruits thereof."

The misunderstanding and mis-application of the term JEW, as used today is responsible for much of the confusion that results from a national and personal application of Scripture and the understanding of Biblical prophecy.

In 2 Kings 16:6, where the Jews are mentioned for the first time in the Scriptures, we find them fighting against Israel.

As I syse mentioned frequently before, the cry of "anti-Semite" is ridiculous since the Semitic people have often fought with themselves down through the ages. it is improper to call those who are Semites, "anti-Semitic," although in truth, the Jews of today are the greatest anti-Semites of all ages, since they are persecuting the Arabs who are the true children of Abraham, while they are imposters.

People are not anti-Jewish because the Jew is Semitic (which he is usually not; for the majority of the Jews are Asiatic by blood and background), but because of Jewish behavior brought about through the teachings of their religious book the BABYLONIAN TALMUD. We should never consider the word

JEW in either a racial or a religious sense. There are all four races found among the Jews and there are great divisions found, as far as their religious tenets are concerned. You will find no Jews today who conform to the Old Testament. There is no blood shed for the remission of sins, as was taught in (Lev. 17:11; Heb. 9:22.) Some even teach that they do not sin; others state that they can atone for their sins by doing good and possibly 75% or more are either agnostic or outright atheists.

The vast majority of present day Jewry is made up of Jews from Eastern Europe, the ASHKENAZI JEWS who were known in the 8th Century AD as Khazars and who converted to Judaism, from heathen worship, en masse. They have no Abrahamic blood in their veins and their ancestors never lived in Palestine. All the major leaders of the Israeli from 1948 on, have been Ashkenazi Jews. The Khazars were Japhethic people and were neither Semites or Hebrews. The American taxpayers have been spending millions of dollars every year, to resettle these Russian Jews in the United States and to teach them Hebrew. (For an interesting and educational look at these people, read THE THIRTEENTH TRIBE, written by the Jewish writer, Arthur Kosetler.)

On p.17 of this book he says: "The large majority of Jews after World War II in the world, were of Eastern origin - and thus perhaps mainly of Khazar origin. If so, this would mean that their ancestors came not from the Jordan, but from the Volga; not from Canaan but from the Caucausus, once believed to be the cradle of the Aryan race. Genetically, they are more closely related to the Hun, Uigur and Magyar tribes than to the seed of Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob. Should' this turn out to be the case, then the term anti-Semitic would be void of meaning, based on a misapprehension shared by both killers and victims. The story of the Khazar E'mpire, as it slowly emerges from the past, begins to look like the most cruel hoax which history has ever perpetrated." (UNQ.)

Prof. A. N. Poliak, Professor of Medieval Jewish History at Tel Aviv University, published his book KHAZARIA in 1944, he says: "The descendants of this settlement (Khazars in Eastern Europe) - those who stayed there and those who emigrated to the United States, or went to Israel - constitute the largest majority of world Jewry." (UNQ.)

Koestler closes his book with this statement: "It is perhaps symbolic that Abram Poliak, who was a Jewish patriot, made a major contribution to our knowledge of Jewry's Khazar ancestry, UNDERMINING THE LEGEND OF THE CHOSEN PEOPLE." (UNQ.) (Emphasis mine.)

It would be well for every Christian to remember that the word JEW has four distinct meanings in the Scriptures:

1 - A DESCENDANT OF JUDAH - an ethnic designation. These are a tiny minority among Jewry.

2 - A REMNANT - of those who went into Babylonian captivity and returned under Ezra and Nehemiah to rebuild Jerusalem.

3 - AN INHABITANT OF JUDEA - a geographical designation.

4 - A PERSON WHO FOLLOWS THE TALMUDIC RELIGION OF JUDAISM - These can be of any race. They developed a corrupt religion in Jerusalem, (see 2 Kings 17:32-34) - "So they feared the Lord, and made unto themselves of the lowest of them priests of the high places, which sacrificed for them in the houses of the high places. They feared the Lord (doesn't say they served Him) and served their own gods, AFTER THE MANNER OF THE NATIONS WHOM THEY CARRIED AWAY FROM THENCE. Unto this day they do after the former manner: they fear not the Lord, neither do they after their statutes, or after their ordinances, or after the law and commandment which the Lord commanded the children of Jacob, whom He named Israel." This is a perfect word description of TALMUDIC JUDAISM. For a New Testament description of them, read 1 John 2:22, 23. Isaiah 29:13 says of them: "... they have removed their heart far from me, and their fear towards me is taught by the precepts of men." Jesus said of them in Mark 7:13 - "Making the word of God of non-effect through your traditions ..."

The destiny of the two categories of Jews, the "good" and "bad" figs can be found in Jer. 24-29. The good Hebrews went into Chaldean captivity where God gave them a new heart to serve Him, while the "bad Jews", who were rotten, were never absorbed or assimilated with other nationalities or cultures, but were always able to maintain their "identity as an evil people." In Mal. 1:4, they are called "... the border of wickedness, and, the people against whom the Lord hath indignation forever." These people would be driven through all nations and would become a "taunt and a curse" wherever they went. Here is what Jeremiah 8:3 says about them: "And death shall be chosen rather than life by ALL THE RESIDUE OF THIS EVIL FAMILY, which remain in all the places whither I have driven them, saith the Lord of hosts."

In the 10th Chapter of John's Gospel, we find Jesus delivering a very important message concerning the "sheep of the house of Israel." (See also Matt. 15:24.) Then in John 10:26, He clarifies this by telling the Jewish religious leaders in very clear terms: "But ye believe not, BECAUSE YE ARE NOT OF MY SHEEP. ." Those of Judah and Israel "the whole house of Israel," would follow Him. This is one reason most of His earthly ministry was not in Judea, but in Galilee to the north, where most of the Israel people, such as Lazarus, Mary and Martha lived. In the John 10 discussion, Jesus is using the example of a shepherd and his sheep. In verse 4 He explains how He goes before his sheep and they follow Him because they know His voice. He indicates by His words in vs. 16, I believe, that there will be members of His fold who will not be Israelites: "Other sheep I have, which are not of this fold; them also I must bring, and they shall hear my voice; and there shall be one fold, and one shepherd." Then in vs. 19 we find there was a "division therefore again among the Jews (Judeans) for these sayings." The ones who believed Him, like Joseph of Arimathea, were evidently Israelites and those who did not were of Jewry, the Edomite crowd. These were the "fake JEWS (Judeans) who dragged Him to trial and were responsible for His death, the same crowd that tried to kill Him when He was a baby in Bethlehem. Remember, Herod was an Edomite. These people expelled believers from their synagogues John 9:22, and were the "fake chosen" who tried to kill Him in John 10:31. These are the same one's who have retained their devil's religion (Talmudic Phariseeism) until this day. (See John 8:42-47; Acts 13:45.)

In Jesus time, these Jews had already nullified the word of God through their heathen traditions (Matt. 15:9) - "In vain do they (Jews) worship me (God), teaching for doctrines the commandments of men." The Jewish rabbis who wrote the Talmud said that God consulted them, when He had a decision to make. It was natural that they would reject the Son of God made flesh, (John 1:14.) They had to, in order to maintain their devil's religion.

When they were backed up against the wall in John 19:15 and had to make a decision, these "so-called Jews" asserted: "We have no king but Caesar." If they had been true Israelites, they would have accepted Him as Nathaniel did in John 1:47-49. (See also 43:15, 21; Isa. 44:8.)

In 21:41, where Jesus had just finished telling the Parable of the Nobleman, the Jewish leaders passed judgment on themselves, when they answered His question regarding what the nobleman should do to those rebels who refused to accept the king. They said: "He (Christ) will miserably destroy those wicked men, and will let out His vineyard (Kingdom) unto other husbandmen, which shall render him the fruits in their season." They knew who He was; they recognized Him as such and they knew they were the evil, deceitful husbandmen who were about to kill the King's Son and heir.

Titus 1:13; 14; 1 Timothy 1:4; 4:7; Acts 3:23 and 2 Peter 1:16, all substantiate my claim that JUDAISM was and still is, a false religion. According to Jewish authorities today. the JUDAISM of today, is the PHARISEEISM of the time of Jesus, unchanged. The Prophet Isaiah predicted that the name of the JEWS would be left as a curse to true Israel and that even their facial characteristics would be such that it would be a witness against them: "And ye (JUDAH) shall leave your name for a curse unto my chosen (Israel); for the Lord God shall slay thee (compare with Luke 19:27) and CALL HIS SERVANTS BY ANOTHER NAME (Christian.)" In 3:9, Isaiah said: "The show of their countenance doth witness against them; and they declare their sin as Sodom, they hide it not . . ." The Jew is proud of his evil works, he brags about his control of the abortion clinics, the liquor and dope industry, his control of prostitution and pornography.

In 1 Thess. 2:14, 15 we find the Apostle Paul condemning the Jewish pattern of behavior and in verse 15 saying: "They please not God and are contrary to ALL men."

It is interesting to note, that God will use the heathen nations of the world, who are not really free agents, since they operate under his control, for the purpose of chastising His people Israel. These heathen will be sent against a hypocritical people whose motto is "In God we trust!" and who sing about Christ being their King, and who put huge signs which proclaim: "JESUS IS LORD OF THIS CITY!" while the city council votes for equal rights for Sodomites and the people tolerate abortion clinics in the city limits, and filthy, Jew produced films in their theatres. This chastisement will be used to cleanse our Israel people and it will be harsh. We have brought it on ourselves. The present troubles in America, are Christian-Israel made. We are responsible for them, not the Jews, not the aliens who have poured across our borders, but ISRAELITES. Read carefully Isaiah 10:5, 6 and see how Assyria was used to discipline Israel. Notice what will happen to Israel when they repent and turn to their God (Isaiah 54:14 - "In righteousness shalt thou be established; thou shalt be far from oppression; for thou shalt not fear: and from terror; for it shall not come nigh thee." Then a furtherance of this promise is vs. 17 - "No weapon that is formed against thee shall prosper; and every tongue that shall rise against thee in judgment thou shalt condemn (Hebrew - "rasha" meaning: "to declare wrong.") This is the heritage of the servants of the Lord (Israel), and their righteousness is in me saith the Lord." Isa. 60:3 predicts that "... the Gentiles (nations of the world) shall come to thy light, and kings to the brightness of thy rising." Isaiah 61:9 "And their (Israel's) seed shall be known among the Gentiles (nations or people), and their offspring among the people: all that see them (Israel) shall acknowledge them, that they are the seed which the Lord hath blessed." This was true of America, a few years ago, when Americans were welcomed around the world and when we were looked up to as an example for others. Now, because of Israel's backsliding, we are the "laughing stock" of these same people and will become their "door mats," unless we return to our God in repentance.

These promises, and many others, were made to "true Israel," they were never made to the "bad figs" that are called JEWS. In fact Jesus said of the "bad fig tree" in Matthew 21:19 - "Let no fruit grow on thee henceforth FOREVER." (Emphasis added.)

In 2 Chron. 6:16, "true Israel" is called the "Temple of God," while in Rev. 2:9; 3:9, the "false JEW" is called "the synagogue of Satan."

Most of our evangelical and fundamentalist theologians assume that the modern Jews are JUDAH; they assume that one day they will all be saved when they accept Christ as their Messiah and that 144,000 of them will assume an evangelistic role and go out into a world, where the Holy Spirit has been withdrawn, and save multitudes. Yet these same preachers say that people cannot be saved without the wooing of the Holy Spirit. How contradictory they are! For the most part, these men have completely lost sight of true Israel; those who disappeared into Assyrian captivity and were finally brought to their APPOINTED PLACE IN THE NEW WORLD.

Let me digress for a few paragraphs, to show you how we know America is the APPOINTED PLACE of 2 Samuel 7:10. There are a few Scriptural clues that are never used by the Identity detractors. Isaiah 41:18-20 gives a description of this new land. "I will open rivers in high places, and fountains in the midst of valleys: I will make the wilderness a pool of water, and the dry land springs of water." This has been done in Palestine on a small scale. But our detractors never want to look at America and see what God hath wrought here. Go to southern California and Arizona, look at areas which a few years ago were nothing but desert and see how they are now producing the food which feeds the world. Vs. 19 - "I (God) will plant in the wilderness the cedar, the shittah tree, and the myrtle, and the oil tree; I will set in the desert the fir tree, and the pine, and the box tree together." Note the type of trees which will be found in this wilderness area. The "oil tree" which Strong's Concordance (8081) says is the "pine;" "the fir tree, with the cypress", (1265) and most interesting of all, the "box" tree (8391). Why is this of interest? Because there are only two places in the world where these trees grow. In Lebanon, where they are almost extinct, and on the west coast of the United States, where our "giant redwood - identical to the "Cedars of Lebanon" were planted by God, for His people, some over 5,000 years ago. It staggers the imagination.

Isaiah took great delight in describing this APPOINTED PLACE that God would give to His Israel people. In his short, but extremely interesting 18th chapter, he describes this country. This is a chapter that most of our preachers bypass, because they cannot explain it. It tells us about a land lying to the west of Palestine, beyond the "rivers of Ethiopia" (Nile River). It was a land which would be literally covered with "buzzing wings." There is hardly a moment, day or night, when the skies of America and Canada are not covered by crossing airplanes.

Secondly, note that this country would send their ambassadors abroad, not in "vessels of reeds" mentioned in your King James Version (whoever heard of any nation, let alone a mighty one, who would send her representatives across the seas in such flimsy vessels?) The correct translation of this should have been "water drinking vessels," where they came up with the idea of ships made of papyrus, is anyone's guess. It just doesn't make sense. Until this century, when the airplane became the major source of overseas travels, the steam ship was the means by which our officials traveled. The Ferrer-Fenton Bible, which is translated directly from Hebrew says. "Who on the face of the seas sends its letters by agents (ambassadors.)"
The location of the country Isaiah speaks about is somewhere west of Palestine. If you go due west from Jerusalem, you would cross the mouth of the Nile River in the vicinity of Alexandria, Egypt. Continue west and you would cross Libya, Tunisia and Morocco, then the Atlantic Ocean and finally, if you went far enough, you would arrive in the heartlands of America, somewhere in the vicinity of Atlanta, Georgia.

This nation of people, living in a land which had once been a wilderness, was to be a people who had been "terrible from their beginning." Ferrer-Fenton says: "A terrible race in its Past and its Future." The word "terrible" as used in the King James Version is the Hebrew word "yare" which means: "to revere; put in fear of; frighten." Up until the last thirty years or so, the United States of America, from her official beginning in 1776, had been an undefeated nation, admired and feared, or revered by everyone, friend and foe alike. While we were still babies, we defeated the most powerful military machine on earth, the mighty British Empire. We defeated the Mediterranean pirates which had caused proud England to pay them tribute; we defeated mighty Spain and stopped her dream of becoming a world empire. Then we fought two world wars, where it was our military and industrial might, along with the help of our God, that caused us to be victorious. We have been a "terrible" awe inspiring people from our inception in every meaning of the word. This is why what we see happening in foreign policy today is so shocking, as we see the "statesmanship of America, being replaced by chicken-ship." Yet even today, if America were to assemble her military might for conflict, the whole world, even mighty Russia, would hesitate to attack us.

Isaiah went into a great deal of detail in describing this country. Since it did not exist at that time and would not for some 2500 years, he had to use words which he and his readers would understand. He said this land would be "meted out and trodden down."

The Hebrew word for "trodden down" literally means "to walk over." The United States is the only country in the world which has been completely surveyed north to south, east to west. This was done by the U.S. Metes and Bounds Act in the early 1800's. All of America's lands have been literally laid out by compass until we are a "nation measured out by lines underfoot."

There is no other great nation on earth that is divided by rivers such as ours. The mighty Mississippi divides us east from west; the eastern portion is further divided by such rivers as the Ohio, the Tennessee. To the west, our country is divided by the Columbia, the Missouri, the Arkansas, and the Colorado Rivers. So when you hear your pastor say "There is no such nation like the United States mentioned in Scripture," you know he is either lying to you or is a very poor Bible scholar.

The teaching by most of our pastors that Israel will return to Palestine, is a violation of 1 Chronicles 17:9, where it says that "Israel will never move from this APPOINTED PLACE." The Lord informed David that his people would, sometime in the future, be moved to a land of rivers and mountains (see Ezekiel 34:12-14.) and would be moved no more. Present day Palestine, and even all the lands which were promised to Abraham in the Middle East, could not possibly contain all the Israel people and cannot be considered as a land of rivers. In Acts 26:7, where the Apostle Paul says the twelve tribes were "serving God day and night," the Jews were teaching at this time that the ten so-called "lost tribes" had no part in Israel and they were the accusers of the Christians who were the "true Israelites."

According to the teaching of the Apostle John, in 1 John 2:22, 23, the Jews are "anti-Christs" and according to 2 John 7-11, if we help or assist them in any way, we then "become partakers in their evil deeds." Don't get angry with me, church folks, I didn't write that, it comes from the inspired apostle. In Rev. 2:9, our risen Savior speaks of these Jewish apostates as "those who say they are JEWS (Judeans) and are not, but are of the synagogue of satan," which ties in directly with His denunciation of them in John 8:44.

Time and time again, erroneous interpretations of the Scriptures, mostly brought about through Jewish pressure, has resulted in false assumptions. One of these is the "Rapture Doctrine" which is based on a few verses which are taken completely out of context and which contradict others. Whenever you find a doctrine that contradicts some portions of Scripture, you know you are looking at a false doctrine. To name a few: (Psalms 37:9, 10), which indicate that the wicked shall be taken away and the righteous shall inherit the earth - no rapture here. Vs. 29 says: "The righteous shall inherit the earth, and dwell therein forever." Nothing said about dwelling forever in a nebulous place called "heaven." In vs. 34, we are told that the righteous shall inherit the land and shall see the wicked as they are "cut off." I believe this. I believe that God will keep His people through the terrible days of the tribulation and as this verse and many others teach, we shall see the destruction of God's enemies. Proverbs 2:22 tells us that the "wicked shall be cut off from the earth . . "If there is any kind of "rapture" (which means "catching away") it will be of the wicked, not the righteous. Proverbs 10:30 says: "The righteous shall never be removed: but the wicked shall not inherit the earth." Read also Christ's Parable of the Wheat and Tares and His explanation of it in Matthew 13:36-43. The wicked are the ones who are removed and the righteous remain to "shine forth as the sun in the (earthly) Kingdom of their Father . .

In 1 Thessalonians 4:17, where it states: "then we which are alive and remain, shall be caught up together with them (the righteous dead who have been raised) in the clouds, (the word "remain" means: "To be a part not taken or destroyed"). This indicates to me that the wicked will already have been removed at this time. The clouds mentioned here signify the multitude of the heavenly host which will accompany our Lord on His return. Jude 14 says He will return with ten thousands of His saints. If we take this literally, it means 10-million of them. The word "air" does not refer to the heavens, but the breathable atmosphere. Paul was merely telling Christians that the dead in Christ would be resurrected first. They will be called forth from the grave, wherever they may be and will be given glorified bodies, like unto Christ's. Then the Christians who are still alive at His return, will also go through this change, instantaneously and will join the vast host of heaven in the earth's atmosphere. We shall then forever be with the Lord on this earth. In Rev. 5:9, 10 we read: "... and redeemed us to God by thy blood, out of every kindred, and tongue, and people, and nation. And hast made us unto God, kings and priests: AND WE SHALL REIGN ON THE EARTH." How can this be any plainer?

Since every doctrine, principle and interpretation MUST be consistent with, and proven by two or more Scriptures, it must be established in the Old Testament and confirmed in the New (see Matthew 18:16; John 5:31, 32.) The Apostle Paul does not contradict Old Testament teachings, even though there are some in Identity who teach this; he confirmed them. Not one verse may contradict another, or all will fall.

The JUDAIZERS know this and so through their false teachings, they have neutralized potential "soldiers of the King," and changed them into "prostitutes of the devil."

The Apostle Paul was not a JEW by blood, although most preachers will tell you he was. He was a Semite, because he was descended from Shem. He was a Hebrew, because he was a descendant of Eber, through Benjamin. He was an Israelite because Benjamin was of Israel. He was a Roman citizen (Acts 22:25-27.) He was a JEW, only through mistaken belief (Acts 21:39). He was a PHARISEE, by political affiliation (see Phil. 3:5) and he became a Christian by being born again. In spite of the misuse of the word JEW in the King James version, Paul was NOT a JEW by blood.

God never made any covenant with a people called JEWS. I dare you to attempt to prove this! Please don't use the old discredited ploy of saying that the word JEW and ISRAELITE mean the same thing, since they do not!

The New Covenant was dedicated by the blood of Jesus (Matt. 26:28; 1 Cor. 11:25; Heb. 9:12.) He was to be the "Mediator" of the New Testament (Covenant) and it was to become effective on His death (Heb. 9:15-17.) God promised that He would put His law and His Spirit in the minds of true Israelites (both of Israel and Judah.) He never mentioned doing this to anyone called JEWS. (See Isa. 59:21; 61:9; 62:12; Heb. 8:6-10.) At Pentecost, representatives of all the Israel tribes were present in Jerusalem, (James 1:1; 1 Peter 1:1) when God sealed the New Covenant with His presence through the Holy Spirit, (Acts 2:1-4.)

The House of Israel began to recognize their Messiah and the Jews, who were not of Israel have rejected Him to this day. They still remain in their apostate religion (Mark 7:7-13). They persecuted those Israelites who had undergone the "born from above" experience of John 3:3, and who were now called Christian (Acts 11:26.) They have hated them and plotted there destruction ever since. The teaching that the Jews are God's chosen people, is therefore "blasphemy."

The Jews are not going to be saved as a nation and return to the Holy Land in Palestine. They are not going to accept Jesus Christ as their Messiah, en masse. They will increase their opposition to our Lord and His church and will persecute true Israelite Christians in their synagogues during these LATTER DAYS, (see Luke 22:12.) This will continue until the time of God's harvest, shown in Matthew 13:37-43 when the Son of God, will send His angels to remove the "children of the wicked one," (compare with John 8:44) and utterly destroy them (Luke 19:27).

Moses and the children of Israel were not JEWS, they were Old Testament Christians, even though that name was unknown at the time. 1 Cor. 10:1 says. ". . . our fathers were under the cloud, and all passed through the sea; and were all baptized unto Moses in the cloud and in the sea; and did all eat the same spiritual meat; and did all drink the same spiritual drink: for they drank of that spiritual Rock that followed them: and THAT ROCK WAS CHRIST." (Emphasis added.)

Hebrews 11:26 indicates that Moses was a Christian, for he "esteemed the reproach of Christ greater riches than the treasures of Egypt; for he had respect to the recompense of the reward."

1 Peter 1:11 indicates that the Old Testament prophets were Christians for they were "Searching what, or what manner of time the Spirit of Christ which was in them did signify, when it testified beforehand the sufferings of Christ, and the glory that should follow." They were saved in the same manner that Israelites and others are saved today, (see Acts 4:12.)

There should really be no such date as B.C. (Before Christ) or A.D. (after Christ), since He has always existed and was the creator of all things. (See John 1:3; Eph. 3:9; Col. 1:16; Heb. 1:2.)

Simply knowing that we are Israelites is not enough. Too often Identity Christians have become "puffed up," with self-importance when all they can see is their Abrahamic ancestry. In this respect, Olinger spoke some truth when he said: "Identity seems to act as a 'rabbit trail' to divert Christians from the main business at hand. It is not correct, really, to call Identity a cult, or a heresy, since they do not deny any of the major doctrines or fundamentals of the faith. But Identity Christians often spend more time trying to convert fellow Christians to Identity, rather than trying to save the lost. Many study the Bible only to prove their preconceived ideas about Identity. (I wonder how he characterizes fundamentalists who do the same thing to prove their doctrines? - AUTHOR), not to find principles by which they can become more Christ like . . . while a person may be saved and believe in Identity, the chances are he will not be a victorious Christian."

Now much of what Olinger says here is true. I personally have met Identity believers who I seriously doubt were "saved." "By their fruits shall ye know them." (A man who cannot talk without using filthy language; who is drunk a good share of the time and takes delight in telling shady stories, is not my idea of what a Christian should be.) These people have become so "puffed up" with self-importance in their knowledge that they are "seed of Abraham," that this is all that matters to them. They have become so legalistic in their interpretation of the Scriptures, like what is the proper name to use for Jesus and God; what day is the proper day to worship; should we still observe the Feast Days, etc., that this is all that matters to them. John the Baptist warned us against unseemly "ethnic pride" in Matthew 3:9, when he told the Jews: "And think not to say within yourselves, we have Abraham to our father: for I say unto you, that God is able of these stones to raise up children unto Abraham." The knowledge that we are Israelites, should be a mighty humbling experience, for with it, if we are honest, we will see just how far short we have fallen of God's desire for us.

It is rather interesting to note that orthodox Jews do not claim to be Israel. The Rev. Merton Smith, of London, wrote the Chief Rabbi in London in 1918, asking him the following questions: The answer came from the Rabbi's office under the date of Nov. 18, 1918.

Q - "Are the people known as Jews throughout the world. the descendants of Judah and Levi, or is there a known admixture of other tribes?

A - "The people known as Jews came from the Tribes of Judah and Benjamin, with some descendants of Levi." (We know this is only a very small minority, so this answer is evasive.)

Q - If so, what portion, and what authority is there for saying so?

A - "As far as is known, there is no further admixture of tribes." (To give the lie to this, look at Esther 8:17.)

Q - If not, what has become of the other tribes. Where according to your knowledge are they?

A - The ten tribes have been absorbed among the nations of the world.

Q - "If this is unknown, where were they when Judah lost knowledge of them? Does Orthodox Jewry still look for the recovery of these tribes at some later date?"

A - "We look forward to the gathering of all the tribes at some latter date."

But Jewish orthodoxy says: "The ten Tribes HAVE NO PART IN THE JEWISH KINGDOM," (from the Jewish Encyclopedia.) about.

"The Lord hath poured out upon you (Israel) the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets (preachers) and your rulers (politicians), the seers hath He covered . Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honor me, but have removed their heart far from me. . . Therefore, behold, I will do a marvelous work and a wonder among them: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent (those who take part in the political process) will be hid." - Isaiah 29:10, 13

WAS JESUS A JEW?

The following information is taken from a pamphlet written by S. A. and F. R. Ackley and printed by the CHURCH OF THE COVENANT, Pastor Curtis Claire Ewing.

"To intelligently answer the question of whether Jesus of Nazareth was a Jew, we must first undertake to define our terms, and strange as it may seem to some, it will even be necessary for us to define what we mean when we say "Jesus of Nazareth," for there are those who say that Jesus was the man, and Chrit was the ideal for which He stood - that while in a way, He represented the ideal, yet it was somewhat apart from Him. There mg. In fact, it has several different legitimate meanings which have been assigned to it through ignorance or carelessness.

"First, let us review its origin. It is derived, by the way of French, Latin, Greek, and Aramic in turn, from the Hebrew word YEHOODEE or YEHUDIM (plural). It originally had many different forms, and although many writers claim a difference in meaning between JEW and JUDAHITE, we have been unable to find any ethnological or historical evidence for some of the modern acquired meanings applied to the term JEW.

"All things considered, however, it would seem that either JEW or JUDAHITE, is a proper translation of the Hebrew word YEHOODEE; first found in the King James Bible in 2 Kings 16:6. Please remember the Bible reference, for it has a very important bearing on what we shall say later.

"Now for a little history, Biblical and secular. In the book of Esther, we find the JEWS in captivity in Persia, where a plot is hatched to wipe them out. Some of them learn about this and Queen Esther, herself a JEWESS, succeeds in circumventing the plot and turns it around. As a result ". . . many of the people of the land became Jews; for FEAR OF THE JEWS fell upon them." (Esther 8:17.)

What kind of JEWS were these? We read in Esther 9:30, that there were 127 provinces in the kingdom of Ahasuerus at this time. It extended all the way from Greece to the western borders of India, and from the Caucasus Mountains on the north to the Persian Gulf and the Indian Ocean. It included Egypt, Mesopotamia, Assyria, Babylon, Afghanistan, and parts of Turkestan. It is hard to think of a race which was not included in this vast territory, unless you suggest the American Indians, and we might find some relatives of them.

"Of all these races, many became JEWS. Not from love of God and His law; not because of a sense of righteousness, but merely because of fear. Obviously this did not change their racial characteristics:

the new religion did not enter their hearts, so it is no space here to go into the lengthy "pros" and "cons" of the question, but we can at least state our own conviction. (REMEMBER NOW - THIS IS BEING WRITTEN BY AN IDENTITY CHRISTIAN - AUTHOR!)

"True it is that the name Jesus and the name Christ have different meanings and that they are used separately under certain specific conditions, but it is equally true that they are used together, and that, used together or separately, they refer to one individual and only one in the entire Bible. In the Old Testament, God reveals Himself by a number of different names. This does not mean that there are a number of different gods, or a number of conceptions, but each name represents some attribute of God, and when we take them all together, we have a fuller understanding of God than what we may have received through one name.

Similarly in the New Testament, all the various names applied to Jesus Christ of Nazareth, refer to ONE SINGLE INDIVIDUAL - God the Son, come in the flesh, born of a Virgin. These names are not the result of diverse or conflicting conceptions or ideals, but rather each name supplies its share of the whole truth, and it requires all of them together to give us an adequate understanding of this one unique individual. 'Jesus' means 'Savior,' and is generally used when His humanity and Saviorship are being emphasized. 'Christ' means; 'the Anointed One,' and is usually used when emphasizing His Diety and Messiahship. Both names belong to and fit the same individual and only one. So we are told "Believe on the Lord Jesus Christ and thou shalt be saved." (Acts 16:31.)

"Christ was not by any means an ethereal ideal divorced from the human 'Jesus.' Both names were necessary to encompass - in a small degree - the one identity.

"Next, we must try and define, briefly, the term JEW. What is a JEW? This question deserves an entire article in itself. (I would suggest you read my booklet, WHO ARE THE JEWS, - AUTHOR.)

"The term has been used so loosely and carelessly for so many years that today there is the greatest confusion as to its real meaning. In fact, it has several different legitimate meanings which have been assigned to it through ignorance or carelessness.

"First, let us review its origin. It is derived, by the way of French, Latin, Greek, and Aramic in turn, from the Hebrew word YEHOODEE or YEHUDIM (plural). It originally had many different forms, and although many writers claim a difference in meaning between JEW and JUDAHITE, we have been unable to find any ethnological or historical evidence for some of the modern acquired meanings applied to the term JEW.

"All things considered, however, it would seem that either JEW or JUDAHITE, is a proper translation of the Hebrew word YEHOODEE; first found in the King James Bible in 2 Kings 16:6. Please remember the Bible reference, for it has a very important bearing on what we shall say later.

"Now for a little history, Biblical and secular. In the book of Esther, we find the JEWS in captivity in Persia, where a plot is hatched to wipe them out. Some of them learn about this and Queen Esther, herself a JEWESS, succeeds in circumventing the plot and turns it around. As a result "... many of the people of the land became Jews; for FEAR OF THE JEWS fell upon them." (Esther 8:17.)

What kind of JEWS were these? We read in Esther 9:30, that there were 127 provinces in the kingdom of Ahasuerus at this time. It extended all the way from Greece to the western borders of India, and from the Caucasus Mountains on the north to the Persian Gulf and the Indian Ocean. It included Egypt, Mesopotamia, Assyria, Babylon, Afghanistan, and parts of Turkestan. It is hard to think of a race which was not included in this vast territory, unless you suggest the American Indians, and we might find some relatives of them.

"Of all these races, many became JEWS. Not from love of God and His law; not because of a sense of righteousness, but merely because of fear. Obviously this did not change their racial characteristics: the new religion did not enter their hearts, so it made very little difference in their ideals; and it had very little effect on their instincts. Yet they technologically became JEWS and entered the blood stream of the present JEWISH people.

Then when the remnant of the JEWS returned from captivity, one of the first things they did was violate God's injunction against inter-marriage. The principle people from which the JEWISH men took wives were the Hittites. This is where the typical so-called JEWISH nose came. The profile of the Hittites carved by Egyptian sculptors on temple walls in Thebes, Egypt, over 3,000 years ago, is the same "typical JEWISH look" of today.

Dr. James H. Breasted, in his book ANATOLIAN HITTITE EXPEDITION, Vol. XII, Chap. 12, p.1266, says: "their nose was acquired by neighboring Semites, including Canaanites and Hebrews." (It is not found among the Khazar JEWS, who are Turco-Mongolian by blood - AUTHOR.)

"With reference to this question, see the Jewish Encyclopedia, Vol. VI, pps. 610-612, 1904 edition 'Intermarriage;' see also 'PROSELYTES', vol.10, pps. 220-224."

"It is also stated by Anatole Leroy Bealiu, in ISRAEL AMONG THE NATIONS, that the Jews engaged in the slave traffic often circumcised the slaves. He further mentions 200,000 Black Jews of Abyssinia (Ethiopia.)

He goes on to state: 'Towards the eighth century, to the north of the Black Sea, in the Scythian steppes, a people of Finno-Turkish stock, the Khazars, went over in a body to the old law.

"The same author also states that a large number of emigrants from Persia adopted the JEWISH religion and later became Tartars. In the JEWISH cemetery of Tabreez, Fikkovitch has discovered Hebraic inscriptions bearing Turkish names in Hebrew characters. He says the JEWS in this area, bear Hittite features.

"So you can see, the JEW as we know him today, is vastly different from the JEW of several centuries ago and is entirely different from the 'pure-blooded' Hebrews. To put it into other words, the term JEW in a racial sense may have many different meanings.

"The word JEW as first appearing in the Bible in 2 Kings 16:6, is applied to the entire kingdom of Judah, including the House of David, which was part of that kingdom, but had been set apart from Judah many years before (see 2 Sam. 7:11, 12.)

"Much later, the term JEW was used in a religious sense and was applied to those who observed the religious forms described in the Old Testament. This was the corrupt outgrowth which can be observed at the time of Christ's first coming.

(Judaism at this time, had been corrupted by the Satanic influence from Babylon, which had already begun to produce the BABYLONIAN TALMUD. This religious book set aside Mosaic teachings and began to substitute the traditions of men for the commandments of God [Mark 7:7, 9, 13].)

"It is to be noted that Christ faithfully observed the Hebrew religion in its purity and repudiated many of the barnacle-like regulations which had been man-attached to the Old Testament ceremonials.

"Now for a few facts about Christ Himself and we will be ready to answer the question about whether Jesus was a JEW.

Of course, being the Son of God, Christ could have been only half-Jewish at most, unless you go to the extremes of saying that God was a Jew. But we are only discussing the questions which concern His earthly ancestry."

Father Arthur Klyber, C.S.&R. Chaplain and Founder of the Catholic REMNANT OF ISRAEL group made these statements in a September 1988 Newsletter, addressed to DEAR FELLOW APOSTLES IN REMNANT OF ISRAEL: (I am quoting only in part): "During our Lenten season each year we of the Catholic Church (the Universal Synagogue) come face to face with our Jewish people. We re4hink the farewell words of One whom we call the Divine Rabbi Jesus: the Messiah. There on the crossbeams hung this Rabbi of all Rabbis, Prophet of all Prophets, the Anointed Redeemer of His Beloved Jewish People and of all the nations in the world; and we can't help wondering how it was possible that this GOD CHOSEN JEWISH NATION (chosen to bring this very Messiah into the world - failed to recognize Him and still to this very day - does not know Him.)

"We ask: Do our Jewish people need the Messiah? Yes, we answer. . . perhaps more than ever they need Him. It is said that a high proportion of Jews have above average intelligence: why not? Didn't the Almighty talk to them for thousands of years? Yet, it seems this intelligence did not help them to see in this groaning Rabbi-on-the-Cross, their long-expected Messiah. (Let me stop here long enough to point out that God never spoke to a Jewish people; He spoke to Israel - there were no Jews in existence for thousands of years, after God first began to speak to Abraham - AUTHOR.)

"The explanation could be that Faith in this Messiah means Divine Intelligence received without mere brainwork; that brain-work without faith, ends only in ignorance, or in atheism. (To this I will whole-heartedly agree - AUTHOR.)

"The ONE GOD finally sent His Only Son here, AS A JEWISH BABY. He grew up as a very devout JEW; died professing His JEWISH religion; but came to life again - STILL A JEW - for the salvation of His OWN people FIRST, and then for the gentiles. He was, and is the Glory of Israel, and a Light of Revelation to the Gentiles.

"This JEW of JEWS built the Universal Synagogue on Himself as the Cornerstone - with twelve JEWS as the superstructure. (Only one of them was a JEW, the traitor Judas; all the rest were Galileeans from the Tribe of Benjamin -AUTHOR.) This Divine 'skyscraper' could never crack or crumble because its Cornerstone was and IS the Adonai Echod (the Everlasting Rock of AGES), God Almighty in the

Person of His Son, the Redeemer. (I want you to notice how clever this converted (?) Jew is in brainwashing the Catholic people to whom he is writing - AUTHOR.)

"Now, please hold on your hat while Rabbi Jesus informs us that gentile-believers in Jesus cannot be anything but JEWS IN RELIGION! (Notice carefully how Fr. Klyber has used a small "g" when he referred to "gentiles" - AUTHOR.)

"Believers in Jesus CANNOT BE ANYTHING BUT JEWS BY RELIGION! Note the words 'Jews in religion'; not 'born' as JEWS. A good number of JEWS today have a disturbing fear that the JEWS, as a people, are slowly disappearing as a VISIBLE PEOPLE OF GOD by absorption into the general population. This, they fear, will come about especially through Belief in Jesus as Messiah. I say sincerely - not ironically - that our JEWISH PEOPLE WILL be more visible than ever in the UNIVERSAL SYNAGOGUE OF THE MESSIAH (the Church). Here the words of Jesus are quite convincing. He then quotes from some portion of Scripture which I have been unable to find, these words: 'I have not come to destroy (I do not destroy - I am life eternal) but I come to complete the way of worship which I myself bestowed on them through Abraham, Isaac and Jacob.'

"Was there ever, in some 5,000 years of Jewish history, anyone like Jesus of Nazareth? (Jewish history only goes back to about 742 BC as far as the Christian Bible is concerned -AUTHOR) who dared to proclaim to His Jewish followers:

I am the LIGHT for Israel.

I am the WORD for Israel, I am the WAY for Israel.

I am the TRUTH for my JEWISH people.

I am the LIFE for Israel.

I am the VINE in which my JEWISH people can grow into eternal life.

I am the SHEPHERD for ISRAEL. I am the DOOR through which they can pass into everlasting life.

I am the BREAD of life.

Born a JEW - I'll die a JEW;

Born a Gentile - I will also die a JEW!

(It is extremely important at this point for my readers to note how this Jew convert, very possibly one of those the Apostle Jude warned of in Jude 4 - "For certain men are crept in unawares ungodly men, turning the grace of God into lasciviousness, and denying the Lord God, and our Lord Jesus Christ." This is exactly what this Jew is doing, as he deliberately lies to his Catholic listeners - AUTHOR.)

Let's continue with this most unusual letter: "The above heading points forcibly to a letter written by Rabbi Saul of Tarsus to a community of gentiles (still a small "g" - AUTHOR) who had become believers in the Messiah Jesus. Paul is telling them about the JEWISHNESS of their new found religion, COMPLETED JUDAISM. (Again, I need to interrupt to ask this question. How can Christianity be COMPLETED JUDAISM, when Jesus said Judaism was from Satan and that it's converts became "twice the child of hell" as the Pharisees who taught it? Matt. 23:15 - AUTHOR.) An excerpt from Ephesians 2 makes clear the unity of Paul's COMPLETED RELIGION and the COMPLETED JEWISH RELIGION of the formerly pagan Ephesians. Just as a half-finished banquet is not the whole banquet, so too the former Testament of God is not the whole Message of God. The several Covenants were not NEW RELIGIONS JUST AS God, who spoke in those Covenants, was not a NEW GOD.

"St. Paul often proclaimed the oneness of CHRISTIANITY with JUDAISM; and today there is need to repeat basic Catholic Doctrine as Cardinal Ratzinger, did in his statement of October 1987. This was the subject of the editorial in the WANDERER, Feb.11, 1988, written by one of the REMNANT OF ISRAEL advisors. It centers around a quote from the New York Times:

"Cardinal (Ratzinger) said that the aim of dialogue was to arrive at truth rather than to exchange opinions. 'The Pope has offered respect, but also a theological line.' The Cardinal is quoted as saying, 'This always implies our union with the faith of Abraham, but also the reality of Jesus Christ, in which the faith of Abraham finds its fulfillment.'

Cardinal Ratzinger then cited the case of Edith Stein, a Jew converted to Catholicism, who became a Carmelite nun and was murdered by the Nazis.

"On finding faith in Christ, she entered into the FULL INHERITANCE OF ABRAHAM", Cardinal Ratzinger said: "She turned in her JEWISH heritage to have a new and diverse heritage. But in entering into unity with Christ she ENTERED INTO THE VERY HEART OF JUDAISM." (Again, how could this be, when Jesus said of the Jewish religious leaders: "Ye believe not, because YE ARE NOT OF MY SHEEP . . "(John 10:26) - AUTHOR.

Klyber continues: "The Divine Messanic Seed was planted by the Divine Sower Himself; where else could it come from? The Messiah replaced Adam, and His Virgin Mother, replaced Eve. (I have never read anything about the Virgin Mary replacing Eve, at least in the Scriptures - AUTHOR.)

"... the glorious blossoming of the SEED which 'crushed satan's head', and pushed open the portals of what can be called EVERLASTING JUDAISM.

"Jesus the Redeemer did not Himself need Redemption: He was not in any sense a COMPLETED JEW, but He became completely JEWISH, when God implanted Him in the womb of His Virgin Mother. Jesus did not have to await the arrival of the Messiah since He was the Messiah. Jesus did not have to complete anything in Himself except His Redeeming Sacrifice on the Cross. He had created the Commandments, but did not have to obey them; yet He did obey them in His adopted humble position as one of us, for the Redemption of all of us.

"Thank God that Heaven is actually full of JEWS - COMPLETED JEWS - the best kind of JEWS. ("They please not God, and are contrary to all," 1 Thess. 2:15 - AUTHOR.)

"All completed JEWS are taken totally by surprise when they meet the Messiah. (He then gives examples of some famous Jews who have become Catholics - AUTHOR.) (UNQ.)

This rather lengthy portion has been written to give you some idea of how subtly Jews have infiltrated themselves into the church. I have had considerable experience with Jewish converts and have noticed one thing which seems to conform to all of them that I have met. They become exceedingly active in their Christianity, attending all the meetings in the church, often with a tape

recorder, then they take voluminous notes. They always talk about their JEWISHNESS, not their CHRISTIANITY, and almost without fail, sometime after they have been accepted into the Christian church, they caused trouble in that church. We have been adequately warned by the so-called Rabbi Saul, to watch out for these people. Yet many Christians will believe the "hogwash" put out by Jews such as Fr. Klyber, because he claims to now be Christian. Could it be that many of these converted JEWS are like the Marranos of the 15th Century who infiltrated the church in Spain. By day they were Catholics, even priests and cardinals, by night, in their secret enclaves, they were JEWS, laughing about the manner in which theexisd fooled the "stupid goyim." In a meeting of Jewish leaders in Europe during the 13th Century, a set of PROTOCOLS was sent to Jewish leaders throughout that part of the world. One of these PROTOCOLS stated: "Make of your sons, clergymen, so they may infiltrate the Christian churches and destroy them from within." They have done a pretty good job of this in the Twentieth Century.

Dr. Benjamin Freedman, in his book FACTS ARE FACTS, which I have quoted from before, says on p.6 -"The worldwide network of diabolical conspirators who are implementing this plot against the Christian faith while Christians seem to be sound asleep, can be laid at the feet of the Christian clergy who appear to be more ignorant or more indifferent about this conspiracy than ordinary Christians. They seem to bury their heads in the sands of ignorance or indifference like the legendary ostrich. This ignorance or indifference on the part of the Christian clergy has dealt a blow to the Christian faith from which it may never completely recover.

Christians need to be blessed in this crisis with a spiritual Paul Revere to ride across this nation warning Christians that their enemies are moving in on them fast!

"Of equal importance of pin-pointing the enemies who are making war upon the Christian faith from outside (a perfect ex ample is what is happening in the Christian church over the blasphemous movie THE LAST TEMPTATION OF CHRIST, where Christian leaders seem more concerned with Christian disturbance which may cause them to have anti-Semitic feelings, than with the fact that the disturbances is caused by JEWS -AUTHOR) is the necessity to discover the forces working inside the Christian faith which make it vulnerable to its enemies on the outside. (We can see this at work within Identity, unfortunately, as there are some leaders who are more interested in their position and prominence within the Movement, than they are in the unity of the Movement, these will use most any excuse to cause a disturbance between them and anyone who will not dot their "i's" and cross their "t's" like they do - AUTHOR.)

"The minds of countless thousands among the Christian clergy are troubled by the mysterious pressure from above which prevents them from exercising sound judgment in this situation. (I recently received a letter from a young Baptist preacher who stated: "What is this strange force within Baptist circles which will not allow me to point out what the Zionists are doing? - AUTHOR.)

If the forces being manipulated against the Christian faith from inside can be stopped, the Christian faith will be able to stand like the Rock of Gibraltar.

"The utterances of the Christian clergy which confuses Christians the most is the constant repeated utterance that 'Jesus was a Jew.' That appears to be their favorite theme. This misrepresentation and distortion of an incontestible historic fact is uttered by the Christian clergy on the slightest pretext. They utter it constantly, almost without provocation. They appear to be 'trigger happy' to utter it. They never miss an opportunity to do so. Informed, intelligent Christians cannot reconcile this truly unwarranted misrepresentation and distortion with incontestible historic fact by the Christian clergy with information known by them now to the contrary, which comes to them from sources believed by them to be equally reliable.

"They (the Christian clergy) can extricate themselves from their present predicament now only by resorting to 'the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth'. That is the only formula by which the Christian clergy can recapture the lost confidence of Christians. As effective spiritual leaders they cannot function with this loss of confidence. They should make this their first order of business." (UNQ.)

Dr. Freedman then goes on with page after page of evidence proving that Jesus could not have been a Jew. For copies of this book FACTS ARE FACTS, write to THE SONS OF LIBERTY, P.O. Box 214, Meatarie, LA 7004.

Now back to the Ackley's and their article on Jesus.

"Let us see what evidence His genealogy offers. Notice that the Old Testament places a very strong emphasis against the inter-marriage of Israelites with aliens. Regarding the line of Christ, with the exception of a few rare occasions, when for His own good reasons, God permitted especially selected aliens to enter the line, under specific circumstances. We say 'apparent' because the mere fact that they were citizens of another country did not necessarily mean they were not Israelites. When we read that Ruth was a Moabitess, it could very easily mean she was a Moabite -citizen, and her ancestry may have been pure Israelite. But with these few exceptions, the bloodlines had been kept substantially pure, at least until the time of David. (We know that David had a fair complexion and was not of the swarthy color that the true Jew shows for 1 Samuel 17:42 says: "... he (David) was but a youth, and ruddy (having a healthy reddish look) and of a fair countenance - AUTHOR.)

"It might be well to note here, that while Bathsheba, the mother of Nathan and Solomon was the wife of a Hittite, she was the daughter of the Israelite Ammiel (1 Chron. 3:5). So no alien blood entered here.

"It is significant to note that in both the Matthew and Luke genealogies, there is not a single name which is not of Hebrew origin. According to Young's Concordance, there are nine names in Luke and one in Matthew, which might be considered as 'probable' of Hebrew origin and one which is listed as Recertain.' This is 'Melas', the fourth generation from Nathan. All the others are definitely Hebrew and appear early in the Old Testament, before the captivity.

"While this is not positive proof, it is a strong evidence of the racial purity of our Lord.

"Can we find anything about the racial appearance of Christ, which might throw light on His racial background. The letter of Lentulus, to the Roman Senate, which some claim is spurious, but which has been known at least from the 11th Century, and was considered by some authorities to date back to the 3rd Century, describes Jesus as having fine features, long, wavy brown hair, with a reddish beard. A similar description is credited to Pontius Pilate and agrees with this. In the catacombs of Rome, there is a picture on one of the walls which experts say must have been painted by an artist who had seen Jesus in person. This picture harmonizes with the description given above.

"There is a similar picture on the walls of a baptistry on the island of Crete, said to have been painted by a Greek artist who had seen Jesus. Dr. F. M. Rayall, for 40 years a missionary in Palestine, states this also fits with other descriptions. While all these are very ancient, no one knows whether they are authentic.

"The Cyclopaedia of Biblical and Theological Literature, by McClintock and Strong, says the painting in the catacombs shows features which are neither Greek, Roman, or Jewish.

"So in summing this all-too brief discourse on the blood origin of our Lord, we can say that in the sense that the word was first used in the Bible to apply to those who came from the Southern Kingdom, He was a Jew. In the sense that He worshiped as Moses worshiped, He was a Hebrew. But in the racial sense of the "Jew of mixed blood," who was predominate in Jesus' time no - HE WAS NOT A JEW! The purity of His blood explains His gentile-Aryan appearance, since He was a 'true Israehte.' " (UNQ.)

To a great extent, the same things which have been said about Jesus, would apply to all His disciples with the exception of Judas, who was a JEW. The others were all Benjamites, as was the Apostle Paul.

"The Lord hath poured out upon you (Israel) the spirit of deep sleep, and hath closed your eyes: the prophets (preachers) and your rulers (politicians), the seers hath He covered . Forasmuch as this people draw near me with their mouth, and with their lips do honor me, but have removed their heart far from me. . . Therefore, behold, I will do a marvelous work and a wonder among them: for the wisdom of their wise men shall perish, and the understanding of their prudent (those who take part in the political process) will be hid." - Isaiah 29:10, 13

Chapter XXII. NATIONAL IDENTITY - WHAT DOES IT MEAN?

In the introduction to her interesting and helpful book, BASICS OF NATIONAL IDENTITY, Martha 0. Andrews, of Decatur, Ga. says this: "There is a Bible within the Bible - the personal, salvation, spiritual message, and the national, identity, Kingdom Message.

"The spiritual message is of primary importance, THE MILK OF THE WORD, the way through which one becomes a citizen of the Kingdom, the foundation upon which Christian growth depends.

"The KINGDOM MESSAGE is STRONG MEAT. The National Message gives understanding of world events past, present and future, and the responsibility of God's people through precept and example in the furtherance of the Kingdom." (UNQ.)

I can verify this from personal experiences and from having "rubbed shoulders" with tens of thousands of people who have come out of denominational churches. Almost without fail, they will say: "The Bible has opened up to me as never before, since I came to the understanding of who I am." Of course it does: It was written for you! God wants you to understand it! But you will never fully understand the Word, no matter how well trained you may be in theological procedures, until you know who you are and what your responsibilities before God consist of.

That the Kingdom message will not be understood by all is a foregone conclusion since the Bible tells us in Daniel 12:9, 10, that certain words were "closed up and sealed till the end of time . . . none of the wicked shall understand: but THE WISE SHALL UNDERSTAND."

In Christ's Parable of the Sower, (Matthew 13), He says in vs. 23 - "But he that receiveth seed into good ground is he that heareth the word, and understandeth it: which also beareth fruit, and bringeth forth, some a hundred fold, some sixty, some thirty."

There is no question that Jesus said His mission was to the "lost sheep of the house of Israel," (Matt. 10:6.) In fact, He indicates in one place that He was sent ONLY to Israelites (see Matt. 15:24.) "He (Jesus) answered (the Canaanite woman) I am NOT sent but unto the LOST SHEEP OF THE HOUSE OF ISRAEL." (Emphasis mine.) This word "lost" does not refer to the "spiritual" condition of Israel, but comes from two root word in the Greek "apo" and "ollumi," which put together form the word "appolumi" and mean: "those who have been banished for punishment." This is what happened to Israel and the prophet Ezekiel 34:11 says: "Behold I (God), even I, will both search my sheep, and seek them out."

Jesus' primary mission was to the "lost sheep of the house of Israel," those who had been "divorced" from their God. They were "lost" in the eyes of the world, as well as in the memory of their identity, yet n6t for one moment were they lost to the One who shapes all human history.

The Gospel which Jesus proclaimed during His earthy ministry was the Good News, not only of personal salvation to all mankind who would believe, but the fact that He came to establish a perfect government on this earth. The disciples were charged with the responsibility of carrying this Kingdom message to these lost sheep.

Chief among the lost sheep was the tribe of Manasseh, our own wonderful, United States of America. Our destiny began that day when the patriarch Jacob/Israel lay dying, and inspired of God, said of Manasseh: "... he also shall become a people, and he also shall be great," (Gen. 48:19).

As we carry the message of the "one true God" to men everywhere, and of His Kingdom of peace on this earth, we are but fulfilling the basis on which the English speaking world has existed for centuries. In 1378 A.D. over 600 years ago, when John Wycliffe wrote his English translation of the Bible, he said: "This Bible is for the government of the people, by the people, and for the people." No form of government has ever been conceived by man which can succeed, unless it is based on the law of God. For this reason, America has existed as a free nation for over 200 years. But now, our people are tinkering with "democracy," which is the will of the people, supreme over everything, even the will of God. We can see the mess we have made of things. But "praise God," one of these days, soon I believe, we are going to pass into the Kingdom Age, where once again God will be in charge and things will be run His way. In Zech. 2:11 we read: "And many nations shall be joined to the Lord in that day, and shall be my people: and I will dwell in the midst of thee, and thou shalt know that the Lord of Hosts hath sent me unto thee." Then in Zeph. 3:13 - "The remnant of Israel (not the Jews) shall do no iniquity, nor speak lies; neither shall a deceitful tongue be found in their mouth: for they shall feed and lie down, and NONE SHALL MAKE THEM AFRAID." (Emphasis mine.)

When we realize that we are Israel, then the Bible will have an entirely new meaning to us, for it is the history of our people and contains God's promises to us!

In Numbers 23, when Balaam was called by King Balak of Moab to curse Israel (Numbers 22:6), we find in verse 8 his answer to the king: "How shall I curse, whom God hath not cursed? or how shall I defy, whom the Lord hath not defied?"

Then in a moment of divine inspiration, he looked into the distant future and saw Israel-America, I believe, when he said in vs. 9: "For from the top of the rocks I see him, and from the hills I behold him; lo, the people shall dwell alone, and shall not be reckoned among the nations." God has been good to us in America and we can once again have His blessing, if we will apply the Formula for our Survival to our problems. It is found in 2 Chronicles 7:14 - "If MY people, which are CALLED BY MY NAME, will HUMBLE themselves, and PRAY, and SEEK MY FACE, and TURN FROM THEIR WICKED WAYS; then will I (God) HEAR FROM HEAVEN, and will FORGIVE THEIR SIN, AND WILL HEAL THEIR LAND." (Emphasis mine.)

Aren't you as a Christian, about ready to give God's Formula a chance?

OTHER BOOKS FOR FURTHER STUDY

KNOW YOUR ENEMIES, (137 pages covering Identity and the Jewish question.)

THE SATANIC COUNTERFEIT. (An in-depth discussion of the PROTOCOLS OF THE LEARNED ELDERS OF ZION.)

SATAN'S KIDS. (A look at Jewish control over the media, TV, radio and Hollywood; naming names.)

PSYCHOPOLITICS, THE ART OF BRAINWASHING. (A Communist textbook showing the blueprint for the takeover of America.)

WHO BROUGHT THE SLAVES TO AMERICA. (Documentary evidence that the early slave trade was carried on by Jews.)

THE ENEMY WITHIN. (Prophetic speeches from 30 years ago, warning of the Jewish danger.)

BEHOLD THE INTERNATIONAL JEW. (Documented facts regarding International Jewish plans for a One World, Jews controlled government.)

WHO ARE THE JEWS? (Must reading to understand who these strange people really are.)

THE GREAT CONSPIRACY. (The blueprint of Zionist plans for world conquest from the time of the Illuminati in 1776, until the present, naming names.)

SPECTRE OF POWER. (By Canadian author Malcolm Ross. Showing how the Zionists have taken over power in Canada and their threats to Christianity.)